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Key figures 

2006/07 
EUR 

2005106 
EUR Consolidated figures in millions of euros, unless stated othennrise 

Revenues 7,698 7,201 

Expenses before depreclation and long-term rentals 6,476 6,065 

Depreciation end long-term rentals 61 9 596 

Income from operating activlties 
As a % of revenues 

61 6 
8.0 

540 
7.5 

Net result 51 6 276 

Earnings per ordinary share (EUR) 11 .O3 5.90 

Equity 
As a % of total long-term funds 
Return on equity (%) 

3,026 
40 

18.5 

2,560 
35 

11.3 

Capital employed 
Return on capital employed (%) 

4,612 
10.4 

4,467 
9.0 

Netdebt-to-equity ratio 
Interest coverage ratio 

87 
7.2 

106 
4.4 

Dividend per ordinary share (EUR) 0.48 0.30 

Traffic flgures 

Passenger 
Traffic (in millions of revenue passenger-kilometers, RPK) 
Capacity (in millions of available seat-kilometers, ASK) 
Passenger load factor (%) 

Trafñc (in millions of revenue ton freight-kilometers, RTFK) 
Capacity (in millions of available ton freight-kilometers, ATFK) 
Cargo load factor (%) 

aw 

72,367 
86,478 

83.7 

69,115 
82,736 

83.5 

4,823 
6,511 
74.1 

4,893 
6,542 
74.8 

Flnanciai porition 
Cash flow írom operating actiiies 
Cash flow from investing activities 

754 
(137) 

790 
(766) 

Average number FTEs of KLM Group staff 
Pemanent 
Temporary 
Employed by KLM 
Agency staff 

28.740 28.998 
1,781 1,120 

50,521 30,118 
2,034 1,660 

32,555 31,778 
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Report of the Board of Managing Directors 

Letter from the President 
______ ~~ ~ ~ 

For the third year in succession, KLM closed the fiscal year with positive figures. We again 

succeeded in increasing our revenue, lowering our unit casts and growing our net result for ihe 

year. In part, we proñted fmm the positiie development of the global economy but we realized a 

pmfh unlike any other in our history. And we could not have done that without the merger with 

Air France. 

Five years ago, KLM, like most other airlines, was caught in a downward spiral. There wem few 

growth opportunities, we were unable to make adequate investments in modem equipment and 

we wem being forced to make sweeping cost savings. Thanks to the merger, we have achieved 

pmfhble growth of 5% to 6% per annum over the past three years and strengthened our 

market position in bath Europe and the world. But growth by itself is not a target. We must also 

be pmfitable. That is the best guarantee for continuity. The aviation industry has traditionally 
earned marginal results and governments have often had to step in to stem the losses. In a 

large part of the market, this is now no longer the case. 

The financial market insists on airlines turning in good results. We realized several years ago 

that in the long run we would not be able to do 80 by ourselves. Our home market is dmply too 

smal1 - a third of our passengers come from The Netherlands - and the international 

competition too strong. We took the strategic decision to be a global carrier a long time ago. To 

succeed, we have to be a strong player. Our intensive cooperation with Northwest Airlines from 

1989 onwards was a significant step. The merger with Air France completed the process. KLM 
is now a global operator, with a partner that is a perfect match in al1 respects. Moreover, KLM 

has retained its unique identity. 
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To ensure sustainable and profmble growth in the future, a strong partner like Air France is 

indispensable. The problems wrrently facing many medium-sized European camers dearly 

illustrate that today’s airlines need a critical mass to operate successfully. European and global 

competition in both the cargo and the passenger markets is extremely fierce. With high fuel 

prices, extra security measures and competition on fares, we must be continuously alert on 

costs. Environmental requirements and price and quality-conscious customers demand 

significant investments in modem equipment and advanced IT systems. 

KLM is responding actively. In the past year, we invested some EUR 400 million in renewing our 

fleet. Not only did we acquim new aircraft that are quieter and more fuel efficient but we also 

modemized our existing fleet with new seats, improved interiors and advanced entertainment 

systems to meet the exacting demands of our passengers. 

The substantial investments we have made in electronic systems that enable our customers to 

buy tickets and even check in over the intemet are also bearing fruit. On peak days, business 

worth about EUR 2.5 million is conducted over the www.klm.com website. Some 65% of our 

passengers now use electronic check-in senrices in order to reâuce waiting times at the airports. 

Passenger Business 
The Passenger Business presents itself to customers using the trusted and highly esteemed 

KLM profile. Intemaliy, though, KLM and Air France are increasingly working together and 

coordinating their passenger transport operations. Joint offices have been opened in nearly 

every country in the world. Travel agents and businesses benefit from the convenience of 

having just one contact person to arrange flights throughout the entire network offered by KLM, 

Air France and their SkyTeam partners. Passengers enjoy the benefits of the largest frequent 

flyer program in Europe, which is offered jointly by KLM and Air France. 

The Passenger Business realized a profit and KLM again succeeded in growing its market 

share in the leisure segment and - even more strongly - in the business segment. 
Passenger Business again tumed int0 a better operating result than in the previous fiscal year. 

KLM increased capacity by 4.5% and with an 4.7% increase in traffic the load factor remained 

stable at 83.7 %. 
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transavia.com 
Thmugh our transavia.com subsidiaty, we are active in the market for charters and lowcost 

flights. In this segment, too, we realized an increase in revenue and achieved a profit. Owing to 

the enormous competition in this market, fares are under pressure, but transavia.com wilt 

remain just as active in this segment and added seven destinations during the year. Together 

with Air France a new company wil1 be set up, Transavia France, to serve the French market 

using the same formula. 

Cargo Business 
Air France Cargo-KLM Cargo has the ambtion to be the world leader in airfreiiht. The Cargo 
Business firmly presents itself as a single organization ('One face to the customei) in this vety 

intemational and also highly competive market. In the past fiscal year, further progress was 

made with the integration of both marketing and sales and the operational strategy. 

Engineering & Maintenance Business 
KLM Engineering & Maintenance is of vital importance to both the safety and cosf efficiency of 

our flights. It has marketed itseif with Air France Industries as a single organization since last 
year. KLM Engineering & Maintenance's main wstomers are the KLM and Air France airlines. It 

also works for many other airlines. During the year, new maintenance contracts were signed 

with, amongst others, TNT, Martinair and Nippon Cargo Airlines. In the airframe market, KLM 

Engineering & Maintenance is facing partiwlarly fierce competition from other maintenance 

companies, especially in Eastem Europe and Asia, and it must respond in the coming year by 

means of a structural reduction in its cost base. 

Contribution to the Dutch economy 
KLM has made significant progress enhancing its scale and profitability in recent years. We are 

a global leader yet we still cherish our own traditional Dutch identity. We wil1 therefore continue 

to do our share for the Dutch economy and employment. 

Through the extensive network offered by KLM and its SkyTeam partners in Amsterdam, 

Schiphol can retain its position as a European mainport and make a significant contribution to 

the regional economy and to economic activity and employment in The Netherlands as a whole. 

The activities at and around Schiphol already generate an added value of five to six billion eums 

for the Dutch economy and provide work to more than 100,000 people, of whom more than 

30,000 work for the KLM Group itself. To continue making this contribution, strict cost control 

and an increase in revenue wil1 be required in the years ahead. 
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Security 
The industry in which KLM operates becomes more complex by the year, in part because of the 

expensive security measures that have had to be taken for both cargo and passenger transport. 

KLM does al1 it can to protect its passengers and cargo but in our opinion some measures 

imposed in the recent past, such as the compulsory packaging of liquids in plastic bags, are 

based more on box-ticking than on a realistic assessment of the risks. Risks can be better and 

more efficiently controlled through, for example, the systematic analysis of passenger behavior. 

KLM is also calling for the intemational harmonization of security measures, both in Europe and 

woridwide, without which unfair competition between countries and continents wil1 be 

encouraged. 

Cutting the environmental impact 
As one of the leading companies in The Netheriands, KLM takes its social responsibilities very 

seriously and has the ambmon of setting an example in the global aviation industry. Reducing 

the environmental impact that flying inevitably entails owing to its kerosene consumption, CO2 

emissions and noise has high priority. KLM is working on this on many fronts. Out sustainability 

policy is founded on the principle that environmental measures must be concrete and 

practicable; they must be agreed intemationally and must not disrupt competitive relations. 

We must also be vigilant that measures to reduce one environmental impact do not impose an 

additional burden in another area. The current noise legislation at Schiphol, for example, 

produces complicated flight plans in order to avoid certain residential areas. When added up, al1 

KLM flights each year waste the equivalent of 136 days of unnecessary flight time and thus emit 

an unnecessary volume of CO2. We face a dilemma: what is more important - less noise or less 

C02? KLM is making substantial investments to tackle the environmental impact at source. A 
significant part of the fleet is being replaced with the latest generation of cleaner, quieter and 

more fuel-efficient aircraft. On the ground, too, we are constantiy working on measures to 

reduce the environmental impact (energy consumption, cleaner maintenance procedures). 

More efficient flights 
We have also identified other means to lighten the environmental burden. We strongly argue for 

the introduction of a common European air traffic control system (Single Sky). Such a system 

would permit far more efficient flight paths through European airspace and thus make 

considerable savings on kerosene consumption and CO2 emissions. 
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The European proposal for an emission trading system is also an effective means to control 

CO2 emissions. Airlines would be able to buy emission rights from companies that produce less 
C G  than they are pemitted to. Such a system would encourage companies to invest in less 

environmentally-harmful production processes (for example, by using solar energy) so that they 

retain more tradable C G  rights. This would do justice to the principle that the polluter pays and 

would also encourage the industry to invest in more emission reducüon measures. An emission 

trading system, however, would distort compeution if it were introduced at European level only. 

KLM is ais0 of the opinion that a measure to introduce additional taxes on tickets would 

seriously distort compeution if it is introduced only in The Netheriands. Moreover, such b e s  are 

not productive in reducing the environmental impact of flying, and wil1 not help solve the 

environmental problem. KLM is furthermore of the opinion that any p d s  from these taxes 
should be spent on visible, environment-related initiatives. 
With regard to limiting noise nuisance, KLM is calling for the improved use of the Schiphol 

ninway system so that approach routes are more efficient and takeoff and landing procedures 

are quieter. This wil1 require a fundamental amendment of the noise legislation in place for 

Schiphol. The current legislation is very inflexible and complicated and stands in the way of 

pragmatic solutions to reduce the noise impact. 

Schiphol 
KLM would also like to hold a fundamental debate on the use and future of Schiphol. We are in 

favor of the more selective use of the national airport for flights that have relatively high added 

value for the Dutch economy. Schiphol's network function in the global aviation industry is of 

pivotal importance. Aircraft that land at Schiphol on account of its network function directly and 

indirectly generate more added value for the Dutch economy. This traffic should therefore be 
given priority when Schiphol's limited capacity is being allocated. In this scenario, charter flights 

and low-cost carriers would use the many regional airports in the country. 

In conclusion 
This is my last report as President & Chief Executive û fker  of KLM. As of April 1, 2007 

I wil1 as Vice-Chairman of Air France KLM be concentrating on the strategic development of Air 
France KLM. I wish my successor, Peter Hartman, and the more than 30,000 other KLM staff 

who cherish the 'blue genes" of our company a great deal of success and pleasure in the work 

they do for this challenging and fantastic company in the years ahead. 

Leo van Wijk 

President & Chief Executive Onicer 
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Financial Performance 

Revenue and cost development 2006/07 
In millions of Euros 

Revenues 

Extemal expenses (4,9001 
Employee compensation and benefit expense (1,71 6) 

Depreciation and amortization (4771 

Other income and expenses (2) 
Total expenses (7,095) 
Income from current operations 603 

2005/08 

7,201 

Variancs 

u 

6.9 

i 3.8 

(0.41 
7.4 

6.5 

11.7 

Revenues 
Revenues ros8 to EUR 7,698 million, 6.9% above the level of fiscal 2005/06. Passenger 

transport revenues increased by 7.5%, with a growth in capacity measured in available seat- 

kilometers of 4.5%. The revenue per seat kilometer (yield) improved with a significant 3.5% 

compared to last year (4.4% at constant exchange rates), whilst the load factor remained stable 

at the high level of 83.7%. 

Cargo transport revenues remained at the level of last year at a 0.5% lower capacity. The 

revenue per ton-kilometer increased by 1.5% (+ 3.3% at constant exchange rates), but was 

offset by a 0.7% point lower load factor. Especially our routes from Asia were affected by more 

severe market conditions. Trafñc revenues from transavia.com improved by 15.6% compared to 

previous year, whilst income from maintenance for third parties increased by 8.3%, inciuding the 

work performed for Air France. 
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Expenses 
Expenses rose by 6.5% to EUR 7,095 million (fiscal 2005/06: EUR 6,661 million). This was 

mainly caused by the increase in fuel costs, which amounted to EUR 1,784 million against 

EUR 1,382 million a year earlier. Excluding fuel prices expenses m e  by 0.6%, with a capacity 
growth measured in "equivalent" seat kilometers of 4.1%. Productivity improvements (measured 

in transport capacity per employee), lower distribution costs and a more efficient Reet were the 

most important factors in the unit cosf reduction. Staff costs remained stable versus last year at 

EUR 1,716 million and mainly reflect the reduction of pension expenses. 

Income from current operations 
In fiscal 2006/07 KLM booked an income from current operations of EUR 603 million (fiscal 

2005/06: EUR 540 million). This result was achieved despite a sharp rise in fuel costs, which 
end& EUR 402 million higher than in the previous year. The excellent revenue performance of 

the Passenger Business (+ 4.5% unit revenue increase at constant exchange rates), combined 

with a further reducüon in unit costs led to an operating margin of 7.8% (7.5% in 2005/06). 

In millions of Euros 

Income from current operations 

Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets 

Net cost of financial debt 

ûther financial income and expense 

Pre-tax income of consolidated companies 

Income tax expense 

Share of results of equity shareholdings 

Net result after taxation 

2006/07 

603 

2öö5/08 

The net result improved significanüy (+87%), supported by the following items. 

Variana 
% 

11.7 

(1 1.9; 

29.a 

87.C 

Gain/ (loss) on disposal of assets includes a gain of EUR 11 million on the sale of Tax Free 

Services to Amsterdam Airport Schiphol, completed in January 2007. 

Net cost of financial debt was 1 1.9% below last year, mainly as a result of the net debt reduction 

and the release of an interest provision. 
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The positive result in other financial income and expense is mainly explained by the positive 

effect of fuel derivatives which do not qualify for hedge accounting (+ EUR 35 million). 

The effective tax rate reduced from 28.6% to 11 .O% in fiscal 2006107. This was mainly the result 

of the tax rate reduction in The Netherlands and the settlement of the fiscal years 1995/96 

through 2001/02. 

Results from equity shareholdings (Martinair Holland N.V., Kenya Aiways Ltd. and Schiphol 

Logistics Park C.V.) improved by EUR 49 million compared to last year. Last year included an 

impairment write down of EUR 58 million of the 50% interest in Martinair. 

Consolidated cash flow statement 

In millions of Euros 2006107 

 cash flow from operating activities 754 

'Cash flow from investing activities (616) 

479 

1 o2 
(Increase) / decrease of short term deposits and commercial paper 

Cash flow fmm financing activities 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 71 a 

200906 

790 

KLM improved its cash position as at March 31,2007 to EUR 1,724 million 

(fiscal 2005/06: EUR 1,518 million). The operating cash fkw amounted to EUR 754 million, 

which was sufficient to finance the capital investment amounting to EUR 616 million. The 

improved operating cash flow came from an improved operating result and a slightly lower 

working capital (EUR 11 rnillion). 

Investing cash flow amounted to EUR 616 million, of which EUR 363 million for fleet renewal. In 
the long-haul fleet, 3 Boeing 777-200 (1 financial lease, 2 operating leases) and 5 Airbus 330 (3 
financial leases, 2 operating leases) were added to the fleet, whilst 8 Boeing 767 (al1 operating 

leases) were phased out. For the medium-haul and regional fleet, 2 Boeing 737400 (both 

operating leases) and 2 Fokker 1 O0 (owned) entered our fleet. 

Fleet related investments amounted to EUR 219 million, including EUR 103 million for 

capitalized fleet maintenance. Other capital expenditure and disposals amounted to 

EUR34million. Decrease in short term deposits and commercial paper amounted to 

EUR 479 million. 
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The financing cash flow was EUR 102 million positie. In addition to the financing of the new 

fleet (EUR 437 million), three unsecured hans were r a i d  for a total amount of 
EUR 250 million. EUR 558 million was repaid on fleet financing, while other financing co& and 

dividend payments led to a negative cash flow of EUR 27 million. 

Equity grew from EUR 2,560 million as at March 31,2006 to EUR 3,026 million as at 

March 31, 2007. As a consequence the net debt to equity percentage improved from 106% to 

07%. 
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Ovewiew of significant KLM participating interests 

As at March 31,2007 

Subsidiaries KLM interest in % 

Transavia Airlines C.V. 1 O0 
KLM Cityhopper B.V. 1 O0 

KLM Cityhopper uk Ltd. 

KLM uk Engineering Ltd. 

KLM Catering Services Schiphol B.V. 

KLM Flight Academy B.V. 

KLM Health Services B.V. 

KLM Equipment Services B.V. 

KLM Financial Services B.V. 

Cygnific B.V. 1 O0 

KLM Ground services Ltd. 

1 O0 

1 O0 

European Pneumatic Component Overhaut & Repair B.V. 1 O0 

1 O0 

1 O0 

1 O0 

1 O0 

1 O0 

1 O0 

Joint venture 

Martinair Holland N.V. 

Jointiy controlled entity 
Schiphol Logistics Park C.V. 

Associate 

Kenya Aiways Ltd. 

14 

50 

53 (45% voting right) 

26 
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Traffic and Capacity 

Passenger Passenger kliometers scat kiloma4rs Loadnctor 

% change % change n n 
2 W 0 7  2005ñ)6 2008/07 2005106 2oo(yo1 2oosm 

In millions 

Route a- 

Europe & North Aftica 12,237 6 16,208 8 75.5 76.8 

NorthhWiCa 14,902 I 16.91 5 2 88.1 88.9 

Central and South America 7,054 7 7,911 1 89.2 84.7 

Asia 20,81 3 8 23,837 7 87.3 86.6 

Africa 9,446 8 1 1,547 8 81.8 82.1 
Miâdle East 4,231 (1 1 5,807 2 72.9 74.5 

Caribbaan and Indian 
ûcean 3,684 (4) 4,253 (7) 86.6 84.1 

T0t.l 72,367 O 86,478 O 83.7 83.5 

Trafñc Leadficbor crrgo 
In rnillion cargo ton-kilometers 

W change K change n n 
Routeareas 2006107 2005106 2006107 2 0 0 ~  26061072mw06 

Europe & North Africe 31 4 224 5 14.0 14.0 

NorthAmerica 881 3 1,242 2 71 .O 70.3 
Central and South America 422 (1 1 488 (2) 06.5 86.3 

Asia 2,756 (6) 3,527 (3) 78.1 80.9 
Africa 449 14 610 6 73.6 88.6 
Miidle East 176 14 270 9 65.2 62.1 

Caribbean and Indin 

ûcean 

Total 

108 6 150 (1 1) 71.9 60.3 

4,823 (1 1 6,511 (0) 74.1 74.8 
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Commercial Developments 

Passenger Business 

Incmase In pssenger numbers 

Passenger traffic has continued to increase. KLM Passenger Business, our largest and most 

visible core activity, strengthened its position in Europe and realized a sharp improvement in its 

margin in fiscal 2006/07. The improved margin was the outcome of both higher revenue and 

further cost control. 

The benefits of KLM’s joining forces with Air France are becoming even more pronounced in our 

stronger market position. During the past fiscal year nearly 23 million passengers chose KLM. 

Measured in millions of passenger kilometers, passenger traífic increased by 5%. Particularly 

strong growth mgions were North, East and Central Europe, China, India and South America. 

The growth was visible in both the leisure market and the business market. 

Comblnaüon of marketing and mles 

Both airlines have now moved int0 joint offices in neady al1 countries. Travel agents and 

companies benefit from doing business with just one contact person for both KLM and Air 

France. For passengers, it is growing ever more rewarding to take part in the Flying Blue 

frequent flyer program, which has grown since the merger with Air France to no less than 12.5 

million members. 

Thanks to the merger, KLM has gained a leading role in the European aviation industry. But the 

competition is strong and calls for constant alertness to costs, increased revenue and smart 

ways to respond to the rapid developments in the market. 

Imprvveà pmducts 

With its stronger pusition, KLM now has an opportunity to make major investments in the 

products it offers to its customers. First, the existing fleet wil1 be upgraded to meet the ever 

higher demands that many passengers are making: more comfortable seats, modem intenors, 

interactive entertainment systems in more languages and the ability to send and receive emails, 

SMS text messages and use laptops on longer flights. More than EUR 100 million wil1 be 

invested in this program between now and 2010. Even more substantial is the renewal of the 

fleet with cleaner, quieter, more fuel-efficient and more comfortable aircraft. This wil1 require an 

investment of more than EUR 4.5 billion. 
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Swkh to +busInes8 
Passengers have become more demanding in al1 respeds and the intemet allows them to 
compare pnces and sewices at the click of a button. Today’s customers not only select on pnce, 

comfort and the range of destinations and departure times, but also want to dedde for 

themsehres when they book, how they buy a ticket and when they check in. Electronic media 
are playing an ever-greater rob. Worldwide, intemet-bad check-ins increased by 19% in the 
past fiscal year. Some 65% of wstomers now use eledronic check-in procedures, eiuier on the 
intemet or at the self-service kiosks at Schiphol. On peak days, business worth about 
EUR 2.5 million is conducted on the kIrn.com site. Here, tno, only airlines with sufficient size, 
such as KLM and Air France, have the strength and investment capacity necessary to make this 

extremely expensive switch to e-business. 

Olmct customw contact 
In addition to the wide offer, the convenience of electronic booking and onboard comfort, direct 

contact between passengers and our staff is a decisive factor. That is why KLM Passenger 

Business invests in the training and development of the Flight staff and the Ground staff. To 

give one example, before her first contact with a customer, a new stewardess wil1 have 
undergone 184 hours of training. More than 2% of the budget is spent on continuous training 
and refresher courses for our staff. 

NetW0rk 
An important criterion for passengers is the quality of connedions (connectivity) and the range 

of destinations offered by an airline. Together with our SkyTeam partners we fonn one of the 
three major airline alliances in the world and can offer our customers 725 destinations 

worldwide. KLM embraced this alliance strategy many years ago in the conviction that it was the 

only way to become and remain a global operator. The merger with Air France, based at 

Charles de Gaulle Airport in Paris, has considerably strengthened this network function. We can 
now offer our passengers two hubs and handle international traffic flows in the most logical and 

advantageous way. Someone flying from Prague to Rio de Janeiro is advised to transfer in 

Pans, but for the GlasgowíBeijing connection Amsterdam is the more logical stopover. The two 
hubs - Schiphol and Charles de Gaulle - are therefore complement to each other well. 

17 



Operationai performance 

KLM scored wel1 for its punctuality in fiscal 2006/07. Results improved on al1 fronts. On time 

anivals of both Intercontinental and European flights wem higher than those of our European 

competitors. The same was also true for on-time depadures on long-haul and shortímedium 

haul flights. 

The number of missing baggage items further declined in fiscal 2006/07. Worldwide, the number 

of temporarily missing items fel1 from 17.3 to 16.9 per 1000 passengers. This reflects the good 

cooperation between KLM and Schiphol. 
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transavia.com 
transavia.com is a wholly-owned subsidiary of KLM and has its own place in KLM Group. The 

strategic value of transavia.com is expressed chiefly in the charter and lowcost scheduled 

flights it operates to European destinations. Its home bases are Schiphol, Rotterdam Airport and 

Eindhoven Airport. 

Results 

During the fiscal year, the company carried 5.1 million passengers, 8% more than in the 

previous year. About 80% of the flights were completed on time, in companson with 82% in the 

previous year. Customer satisfaction with transavia.com produced a score of 8.5, equal to 8.5 in 

fiscal 2005/06. 

Network 

%ven new scheduled destinations were added (three of which wil1 be flown only in winter) and 

one was ended (Genoa). The number of scheduled routes that transavia.com operates from 

Amsterdam Airport Schiphol, Rotterdam Airport and Eindhoven Airport has now risen to 31. In 

the summer of 2007 there wil1 be 28 scheduled routes and transavia.com wil1 fly some 77 

charter routes, about 37 of which may also be booked by individual passengers. 

Consumers are increasingly appreciating the fact that they can also use other airports than 

Schiphol. transavia.com has gained useful experience from flying scheduled flights to and fmm 
the regional airport in Rotterdam in recent years. It therefore also decided to operate scheduled 

flights from Eindhoven Airport as from November 1, 2006. 
4 0 . 4  

m 

New úeve/opments 
(3 
‘4 

I 

At the end of 2006, Air France and transavia.com announced plans to set up a new French 

airline, transavia France, in which transavia.com wil1 hold 40% and Air France 60%. Under the 

transavia.com brand name, it wil1 serve the French market for low-cost scheduled flights and 

phm 

‘-4 

charters in accordance with the transavia.com business model. 

transaviaxom’s strategy to grow int0 a broad-based travel brand is beginning to bear fruit. 

Market research has shown that more and more consumers are realizing that transavia.com 

offers more than a ticket and travel-related products. 

In 2006 transavia.com celebrated its 40th anniversary. It marked the occasion with successful 

promotions for customers and celebratory events for associates and staff. 
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Cargo 
Air France Cargo-KLM Cargo is one of the leading airfreight carriers in the world, transporting 

more than 1.4 million tonnes of cargo by air every year. Airfreight transport has consistently 

been a profitable activity for the past eight years. 

Air France Cargo-KLM Cargo has the ambition to be a world player in the airfreight market and 

concentrates on services from Europe to China, Japan, The United States and other key 

production areas. In the past fiscal year, Air France Cargo-KLM Cargo emphatically positioned 

itself as a commercially single organization. Al1 commercial activities, planning, strategic 

decision-making and the development of integrated and advanced IT systems are now steered 

jointly . 

One face 

Even more progress has been achieved in the joint market approach (One face to the 

customer), centering on customer segmentation, a more varied product portfolio and a tuned 

pricing policy. This provides customers with the convenience of a single contact person and one 

Unique Voice website (www.afklcarao.com) giving them access to the largest cargo network in 

the worid, an enomous fleet of freight carriers, and capacity from both hubs. 

Air France Cargo-KLM Cargo’s market approach concentrates on products and customers with 

, very specific transportation and handling requirements, such as speed, extra care (e.g. for 

animals), conditioning, and - of growing importance - security (valuable goods). Marketing 

campaigns and contacts with key customers are rapidly being integrated. Two thirds of KLM 
Cargo and Air France Cargo’s offices have now been fully merged. 

Wherever possible, physical handling of freight is done jointly (joint ware housing), the 

procurement policy has been integrated and connections between the Paris and Amsterdam 

hubs are being further Qptimized. IT proCesses are already largely hamonized and systems 

have been analyzed. Preparations were made to invest EUR 40-50 million in further upgrading 

the IT systems. 
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New deveiopments 
The volume of airíreight is expected to grow further in the future, although there wil1 be peri& 
of temporary declines. The main growth opportunities are expected on routes from and to the 

Far East, with China being a particularly important focus area. Air France Cargo-KLM Cargo wil1 
exploit the opportunities offered by the enormous Chinese market in part by entering into joint 

ventures. 

Competition in the European/Asian market is constantly increasing and account has to be taken 

of both the rapidly growing Asian airfreight carriers and the major expansion plans h ing  

implemented in the Middle East. Airfreight carriers are also faang competition from ‘integrators’, 

who provide both the flights and the transport to and from the airports, and with the ever- 

stronger buying power of the largest airfreight forwarders. 

Airfreight fotwarders are making ever-higher demands on their global logistics chains, 

particularly regarding secudty, transparency and reliability. Therefore Cargo invests 

continuously in improving our electtonic seMces (E-Freight) and in the transparency of the 

logistics chain pmvided by, for instance, our global quality assurance system, Cargo 2000. 

Tñe years ahead wil1 be exciting and challenging times for the airfreight industry, but also 

uncertain ones. Key commercial goals are to retain and consolidate the current market position, 
optimize the network and lever the synergy gains. A further improvement in margins and 

financial results is necessary. 
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Engineering & Maintenance 
In the extremely competiive aviation market, it is becoming increasingly important that aircraft 

spend as little time as possible on the ground undergoing maintenance. At the Same time, the 

safety of the aircraft must not be compromised. The joint mission of KLM Engineering & 

Maintenance and Air France Industries - AFI, Air France’s maintenance unit - is to be a 

superior service provider for the two airlines’ fleets. The combination is also positioning itself as 

the world leader in the Maintenance, Repair and Ovehaul industry. 

Together with Air France Industries, KLM Engineering & Maintenance is capable of maintaining 

virtually al1 types of Boeing and Airbus aircraft. ûwing to the high volume of the KLM and Air 

France fleet, KLM Engineering & Maintenance’s staff has a great deal of experience and can 

carry out maintenance work more efficiently. 

KLM Engineering & Maintenance’s main customer is KLM. In addition to maintenance, 

Engineering & Maintenance worked on upgrading the KLM fleet during the fiscal year. New 

business class seats and a new entertainment system were faed in the 747-400s. The 737-fleet 

and the MD-1 1s were also fitted with new seats. 

New contracts 

The cooperation between Air France Industries and KLM Engineering & Maintenance is taking 

more concrete shape. In October 2006 the joint sales organization was officially launched and 

Central Engineering Agencies were set up so that customers can benefit from the combined 

expertise of KLM Engineering & Maintenance and AFI. 

Important contracts were signed with, amongst others, TNT Airways, Martinair and Nippon 

Cargo Airlines. 

New úevelopmenfs 
In the airframe segment maintaining the KLM and Air France fleets always has priority for KLM 

Engineering & Maintenance and it accordingly has only limited capacity for extemal customers. 

Furthermore, KLM Engineering & Maintenance is facing growing competion fmm Eastem 

Europe and the Far East in the aircraft maintenance market - especially in the airframe 

segment - and wil1 therefore continuously work on pductivity improvements. 
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Staff 

In the extremely competitive markets in which KLM operates, success stands or falls on the staff 

commitment, ingenuity, flexibility and, especially, customer care. 

Intemally, KLM does al1 it can to support the staff by means of training courses and education. 

Our aim is to benefit from the wealth of know-how and experience that is already available 

within the company: we want to make use of our own champions, tapping int0 our own 

intellectual capacity as an investment in the future quality of our woh. 

An important theme within KLM is the sustainable employability of our people. Many membeis 

of staff remain with the company for a long time. We must ensure that they remain rnotvated 

and are properly equipped to do their work. To some extent we can do so by offering staff new 

positions dunng their careers that match their abilities and interests. We work with knowledge 

centers such as TNO (The Netherlands Organization for Applied Scientific Research) to develop 

methods to keep staff both physically and inteliectually up to speed so that they can continue to 

work successfully and enjoyably. Staff with physically demanding work, for example, receives 

intensive care for lower back cornplaints and the opportunity to carry out work that uses a 

different muscle group, such as warehousing or security. 

Prevention 
Policy wil1 remain sharply focused on preventing incapacity for work. KLM offers its staff a wide 
variety of training courses, and health and career scans. The staff also has many opportunities 

to enjoy exercise and take part in sports. We try to reduce the physical burden that certain 

positions impose. Electromechanical equipment has been acquired, for example, to simplify the 

lading of low cargo holds in some aircraft so that operators do not need to benq as often. 

Care for long-term employability is not limited to physical concerns. To offer @ff the long-term 

prospect of suitable work and challenging career moves, several prog 'ms have been 

developed to support them. 
7 
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Tra i n i ng 
KLM may be a popular and innovative employer but we face several problems in the Dutch 

labor market. On the technical side, in particular, it is becoming increasingly difficult to recruit 

suitable candidates. Simply waiting for what the schools and colleges produce is not enough. 

We have to rol1 out the KLM carpet at a much eariier stage in order to retain assurances on the 

quality of recniits. KLM therefore goes to great lengths to interest young people in technical 

careers. It works closely with training centers and fellow employers to explain that aviatiorl 

technology means working with exceptionally sophisticated techniques and with state-of-the-art 

IT resources and that KLM can offer a wide range of opportunities for further development 

through training and schooling. 

Despite the high loyalty shown to the company, KLM wil1 also face an oufflow of staff who 

reaches retirement age in the years ahead. We must do al1 we can to sustain the organization’s 

knowledge base. KLM is therefore actively participating in many training courses and incentive 

programs, both in the Schiphol region and nationally. KLM has established its own chair at Delft 

University to promote the quality of both research and education in aviation technology. We are 

also active at regional training centers close to Schiphol where we select young people for the 

‘KLM class’. They proudly wear the blue KLM overalls during their training. 

The merger with Air France offers new perspectives to our staff. A Young Managers Exchange 

Program has been set up in which young KLM managers c8n be assigned to Air France for a 
period of more than two years and vice versa. Intemships are also available at the merger 

partners at other levels in order to optimize the exchange of know-how. 

Transfer of staff 

At the transfer date of January 1, 2007, KLM transferred her Tax Free Services to Amsterdam 

Airport Schiphol. Al1 permanent staff (approximately 130 employees) of the KLM Tax Free 

Services were transferred to Schiphol. 

Per April 1, 2007 Sodexho Altys began providing facility services for KLM instead of KLM 

Facility Services. KLM continues to make use of exactly the same services previously offered by 

KLM Facility Services. 

Al1 staff of KLM Facility Services has been transferred to Sodexho Altys through a thorough 

process with the Works Council, which was concluded satisfactorily. 

KLM Group employed a workforce of 30,771 as at March 31, 2007. of the workforce, 26,667 

worked in The Netheriands and 4,104 abroad. 
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Fleet composition KLM Group 

Consoiidated fleet as at March 31,2007 

inciuded in balance sheet 

Boeing 747-400 Pax 

Boeing 747-400 Combi 

Boeing 747-400ER Freighter 

Boeing 777-200 ER 

Boeing MD-11 

Airbus A330-200 

Boeiw 767-300 ER * 
Boeing 737-900 

Boeing 737-800 

Boeing 737-400 

Boeing 737-300 

Fokker 1 O0 
Fokker 70 

Fokker 50 
Training aircrafî 

Boeiw 737-700 

Totai consolidated fleet 

wide body 

wide body 

wide body 

wide body 

wide body 
wide body 

wide body 

n a m  body 

n a m  body 

namw body 

nambody 

namw body 
regional 

regional 

regional 

Average 

inyears" O w n W  leases Ieaam- Totai 
age Flnance Opwathg 

16.3 

13.1 

3.7 

2.4 

12.1 

1 .o 

4.2 

7.0 

3.6 

15.4 

14.5 
16.6 

11.1 

16.0 

3 

8 

2 

6 

6 

6 
9 

18 

6 

8 

2 

20 

5 

1 
11 

3 

- 8  

5 

17 

3 

14 

10 

a 
1 

5 

32 

10 

13 

14 

20 

21 

14 

8 

10.9 72 74 49 195 

' Excluding operating leases and training aircraft. The average age induding operating leases is 10.6 pars .. 2 Bae146-300 operated by CityJet - 1 Boeing 747400ER Freighter operated by Air France Cargo 
.** Not in operation as at March 31,2007. Retumed to lessor in April 2007 
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Risk profile and risk management 

In carrying out its actiiies within the Air France KLM group, KLM is confronted by various risks. 

The aviation industry has a cydical, capital and labor intensive business mode, facing a 

comparatively high level of fixed cost and operating with relatively smal1 margins. 

This section reports only on KLM’s risk management and in particular the most important risks 

such as: 

e 

e 

e 

e 

e 

e 

e 

e 

e 

e 

e 

Changes in market conditions; 

Political and macro-economie developments; 

Fuel prìces, foreign exchange movements and interest rates; 

Environmental risks; 

Operational risks; 

ICT risks; 

Safety and security risks; 

Reputational risks; 

Legal risks; 

Anti trust violation risks; 

Legislative, fiscal and regulatory developments. 

The risks of the Air France KLM group are explained in the related parts of the group financial 

disdosure. Basicaliy, the risks discussed below can impact the Company’s brand, income and 

liquidity. In addition, it can hamper the access to capital markets and result in damage due to 

loss of reputation. 

Risk management within the KLM Group 
KLM has organized its risk management so that risks are identified on a timely basis in order to 

restrict the impact of risk factors to a minimum. A Company wide process has been established 

which results in relevant measures for identified risks. 

KLM has integrated risk management int0 most aspects of its operations 50 as to ensure that its 

objectives are achieved. A system of both topdown and bottom-up risk assessments is 

followed in order to identii the most relevant business risks, to monitor them and where 

necessary take corrective action. 
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Management cames out periodic risk assessments. Quarterly reports are prepared in which 
management draws the Board of Managing Directors' attention to the results of the risk 
assessments and the measures that have or wil1 be taken to mitigate the risks. The Board 

discusses the identified risks periodically with management and subsequently with the Audit 

Committee of the SupeMsory Board. 

In addition extemal auditors assess the quality of the risk management process, the controls as 
far as the financial disclosure is concemed and the mitigating measures and the reporüng 

thereon. 

The risk management structure is subject to continuous improvement. At the year-end the use 
of an intemal Document of Representation ('DoR") is incorporated into the intemal 

accountability process. In this intemal statement, divisional management confirms to the Board 

of Managing Diredors, the reliability of the figums they have submitted and control procedures 
applied. At the Same time through the DOR, management takes responsibilii for: 
0 

e 

e the completeness of open control issues and the measures to monitor and to 

transparent reporting and the application of adequate risk management; 

maintaining a reliable intemal control framework; and 

mitigate the consequences of these control issues. 

The biiowhg atws of risk have been disüngu/shed: 

o 

e 

Changes in market conditions 
Terrorist attacks and other related conflicts can have significant adverse effects on worldwide 

market conditions for airlines. For example: 

o The 9/11 attack (New York) led, among other things, to a significant decline in 

revenues and a considerable increase in the cost of insurance and security; 

The regional instability following military operations in Iraq has also had an 

adverse effect on the airline industry; and 

The potential geopolitical conflicts relative to Iran and North Korea. 
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Every form of temrist threat or military action can lead to: 

e a decrease in passenger and cargo transportation; 

e an increase in the costs associated with passenger and cargo transport; 

e a limitation of navigation rights in certain areas; 

e a rise in fuel and insurance costs; and 

e an increase in security costs. 

Al1 these factors can have a material adverse effect on the continuity and financial results of the 

business activities of the airline industry. 

Moreover, the long term effects of fuel availabiltty and its prices, given the reducing world 

reserves and the gmwing demand of industries and increasing worldwide mobility, is considered 

to be a long term risk for the aviation industry. The solution highly depends on politica1 solutions 

and new technology. 

The aviation industry is sensitive to both cyclical and seasonal changes. Moreover, it is also 

highiy competitiie and subject to price dumping and discounts. This is parüaliy due the 

expansion and huge capacity growth of low cost carriers. Airlines use reduced fares to 

stimulate traffic during periods of low demand in order to generate cash fiows and retain market 

share. In additiin to the above, there is a number of other important aspects: 

new airlines in emerging markets make heavy capacity investments; 

creation of major hubs in the emerging markets; 

a nurnber of KLM's competitors receive directly or indirectly govemment subsidies. This 

lack of leveled playing field increases the risk of over-capacity, for both Passenger and 

Cargo, and leads to extra pressure on profbbility; 

certain competitors are indirectly favored thmugh specific national legislatin. An example 

of this is in 2005 the assumption of the pension obligations of US carriers by the US 
authorities and the facility for US carriers under Chapter 11 to be able to restructure; and 

the Cargo Business is confronted with an imbalance between the various trafíic flows as a 

consequence of the strong geographical difierences in economic growth. 
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KLM's answer to these market conditions is: 

0 a service oriented product in a worid-wide network; 

0 an optimal alliance and code share strategy; 

0 a business unit aimed at the leisure market with a focus on European and international 

value-for-money flights; 

0 an effedive u w  of the Engineering & Maintenance business (als0 for third parties); and 

0 verystrictcostcontroi. 

Through intensive contacts with various regulators KLM aims to bring about a level playing field 

for al1 its businesses. 

Political and macro+conomic developments 
The demand for passenger transport (both business and leisure) and cargo transport is 
influenced by regional and international economic and political conditions. KLM (in close co- 
operation with Air France) is continually adapting its capacity and network of destinations to the 

economic situation. 

The European Court of Justice's ruling of November 5,2002 changed member states' position 
on negotiating aviation treaties with non-mernber states. Treaties are increasingly negotiated by 

or in cooperation with the European Commission. The Netherlands and KLM are contributing to 
the establishment of a new system in order to safeguard the acquired and future interests of 
KLM and Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. 

Fuel price, foreign exchange movements and interest rates 
I 

KLM is exposed to various risks in financial markets. These involve, arnong others, fluctuations 

in exchange rates and interest rates. The uncertainíy about the continuous availability and price 
r4;1 

Q 

of fuel enhance these risks. More infonnation over the impact and management of financial 

risks is inûuded under 'Financial risk managemenr in the notes to the consoliâated financial 

statements. 

KLM has taken out an airline insurance policy on behalf of itself, its subsidiaries, Martinair 

Holland N.V. and Kenya Airways Ltd. covering damage to aircraft, l iabiï i  in relation to 

passengers and cargo in connection with its air transport activies. In respect of these aviation 

risks cover is available for a limit of 2 billion US dollars. A specific insurance is available 

covering damage caused by terrorist acts up to 1 billion US dollars. Further giobai insurance 

29 



policies are in place to reduce the risk of damage to property, business interruption loss and 

general l iabiï i  exposures. 

Recently a Kenya Airways flight crashed; at the moment any impact on aviation insurance 

premium level cannot be predicted. 

Environmental risks 
A diverse range of environmental risks confronts KLM. KLM's operations affect the environment 

through, among others: 

0 emissions of air pollutants; 

0 CO2 emissions ; 

0 noise; and 

0 water and ground pollution risks. 

The Dutch "Aviation Act" inciudes a separate chapter relating to Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. 

This chapter regulates the management of Schiphol, but it also inciudes environmental 

regulations covering emissions, noise and security. Environmental, operathal and economical 

impact studiesare currentiy being conduct& with the intent to update the regulations. The 

required study resuits for the decision making of the resolutions on environmental restrictions for 

the short term capacity (until approximately 2010) of Schiphol are expected in the summer of 

2007. 

KLM prepares for a low carbon future and draws up an environmental program each year as 

part of its normal business operations in which the right balance is sought between 'People, 

Planet and Profit". These programs result in cos& being incurred in the areas of prevention, 

contml and reduction of ernissions to air and water and for the removal of waste. 

KLM conducts intensive consultation with the authoriües and organizations in order to be 
involved in legislation on a timely basis and to be able to anticipate its implementation and so 

fulfilling its accountability. 

w 

30 



Operatfonal risks 
Reiiabiîity is one of the essentiai conditions for success in the aviation industry. Airlines are 

highiy sensitive to disruptions. Deiays, both on the ground and in the air, lead to ioss of quaiity 

and are costiy. KLM has taken a number of initiatives to safeguard its operational integrity. The 

Operations Controi Center, which coordinates aii flight related decisions, plays a centrai mie in 

this. 

KLM's operations are dependant on a good cooperation with its suppiiers, which is a 

prerequisite for delivering a high quaiity seMce to our aistomen. in this context Amsterdam 

Airport Schiphoi, as the owner of the baggage handiing system, is a key pattner in delivering 

high quaiity service in baggage handiing at Schiphol. Over the last years significant process 

improvements were realized in an effecüve partnership between KLM and Schiphoi. The 

baggage handiing quaîity for KLM at the Schiphoi hub in fiscai 2 W 0 7  ranks best among AEA 
peers in their respective European hub. The implementation of the 7' wave system has 
contributed to a better spread of passengers and baggage throughout the day, enabiing 

service quaiity to increase. 

Looking forward system capacity needs fwther expansion, in order to accommodate future 
gmwth. Graduai expansions are pianned as of winter 2008. Untii then capacity wiii remain tight 

so active joint process management wiii be cniciai for maintaining requimd service levels. 

Lack of airspace in Europe can cause serious congestion at and around som8 airports, 

particuiariy at peak times. Many of the counúies invoived (for exampie the relativeiy smaii 

Eumpean countries), each with their own air traffic control, have not succeeded to date in 

putting forward an acceptabie soiution. KLM wil1 continue to pay attention to this matter. 

ICT risks 
Airiine operations are sensitive to ioss of iCT faciiitiis. Contingency plans aim to guarantee the 

continuity of operations in the event of the faiiure of vitai systems. New contingency plans are 

developed in close co-operation with Air France. 

Rapid technologicai developments demand constant attention. in order to maintain an ovenriew 

and at the same time manage the costs and complexity of ICT, KLM has opted for an approach 

that aims at standardization, simpiicity and aiignment of systems between Air France and KLM. 

Due to the repiacement of reservation system Corda by ALTEA both companies now have the 

Same resenration system. 
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Standardization leads to improved use of existing systems, elimination of older complex 

systems, application of new organizational structures and demand and strategy driven ICT 

development. In a less complex ICT structure a more efíicient, simpler and, on balance, a 

better security is possible. As more interactive services (products and transactions) are offered 

over the Internet, continual attention to security is a critical precondition. 

Safety and security risks 
KLM maintains strict, intemationally recognized safety norms and standarâs. These comply 

with American and European legislation and regulations, which are sometimes different and 

occasionally conflicting. The detailed rules, with which al1 airlines must comply in full, cover al1 

flight operations and thus have a direct impact on al1 aspects of the business. Tightening up the 

rules in response to events or new insights can have operational and financial consequences. 

The aviation industry, including KLM, is vulnerable to terrorist or criminal acts directed towards 

passengen, staff andíor property. The probability of such acts occumng at airports as wel1 as 

on board, or the threat thereof, is limited as much as possible by a large number of security 

measures. KLM is largely dependent on the level of organization and the way in which airport 

authorities worldwide have organized the exercise of security at airports. KLM attempts to 

exercise direct influence on the quality and effectiveness of security measures as far as 

possible. 

Reputational risks 
Business processes systems and procedures may display weaknesses or be temporarily 

unavailable. These situations may be due to disruptions or external circumstances caused by 

weather conditions, the situation at or around the airport or natura1 disasters. Such risks may 

have an adverse impact on KLM’s reputation and in some cases may lead to financial loss. 

KLM regards reputation risk as an operational risk that is primarily linked to the operation of its 

processes. It is up to the process managers to monitor and limit the consequences of these 

risks as much as possible. 
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Legal risks 
Generally speaking, KLM is also experiencing the consequences of increasing litigation within 

society. KLM is regularly party to or involved in legal actions. Many of the mentioned risks have 

a legal impact. 

Anti trust violation risks 
Aidines by the nature of their business have many mutual operational contacts, for instance via 

IATA. The current concentration of airiines in alliances and (for KLM) the combination of Air 

France and KLM generates even more operational contacts. 

These operational contacts combined with the changing anti trust legislation over the last 
decades, increase the risk of (non-intended) violations of anti trust l a w .  As a consequence, in 

the last year much attention has been given to the monitoring and controlling of this topic. 

In the course of fiscal 2007/08, Air France and KLM wil1 rol1 out an antitrust compliance 

programme, which among others wil1 include the distribution of a Compliance Manual and a 

mandatory E-Leaming facility. 

Legislative, fiscal and regulatory developments 
KLM’s operations are sensitive to changes in legislation, regulations, airport fees and taxes. In 

particular, there is increasing legislation and regulation for an important partner for KLM, 

Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. KLM maintains a monitoring system in order to identify the 

possible risks in this area promptly and subsequently to react on a timely basis. KLM has a 
permanent political lobby and a prominent international presence in the AEA and IATA. 

The combination of Air France and KLM requires measures to ensure compliance to fiscal 
legislation including wel1 document4 cross border intercompany transadons. Strong 

monitoring and mitigating controls have been introduced: a wel1 elaborated holding guideline 

and an active monitoring of the arms-length character of these transadons. 

The recent approval of the EU-US (Open Skies) agreement is important for Air France KLM and 

an increase of operations is expected. However, the treaty itself has to be developed to a higher 

level of maturity. 

During the past years, KLM has prepared for compliance with the requirements of the US 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The existing risk management system required only minor changes for 

both Sarbanes-Oxley and the Dutch Corporate Govemance Code. 
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Board and Governance 

Corporate Governance 

General 
Koninklijke Luchtvaart Maatschappij N.V. ('KLM") is a public limited liability company 

incorporated under Dutch law. Supervision and management of KLM are structured in 

accordance with the Metier model, with a Board of Managing Directors and a separate 

Supervisory Board. Further to the merger between Air France and KLM, it was agreed that the 

full large company regime would remain applicable to KLM during the first three years. At the 

end of this three-year period, in May 2007, KLM wil1 adopt the mitigated regime for large 

companies. A proposal to alter the company's articles of association to this effect wil1 be put to 

the General Meeting of Shareholders for approval in July 2007. 

KLM's corporate governance is based on the statutoty requirements applicable to limited 

companies and on the company's own Articles of Assouation. Furthermore, KLM has brought 

its corporate governance int0 line insofar as possible with, in particular, the Dutch Corporate 

Governance Code (luie Code"). Where applicable, and in particular with regard to the 

obligations resting on Air France KLM, the company's corporate governance has also been 

brought int0 confomity with the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As a listed company in The United 

States, Air France KLM is subject to this legislation and certain obligations accordingly also rest 

on KLM. 

This section considers KLM's corporate governance and the points on which KLM departs from 

the Code. In companson with fiscal 2005/06 there have been no matenal changes in the 

company's governance policy. 
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Share holder structure 
KLM's shareholder structure is outlined below. 

Air France KLM holds: 

e 

e 

e 

e 

alt KLM priority shares and a proportion of the common shares, together representing 49% 

of the voting rights in KLM; 

the depositary receipts issued on the common KLM shares in excess of the 49% of the 

nomina1 share capital and the wting rights in KLM. The depositary receipts cany the 

beneficial ownership but not the voting rights of the underlying wmmon KLM stock; 

the depositary receipts issued on the A Cumulative preference shares, which cany the 

beneficial ownenhip but not the voting rights of the underiying A Cumulative preference 
shares; 

the depositary receipts issued on the C Cumulative preference shares, which carry the 

beneficial ownership but not the voting rights of the underiying C Cumulative preference 

shares. 

As at March 31, 2007 Stichting Administratie Kantoor KLM ('SAK I") held 31.9% of the voting 

rights in KLM on the basis of common shares and A Cumulative preference shares. Stichting 

Administratie Kantoor cumulatief preferente aandelen4 KLM ("SAK Ir) holds 11.3% of the 
voting rights in KLM. The State of The Netherlands hokis the A Cumulative preference shares, 

which represent 5.9% of the voting rights. 
)Ir 

(13 

o 
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I 
Since 1994 the State of The Netherlands has had an option to take an interest of up to 50.1 % in 

the issued capital of KLM in certain circumstances. The purpose of this State option is to ensure 

the unintempted exercise of traffic rights. Further to the merger with Air France, the option has 

been retained subject to certain amendments for a period of three years, with an option to 

renew it for a further year for a maximum of three years. The State has informed KLM that it 

I 

wishes to renew the option for a year. 
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Air France KLM 
The KLM and Air France operating companies have been placed next to each other under a 

holding company, Air France KLM S.A. The holding company’s Board of Directors (Conseil 

d’Adminisfrafion) has 16 members. A strategic Management Committee (SMC) with four 

representatives of Air France and four representatives of KLM meets every Wo weeks, 

altematively in Paris and Amsterdam. The SMC considers and decides upon strategic issues. 

Supervisory Board 
KLM’s Supervisory Board has a duty to supervise the policy conducted by the Board of 

Managing Directors and the general performance of the company. It also provides the Board of 

Managing Directors with advice. The Supervisory Directors fulfill their duties in the interests of 

the company and of the enterprises aífiliated to it. Supervisory Directors are appointed and 

reappointed by the General Meeting of Sharehoiders. Three committees are active within the 

Supervisory Board: an Audit Committee, a Nomination Committee and a Remuneration 

Committee. Al1 these committees have their own regulations, which lay down, amongst other 

things, the committees’ tasks. 

Board of Managing Directors 
The Board of Managing Directors has three members. It is supervised by the Supervisory 

Board. The Supervisory Board has the nght to appoint and dismiss the members of the Board of 
Managing Directors. The members of the Board of Managing Directors have been appointed for 
a fixed tem of office. Further information on the members’ service agreements is presented in 

the section Remuneration Policy and Report. Regardless of the allocation of tasks among its 

members, the Board of Managing Directors acts as a single entity with joint responsibility. The 

Supervisory Board appoints one of the members as President & Chief Executive Officer. 

General Meeting of Shareholders 
A General Meeting of Shareholders may be convened by the Board of Managing Directors, the 
President & Chief Executive Officer, the Supervisory Board, three Supervisory Directors or the 

Meeting of Priority Shareholders, each of which has equal power to do so. KLM’s forthcoming 

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders wil1 be held at Schiphol (East) on July 5, 2007. 
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Staff participatlon 
The Board of Managing Directors meets on a regular basis with the company’s Works Council. 

During these meetings, a number of topics are discussed such as the cooperation with Air 

France, the company’s strategy and financial results. The KLM Works Council has 25 members. 

Air France KLM has also installed a joint European Works Council. This Council focuses on 
subjects conceming the cooperation of KLM and Air France. In the 20W07 fiscal year, the 

European Works Council met on 2 occasions. 

Corporate Governance: implementation 
KLM took further steps during the fiscal year to bring its corporate govemance int0 line wiai the 

Dutch Corporate Govemance Code and the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act. A Code of Ethics for 

Financial Officers and a Financial Whistleblower Policy, both of which are compulsory under the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act, were formalized and implemented. 

Although KLM is not formally obliged to comply with the Dutch Corporate Govemance Code, it 

has committed itself to comply the Code voluntanly as an unlisted company. KLM derogates 

from the best practices described in the Code, however, in a number of areas. These 

demgations are: 

a 

a 

a 

regulatins and other documents are not made available on the Intemet; since-the vast 

majority of KLM shares are owned by a smal1 gmup of known shareholders, for a t  
efficiency reasons it has been decided, in derogation from the different best practices in aiis 

respect, to provide copies of regulations and other documents upon written request. 

in demgation from best practice provision 11.1.7, Mr. van Wijk is a SupeMsory Board 
member at three listed companies. Since one of the Board memberships is with Nornest 

Airlines and given the close w-operation with this joint venture partner and the related 

importance to KLM, it has been decided to accept this demgation. Mr. van Wijk, however, 

will stand down from the Board of Northwest Airlines in June 2007. 

in derogation from best practice provision 11.1.6, KLM has implemented a whistleblower 

policy with a limited financial scope. In view of this scope, it has been decided that the 

Chairman of the Audit Committee will be the pnmary point of contact if there are suspicions 

of financial misconduct regarding the Board of Managing Directors. The desirability of 

broadening the scope will be evaluated in the new fiscal year with account being taken of 

the other complaint procedures already in place within KLM. 
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Regulations 
KLM has adopted regulations in respect of the Supenrisory Board, the Audit Committee, the 

Nomination Committee and the Remuneraton Committee and regulations in respect of the 

Board of Managing Directors. The Audit Committee’s regulations satisfy the requirements of 

both the Dutch Corporate Governance Code and the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Rules of 
SupeMsion, the Profile with Code of Conduct for the members of the Supenrisory Board, the 

Board of Managing Directors Regulations, the Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee, the 

Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee and the retirement roster may be 

inspected at the mmpany’s head office. Copies may be requested in writing from the Company 

SeCrebry. 
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Report of the Supewisory Board 

In futfillment of its duty to supeMse and to provide advice to the company's Board of Managing 

Diredors, the SupeMsory Board and its Committees met regularly during fiscal 2006/07. The 

meetings were well attended by the members of the Board. On only one occasion was a 
member prevented fmm attending a meeting. 

The SupeMsory Board can look back on the past fiscal year with great satisfaction. The 

company is performing well; a good indication of this can be seen in the financial resub. KLM 

was affected by the adverse consequences of persistently high fuel prices during the year but 

managed to improve the result in comparison with the previous year, thus putting int0 effect the 

joint Air France KLM strategy of profìtable growth. Deeper cooperation with Air France was 
again high on the agenda last year. 

The composition of the Supervisoiy Board is presented in the d o n  Supervisoty Board and 

Board of Managing Directors of this Annual Report, where information is also provided on the 

individual Supenrisoty Directors. 

Supervision 
The Supenrisory Board held six scheduled meetings during the year. Four of the six meetings, 

which were always held shottiy after the quarterly close, concentrated on the development of 
KLM's results. ûther issues we discussed inciuded corporate govemance, KLM's environmental 

strategy, developments in the Reet, the outsourcing of facility services to Sodexho, and the sale 

of KLM Tax Free Services to Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. Part of the meetings in the second 

half of the fiscal year considered the future organization after the end of the initia1 three-year 

period in May 2007. The main points of Air France KLM's ñve-year Strategic Plan, with in 

particular emphasis on KLM's rok, were discussed at a special strategy meeting. This meeting 

also considered KLM Engineering & Maintenance's strategy and devebpments in competition in 

the Passenger Business. We also discussed the three-year KLM Strategic Plan, the budget, the 

investment plan and the financing plan. Al1 were approved by the Supewisory Board. Finally, the 

Board considered its own composition and performance as wel1 as the composition and 

performance of the Board of Managing Diredors. In keeping with previous years, members of 

the Supervisoty Board attended meetings of the Works Council, and an informal lunch with the 

Supervisoty Board and Works Council was organized. 
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Committees 
The Supetvisory Board has three committees: an Audit Committee, a Nomination Committee 

and a Remuneration Committee. These Committees prepare policy and decision-making and 

report on their activities to the full Supervisory Board. There were no changes in the 

composition of the Committees during the fiscal year. As at March 31,2007 their composition 

was as follows: 

Audit Commlîtee 
0 Hans Smits (Chairman) 

0 Henri Guillaume 

Keesstorm 

Nominatlon Committee 
0 Wim Kok (Chairman) 

0 Bauke Geersing 

0 RemmertLaan 

Remuneration Commiîtee 
0 Wim Kok (Chairman) 

0 Bauke Geersing 

0 RemmertLaan 

The Audit Committee met on two occasions during the fiscal year. As wel1 as the development 

of results, these two scheduled meetings discussed such fixed issues as risk management and 

intemal control, and the intemal auditor‘s reports. The Audit Committee was also infomied 

during these two meetings about the progress of the Sarbanesaxley 404 implementation. The 

Audit Committee’s meetings were attended by the President & Chief Executive OITicer, the Chief 

Financial Officer, the extemal auditors, the intemal auditor and the corporate controller. 

The Remuneration Committee met on thme occasions during the fiscal year. These meetings 

considered market developments regarding the remuneration of dimctors, KLM’s remuneration 

policy and, more specifically, the directors’ pension plan. The Remuneratiin Committee advised 

the Supervisory Board on the remuneration of the members of the Board of Managing Directors 
on the basis of its evaluation of the CollecUVe and individual targets. 

The Nomination Committee met once during the fiscal year. This meeting considered, among 

other things, the composition of the Supervisory Board. 
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The meetings of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee were partly 

attended by the President & Chief Executive Officer. 

Dividend 
Article 32 of KLM’s Articles of Association provides for the appropriation of profit. Paragraph I of 

that article gives the Meeting of Priority Shareholders (Air France KLM) the right to set aside an 

amount of the disclosed profit in order to establish or increase res8rves. The Meeting of Priority 

Shareholders may do so only after consultation with the Board of Managing Diredors and the 
Supervisory Board. Such consultation has taken place and the Meeting of Priority SharehoMers 

has accordingly decided to add such an amount to the reserves that, with due observance of the 
other pmvisions of article 32 of KLM’s Aracles of Association, a sum of EUR 0.48 per m m o n  

share wil1 be available for distribution to the shareholders. Payments to holders of priority shares 

and holders of A and C cumulative preference shares wil1 require an amount of approximately 

EUR 1.7 million. 

Financial Statements 
The SupeMsory Board hereby presents the annual report and the financial statements for the 

2006/07 fiscal year. The financial statements have been audited by KPMG Accountants N.V. 

and Deloitte Accountants B.V. The Supervisory Board has discussed the financial statements 

and the Annual Report with the auditors and the Board of Managing Directors. The unqualified 

auditors’ report as issued by KPMG and Deloitte can be found in the Other information section 
of the financial statements. 

The Supervisory Board is satisfied that the Annual Report and the financial statements comply 

with al1 relevant requirements and proposes that the shareholders adopt the financial 

statements and endorse the Board of Managing Directors’ conduct of the company’s affairs and 

the SupeMsory Board’s supervision thereof in the 2006/07 fiscal year. 

Composition of the Board of Managing Directors 
Leo van Wijk wil1 stand down as President and Chief Executive Officer and leave the Board of 

Managing Directors at the end of the General Meeting of Shareholders on July 5,2007. Mr. van 

Wijk joined the Board of Managing Directors in 1991 and has been President and Chief 

Executive ûfíicer since 1997. The Supervisory Board is extremely grateful to Mr. van Wijk for 

his many contributions to the company since his appointment. We would particulady like to 

mention the further development of the cooperation with joint venture partner Northwest Airlines 

and the merger with Air France. We are pleased that Mr. van Wijk wil1 remain closely involved in 

the further development of Air France KLM as Vice-Chairman of Air France KLM. 

41 



The Supervisory Board has decided to appoint Peter Hartman as successor to Mr. van Wijk. 

The Supervisory Board also intends to appoint Jan Ernst de Groot to KLM’s Board of Managing 

Directors as of the close of the General Meeting of Shareholders. Mr. de Groot is currently 

Executive Vice President Corporate Center and General Counsel. 

Composition of the Supervisory Board 
Wim Kok and Bauke Geersing are due to retire by rotation. The intention is to nominate Mr. Kok 

for reappointment. The Works Council has an enhanced right of recommendation regarding the 

reappointment of Mr. Kok and has informed the Supervisory Board that it fully supports his 

reappointment. As explained upon his reappointment in the previous year, Mr. Geersing is no 

longer eligible for reappointment. Wth the end of the initia1 period in May 2007, the right to 

propose the appointment of a fifth Supervisory Director falls to Air France KLM. Air France KLM 

has informed the Supervisory Board that it wil1 propose Mr. Jean Peyrelevade for this position. 

At the close of the General Meeting of Shareholders, Mr. Geersing wil1 stand down as a 

Supervisory Director, a position he has held since 1985. During his membership, Mr. Geersing 

has often been a valuable link between the Supervisory Board and the company’s Works 

Council. The Supervisory Board is deeply grateful to Mr. Geersing not only for his work in this 

role but also fot his commitment to al1 his other supervisory tasks. 

Wth the proposed (re)appointments, the SupeMsoty Board is of the opinion that its compositiin 

wil1 remain in agreement with the adopted Profile. 

Independence 
Measured against current thinking on corporate govemance, al1 the members of the Supervisory 

Board are independent. 
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Closing remarks 
KLM closed fiscal 2006/07 with good results. We can state without hesitatbn that the first three 

years of the cooperation with Air France have been successful. Air France KLM, KLM and Air 
France are on the eve of a new phase in their cooperation. A new phase means new 

challenges, and KLM is ready for them. The SupeMmy Board expresses its appreciation of the 

company’s performance during the past three years, and in the past year in particular. A word of 

gratitude is not out of place here, particulariy to al1 staff of the company. 

Amstelveen, June 11,2007 

On behaif of the SupeMsory Board 

Kees J. Storm 

Chairman 

Q 
1%) 
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Remuneration Policy and Report 

Remuneration policy for the Board of Managing Directors 
The Supervisory Board’s Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating, implementing 

and evaluating the remuneration policy with regard to the terms and conditions of service of the 

members of the Board of Managing Directors and the remuneration of the members of the 

Supervisory Board. 

In accordance with the Articles of.Association and the remuneration policy and subject to the 

prior approval of the Meeting of Priority Shareholders (Air France KLM), the Supervisory Board 

sets the remuneration and further terms and conditions of service of the members of Board of 

Managing Directors. These decisions are prepared by the Remuneration Committee. 

The remuneration policy approved in 2005 wil1 be amended on certain points. The amended 

policy as considered below wil1 be put to the shareholders for adoption at the General Meeting 

of Shareholder on July 5,2007. 

The Remuneration Committee evaluates whether there is cause to change the remuneration 

each year. The following factors are considered in the evaluation: (i) developments in the 

remuneration of Air France KLM’s directors, whereby also extemal developments in directors’ 

remuneration are taken into account as weü as (ii) inflation and developments in KLM’s 
Collective Labor Agreement. The Remuneratin Committee makes a proposal to the 

Supervisory Board on possible changes in the remuneration further to the evaluation. The 

Supervisory Board in tum adopts the remuneration subject to the approval of the Meeting of 

Priority Shareholders. 

Objective 
The main objective of the remuneration policy is to create a remuneration structure that enables 

the company to attract and retain qualified Managing Directors and to offer them a stimulating 

reward. 
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Structure 
The remuneration package for the members of KLM’s Board of Managing Directors consists of 

three basic components: 

(1 ) base salary; 

(2) a short-tem incentive in cash related to performance in the past fiscal year; 

(3) a long-tem incentive in the f m  of Air France KLM stock options. 

Base salary 
The amount of the base salary is related to the requimments and responsibilities pertaining to 
the function of member of the Board of Managing Directors. The Remuneration Committee 

determines an appropnate level for the base salary with the aid of external reference data 

issued by independent remuneration experts. The job grade is detemined on the basis of the 

company’s size, the complexity of the activities, the national and international environment in 

which the company operates and the specific responsibilities pertaining to the positiin. On the 

basis of this job grade, a base salary level is set at around the median of the market level. 

With effect from the 2007/08 fiscal year, Managing Directors may retain payments they receive 
from other remunerated positions (such as membership of a supervisoty board or simiiar body), 

with the maximum number of remunerated positions whereby the payment accN8s to the 
Managing Director concerned being set at two. This represents a change from the policy 

conducted up to that fiscal year. Acceptance of such position requires the approval of the 

Supervisory Board. Any payment in connecüon with Supervisory Board memberships with KLM 
Group companies or with other airline companies remain due to the company. 

Members of the Board of Managing Directors are furthermore enutled to make use of travel 

facilities comparable to the travel facilities as detail4 in the travel regulations for KLM 

employees. 
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Short-term incentive plan 
The purpose of the short-term incentive plan is to reward members of the Board of Managing 

Directors for achieving pre-agreed and measurable targets. The short-term incentive is paid in 

cash as a percentage of base salary. 

60% of the short-term incentive is based on a target relating to KLM’s income from operating 

activities; 20% is based on targets relating to Air France KLM, and 20% on achieving personal 

targets. 

With effect from the 2007/08 fiscal year the maximum pay-out percentage is connected to the 

position of the Board member. This represents a change fmm last year‘s policy. Depending on 

the performance level achieved, the pay-out percentages are as follows: 

For fhe CEO: 

0 The maximum percentage that can be paid out on a score of ‘excellent‘ is 85%; 

b On a score of ‘at target’, this percentage is 60%; 

D On a score blow a set limit (target less than 80% achieved), no payment is made. 

For fhe CFO: 

The maximum percentage that can be paid out on a score of ‘excellent‘ is 70%; 

B On a score of ‘at target‘, this percentage is 50%; 

On a score below a set limit (target less than 80% achieved), no payment is made. 

For fhe Managing Dimdor: 

0 The maximum percentage that can be paid out on a score of ‘excellent’ is 50%; 

0 On a score of ‘at target’, this percentage is 30%; 
o On a score below a set limit (target Iess than 80% achieved), no payment is made. 

The Remuneration Committee evaluates the agreed targets each year and proposes new 

targets. Both the evaluation and the proposals are submitted to the Supervisory Board for 

appmval. 
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Long-term incentive plan 
Under the long-term incentie plan, options to acquire Air France KLM shares are granted 

conditionally, with delayed vesting subject to the reaiikation of wmpany performance criteria. 
The maximum number for members of the Board of Managing Directors is 25,000. The options 

may be exercised only during a period of two years commencing three years after the grant 

date. 

Pensions 
In accordance with KLM’s pension policy, the Pension Plan for members of KLM’s Board of 
Managing Directors is a camr average salary scheme, whereby any variable i m  is 

excluded fmm pensionabie salary. In the changeover to this career average salary schemel a 

transitional plan was agreed fot employees bom before January 1 , 1950. This transitional plan 

is applicable to Messrs van Wijk and Hartman. Mr. Gagey does not acwmulate pension rights in 

The Nethedands. 

Service agreements with members of the Board of Managing 

Directors 
Messrs. Van Wijk’s and Hartman’s open-ended service agreements were replaced at August 1 , 
2005 with fixed-tem agreements with a renewal option for two years at the most. Mr. van Wjk‘s 

agreement ended on January 1,2007 and was renewed subject to the same conditions until 

July 5, 2007. Mr. Hartman’s agreement runs until January 1, 2010. This agreement also 

includes a renewal option for a further penod of up to two years. Mr. Gagey has a fixed-tem 

agreement with KLM ending on January 1,2009. 

Mr. de Groot, who wil1 join KLM’s Board of Managing Directors at the dose of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders, wil1 be appointed for a period of four years. 
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Remuneration of the Board of Managing Directors 2006/07 

Base salary 
The base salary for the members of the Board of Managing Directors was increased by 1% on 

April 1 , 2006 and by 0.75% on January 1 , 2007 in line with the increase in KLM's CLA salades. 

In the 2006/07 fiscal year, the total base salary of the members of the Board of Managing 

Directors, including pension costs, was EUR 1,964,810. Details of the base salary received by 

the individual members of the Board of Managing Directors are presented in note 29 of the 

financial statements. 

Short-term incentive plan (for the 2006í07 fiscal year) 
The Remuneration Committee has evaluated KLM's actual results against the collecüve and 

individual targets set for 2006/07 in accordance with the remuneration policy. The short-term 

incentive payment for fiscal year 2006/07 was 68% of base salary for Mr. Van Wijk, 68% for Mr. 

Hartman and 68% for Mr. Gagey. Details are included in note 29 of the financial statements. 

Long-term incentive plan 
Pursuant to the long-term incentive plan, each member of the Board of Managing Directors was 

conditionally granted 25,000 optiins on Air France KLM shares in June 2006. The options were 

granted conditionally in accordance with the pmvisions of the Long-term incentive plan. Details 

on the option rights conditionally granted to the individual members of the Board of Managing 

Directors are presented in note 29 of the financial statements. 

Loansandadvances 
No loans or advances have been granted to members of the Board of Managing Directors. 

Severance pay 
The service agreements with Messrs van Wijk and Hartman were formally dissolved on 

August 1, 2005 and replaced with fixed-term agreements. As a consequence, they have both 

lost their possible entitlement to severance pay based on the 'subdistrict court formula". In the 

event of forced redundancy, the maximum severance pay wil1 be equal to the remaining term of 

their current service agreements. 
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Remuneration of the Supervisory Board Policy 
The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board consists of a fixed fee per annum 

and a fee for each meeting of the Board's Committees attended. Members of the SupeMsory 

Board do not receive a performance-related reward or shares or rights to shares by way of 

remuneration. Nor are members of the Supervisory Board granted loans, advances or 

guamntees. The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board is fixed by the General 

Meeting of Shareholders. No changes are pmposed in this policy. 

Remuneration in fiscal 2006/07 
There were no changes in the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board in fiscal 
2006/07. The fixed fee accordingly amounted to EUR 36,302 for the Chairman, EUR 29,495 for 
the Vice-Chairman and EUR 22,689 for the other members of the Supervisory Board. The fee 

per meeting of the Supervisory Board's Committees attended was EUR 1,361 for the Chairman 

(unless also Vice-Chairman or Chairman of the Supervisory Board) and EUR 453 for the other 

members of the Supervisory Board's Committees. Members of the Supervisory Board are 

furthermore entiiled to make use of travel facilities comparable to the travel facilities as detailed 

in the travel regulations for KLM employees. 

The total remuneration of current and former Supervisory Board members for the Z W O 7  fiscal 
year was EUR 235,955 (previous fiscal year EUR 235,955). Details on the mmuneration 
received by the individual members of the Supervisory Board are presented in note 28 of the bJ 
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Supervisory Board and Board of Managing Directors 

Supervisory Board (situatlon as at March 31,2007) 

First 
Year of appointmentl Functlon ISupewlsory Board memberships 
birth Natlonality Current term and other functions Name 

Kees J. Storm 
Chainnan 

1942 Dutch 2002 / Fotmer Chairman Board of Managing Directors 
(second) 
2006- 2010 

AEGON N.V. / InBev S.A., AEGON N.V., Pon 
Holdings B.V., Baxter Intemational Inc., Unilever 
NV and Plc., member Curatorium VNO-NCW, 
member, board of bustees of the IASC foundation 

J.F. Henri Martre 1928 French 
Vice-Chainnan 

IreneP.Asscher- 1944 Dutch 
Vonk 

Jean-Didier F.C. 1939 French 
Blanchet 

BaukeGeersing 1944 Dut& 

Henri Guillaume 1943 French 

Wim Kok 1938 Dutch 

Remrnert Laan 1942 French 
Dutch 

Hans N.J. Smits 1950 Dutch 

2004 /(first) 
2004 - 2008 

F m e r  Vice President Board of Airbus, fotmer 
Chaimian and CE0 Aérospatiale / Sogepa, 
France-Telecom, Renault, GIFAS, Banque de 
France, Aviation Marchande 

2004 /(first) 
2004 - 2008 

Professor of social law Radboud University 
Nijmegen / Numico Nederland B.V., Aniva 
Personenvervoer Nederland B.V. 

2004 /(first) 
2004 - 2008 

Former CE0 Board of Air France, former 
C h a i i n  and CE0 Board of Méridien / 
SNCF, Cercle des Transports 

1985/(sixth) 
2006 - 2007 

2004 /(first) 
2004 - 200@ 

2003 I (first) 
2003 - 2007 

2004 / (first) 
2004-2008 

2004 / (first) 
2004 - 2008 

F o m  Director NOS (Dutch Publk Service 
Broadcasting), Managing Director Consultancy / 
Holland Weather Services B.V., R W  Utrecht, 
ROOS 

Treasury Inspector on special assignment to the 
French Treasury / Former Vice President of ERAP 
/ Fomier CE0 of ANVAR 

Fotmer Prime-Minister of The Netherlands / 
ING Groep N.V., TNT N.V. Royal Dutch Shell pk, 
Stork N.V. 

Senior partner Leonardo France / 
Vedior N.V., AON France SA., KKR PEI, 
Patrinvests 8.8. 

Chairman Board of Managing Directors 
Havenbedrijf Rotterdam N.V. / f o m r  Chaitman 
and CE0 Rabobank, fomier Chaitman and CE0 
Amsterdam Airport Schiphol 

Y) Only rnemberships of Supenrisoly Boards and funcöons with large cumpanies an Mam 31,2007 are show hare. 
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Board of Managing Directors (situation as at March 31,2007) 

Name 

Leo M. van Wijk 

Peter F. Harúnan 

Frédéric N.P. Gagey 

Year of Fint 
birth Naüonality appointment Function 

1946 Dutdi 

1949 Dutch 

1956 Frendi 

1991 

1997 

2005 

President and Chief Executive OfRcer 
(sim 1997) 

Deputy CE0 

Chief Financial Onicer 

Company Secretary 

Barbara C.P. van Koppen 1966 Dutch 
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KLM Royal Dutch Airlines 
Consolidated balance sheet 
In millions of Eums 

Note March 31,2007 March 31,2006 After appropriation of the net result 

ASSETS 
Noncurrent assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 
Financial assets 
Derivative financial instruments 
Deferred income tax assets 
Pension assets 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
14 

4,590 
45 

159 
576 
208 
24 

4,487 
44 

141 
539 
264 

Current assets 
Financial assets 
Derivatie financial instruments 
Inventories 
Current income tax assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 

TOTAL ASSETS 

EQUITï 
Capital and reserves 
Share capital 
Share premium 
Other reserves 
Retained earnings 
Total attrlbutable to Company's equity holders 
Minority interest 
Total equlty 

LIABILITIES 
Non-current liabllltlei 
Financial liabilities 
Finance lease obligations 
Derivatie financial instruments 
Deferred income 
Deferred income tax liabilities 
Provisions for employee benefits 
Other provisions * 

C m n t  liabilities 
Trade and other payables * 
Financial liabilities 
Finance lease obligations 
Derivatie financial instruments 
Deferred income 
Current income tax liabilities 
Provisions for employee benefits 
Other provisions 

Total liabilities 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

15 2,074 
7,676 

4 151 
5 114 
6 196 

6 
7 1,121 
8 

9 

10 

1,264 
2,852 

10,528 

94 
474 
126 

2,331 
3,025 

I 
3.026 

11 1,066 
12 2,548 
5 137 
13 117 
14 497 
15 222 
16 97 

4,684 

17 
11 
12 
5 
13 

1,492 
70 

565 
85 

553 

34 
19 

15 
16 .- 

2,818 
7,502 

> 10,528 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

For comparison purposes the fiscal 2005/06 iigures have been redassified 
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1,873 
7,348 

664 
256 
186 

1,126 
546 

2,778 
10,126 

94 
474 
165 

1,826 
2,559 

1 
2,560 

71 O 
3,101 

115 
94 

414 
284 
1 O 0  

4,818 

1,463 
7 

499 
1 53 
557 

9 
17 
43 .- 

2,748 
7,568 

10,126 
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KLM Royal Dutch Airlines 

Consolidated income statement 
In millions of Euros 

Note 2006/07 2005106 

Revenues 20 7,698 7,201 

Expenses 
Extemal expenses 
Employee compensation and benefit expense 
Depreciation and amortizatiin 
Other income and expenses 
Total expenses 

21 (4,900) 
22 (1,716) 
23 (477) 
o 

(7,095) 

Income from current operations 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets 

540 603 
24 13 

Income from operating activities 
Gross cost of financial debt 
Income from cash and cash equivalents 

61 6 
25 (233) 
25 129 

Net cost of financial debt 
Other financial income and expense 

(1 04) 
25 57 

Pre-tax income 569 441 

Income tax expense 26 (631 (1 26) 

Net result after taxation of consolidated companies 31 5 506 

Share of results of equity shareholdings o 
276 - 

10 

Net result after taxation S i  6 - 
Attributable to: 
Equity holders of the company 
Minority interest 

51 6 

516 
- - 

276 

276 
- - 

Eamings per share 

Diluted eamings per share 

11 .O3 

11 .O3 
5.90 

5.90 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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KLM Royal Dutch Airlines 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
In millions of Euros 

Attributable to Company*s equity holders 
Share Other 

capitai Share reserves Retained Minority Total 
(note 9) premium (note 10) eamings Totai interests equity 

As at April 1,2005 

Net gain/(loss) from cash-flow hedges 

Exchange differences on translation 
foreign operations 

Transfer to retained earnings 

94 474 165 1,544 2,277 

(7) 

6 

(4) 

‘7) 

6 

4 -  

1 2,278 

(7) 

6 

Tax on items taken directly to or 
transferred from equiîy 5 5 5 

Net incomd(expnse) recognized 
directly in equity 4 4 4 

Net profit for the p a r  276 276 276 

Totai recognizod Income/(expenw) 280 280 280 

Dividends paid 

Other movements 

(9) (9) 

11 11 

(9) 

11 

ASatM arcn 31, z998 94 474 1 65 1,826 2,559 1 2,560 
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KLM Royal Dutch Airlines 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
in miliions of Eums 

Attributable to Company's equity holders 
Share Other 

capital Share reserves Retained Mlnority Total 
(note 9) premium (note 10) eamings Total intensts equity 

As at April 1,2006 

Net gain/(loss) from cash-flow hedges 

Exchange differences on translation 
foreign operations 

Transfer to retained eamings 

94 474 165 1,826 2,559 1 2,560 

Tax on items taken directly to or 
transferred from equity 18 18 18 

Net incomei(expen8e) recognized 
directly in equity (39) 9 (30) (30) 

- - 

Net profit for the p a r  516 516 516 

Total recognlzed tncome/(expense) (39) 525 486 - 486 

- Dividendc paid 

b-u 
AS at March 3 1 , m  94 474 126 2,331 3,025 1 3,026 (li) 

I 

(3 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated finanaal statements 
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KLM Royal Dutch Airlines 
Consolidated cash flow statement 
In millions of E u r o ~  

- -  

2006l07 200Y06 

Net result after taxation 
Depreciation and amortization 
Changes in provisions 
Results of equity shareholdings 
Result on sale of equity shareholdings 
Changes in pension assets 
Other changes 

Net cash flow from operating activities before changes in 
working capltai 

(Increase) i decrease in inventories 
(Increase) i decrease in trade receivables 
Increase i (decrease) in trade payables 
(Increase) i decrease in other receivables and payables 

Net cash flow from operating activities 

Capital expenditure on intangible fixed assets 
Capital expenditure on aircraft 
Disposal of aircraft 
Capital expenditure on other tangible fixed assets 
Disposal of other tangible fixed assets 
Investment in equity shareholdings 
Sale of equity shareholdings 
Changes in group of consolidated holdings 

(Increase) i decrease in short-term deposits and commercial paper 479 

Net cash used in investing actlvities 

Increase in long-tem debt 
Decrease in long-tem debt 
Increase in long-tem receivables 
Decrease in long-term receivables 
Dividend paid 
ûther changes 

Net cash flow from financing activities 

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year * 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 

102 

(1) 

71 8 

546 
1,264 

718 

276 
444 

69 
41 
(1 1 

(131) 
23 

721 

(15) 
(76) 
104 
56 

790 

(11) 
(579) 

(77) 
24 

6 
9 
3 
1 

(1 42) 

(766) 

626 
(329) 

(32) 
8 

(9) 
5 

269 

(1) 

292 

254 
546 

292 

- 
- 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Rnancial statements. 
Induding unresbided Triple A bonds. deposits and mmeraal paper the overall cash position and other highly 

liquid invesúnents amounts to EUR 1,724 m i l ï i  as at March 31,2007 (as at March 31,2006: EUR 1,518 million). 

** The consolidated cash flow statement is prepared using îhe indirect method. 
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Financial Statements fiscal 2006/07 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

General 
Koninklijke Luchtvaart Maatschappij N.V. (the 'Company") is a public limited liability company 

incorporated and domiciled in The Netheriands. The Company's registered office is located in 

Amstelveen. 

The Company is a subsidiary of Air France KLM S.A. ("AF-KLM"), a company incorporated in 

France. AF-KLM's shares are quoted on the Paris, Amsterdam and New York stock exchanges. 

The Company together with its subsidiaries (the 'Group") has as its principle business activities 

the air transport of passengers and cargo, aircraft maintenance and any other activity linked to 

air transport. 

i .  

These financial statements have been authorized for issue by the Board of Managing Directors 

on June 1 1 , 2007 and approved by the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of shareholders on 
July 5,2007. 

Significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to al1 the years 

presented, unless otheiwise stated. The consolidated financial statements are prepared on 

historica1 cost basis unless otheiwise stated. 

Basis of presentation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union ('EU GAAP") and 

effective at the reporting date March 31 , 2007. The consolidated financial statements have also 

been prepared in accordance with Section 362(9) of Book 2 of The Dutch Civil Code. 
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Recent accounting pronouncements 
New standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards, effective for periods 

beginning on or after January 1,2007, were not adopted early by the Group for the preparation 

of these consolidated financial statements. The Group is currently studying the impact of their 

implementation on the consolidated financial statements. This analysis is not expected to result 

in any significant impacts. 

B the amendment to IAS 1 related to disclosures on capital, effectiie for perioâs beginning on 

or after January 1,2007; 

the standard IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures", effective for periods beginning on 

or after January 1,2007; 

the standard IFRS 8 'Operating Segments", effective for periods beginning on or after 

January 1,2009; 

the interpretation IFRIC 8 'Scope of IFRSY, effective for periods beginning on or after 

May 1,2006; 

the interpretation IFRIC 9 'Reassessment of embedded derivatives", effective for periods 
beginning on or after June 1 , 2006; 

the interpretation IFRIC 10 'Interim financial reporting and impairment", effective for periods 

beginning on or after November 1 , 2006; 

the interpretation IFRIC 11 "IFRS2-Group and treasury shares transactions", effective for 

periods beginning on or after March 1 , 2007; 

the interpretation IFRIC 12 'Service concession arrangements", effective for periods 

beginning on or after January 1 , 2008. 

0 

0 

B 

Standard IFRS 8, as wel1 as interpretations IFRIC 10, IFRIC 11 and IFRIC 12 have not yet been 

adopted by the European Union. 

Other new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards are not applicable 

to the Group. 
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Use of estimates and the exercise of judgments 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the 

disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Aithough these 

estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 

results ultimately may dHer from the estimates. 

The preparation of these financial statements also requires management to exercise its 

judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. 

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumpüons 

and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in the note 

Accounting estimates and judgments. 

Ai1 amounts (unless specified othemvise) are stated in millions of Euros (EUR miliion). 

Consolidation principles 
The consolidated financial statements inciude the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries. Subsidiafles are companies (including special purpose entities) over which the 

Company has control, either directly or indirectly. Control is defined as the power to govern a 

subsidiary’s operating and financial policies and to obtain benefits from its activities. In 

assessing whether control exists account is taken of the existence and effect of potential voting 

rights that are currently exercisabie or convertible or other arrangements that give the Company 

the right to determine operating and financial policy. 

The results of consolidated companies acquired in the year are included in the consolidated 

income statement from the date on which control could be exercised. They are de-consolidated 

from the date that control ceases. 

The assets, liabilities and results of subsidiaries are fully consolidated. 

The interest of third parties in group equity and group results is disclosed separately as minority 
interest. Minority interest in the balance sheet represents the minority shareholders’ proportion 

of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries at the date of acquisition, 

and the minority’s proportion of movements in equity since that date. 
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Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group 

companies are eliminated in full. 

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 

with the policies adopted by the Group. Wih the exception of a few non significant subsidiaries 

and equity affiliates closing their books at December 31, al1 Group companies are consolidated 

based on annual accounts closed on March 31. 

Scope of consolidation 
A list of the significant subsidiaries is included in note 33 of the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Foreign currency 
Functional and presentation cumncy 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (?he functional 

currencyl). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the 

Company’s functional and presentation currency. Non-monetary items that are measured in 

tems of historica1 cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

Tiansactlons and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated int0 the functional currency using the exchange 

rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or at the exchange rate of the related hedge, if 

applicable. Foreign exchange gains and losses resuiting from the settiement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement, except 

when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges. 

Group companies 
The financial statements of Group entiies (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 

economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated 

int0 the presentation currency as follows: 

0 Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate; 

0 The income statement and the cash flow statement are translated at average exchange 

rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the 

rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated 

at the dates of the transactions); and 

Al1 resulting translation differences are recognized as a separate component of equity. 
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On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in 

foreign entiiies, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of 

such investments, are taken to equity. When a foreign operation is sold, SU& exchange 

diiTerences are recognized in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. 

The exchange rates used for the most significant currencies at the balance sheet date wem as 

follows: 

1 U.S. Dollar (USD) 
1 Pound sterling (GBP) 
1 Swiss franc (CHF) 
100 Japanese yen (JPY) 

March 31,2007 
EUR 

0.75 
1.47 
0.62 
0.64 

March 31,2006 
EUR 

0.83 
1.44 
0.63 
0.70 

Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of a business 
combination is measured as the aggregate of: 

0 The fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and 

equity instruments issued in exchange for control of the acquiree; and 

0 Any other costs directly atttibutable to the business combination. w 
u;r 
0 

I 

When a business combination agreement provides for an adjustment to the cost contingent on 
Y 

I 

r 3  
o 
Q 

future events, then the adjustment is taken into account when determining the cost if the 

adjustment is pmbable and can be measured reliably. 

Where goodwill has been initially determined on a provisional basis, adjustments arising within 

twelve months of the acquisition date are recognized on a retrospedive basis. 

**II 

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is recognized as an asset and initially measured at 

cost. Adjustments on the initia1 measurement within twelve months of the acquisition date are 

recognized on a retrospective basis. 
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Segment reporting 
The Company defines its primary segments on the basis of the Group’s intemal organization, 

main revenue generating activities and the manner in which the Board of Managing Directors 

manages operations. 

Business segments 
The activities of each segment are as follows: 

Passenger 

The Passenger Business segment’s main activity is the transportation of passengers on 

scheduled flights that have ale Company’s air code. Passenger revenues include receipts from 

passengers for excess baggage and in-flight sales. Other passenger revenues are derived from 

commissions from SkyTeam alliance partnership arrangements, revenues from block-seat sales 

and informatin systems revenues. 

-alo 
Cargo activities relate to the transportation of freight on flights under the Company’s code and 

the sale of cargo capacity to third parties. 

Maintenance 

Maintenance revenues are generated through maintenance services provided to other airlines 

and clients around the world. 

ûümr 

This segment covers primarily the provision of charter flights and (low-cost) scheduled flights 

operated by transavia.com and catering and handling services to third-party airlines and dients 

around the world. 

Geographical segments 

Revenues are allocated to geographical segments on the basis of destination as follows: 

Direct flights: Revenue is allocated to the geographical segment in which the destination 

falls. 

0 Flights with stopovers: Revenue is allocated to the geographical segments in which the 

various sections of the route fall in accordance with IATA guidelines (based on weighted 

passenger-kilometers). 
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The greater part the Group’s asset comprises flight equipment and other assets located in The 

Netherlands. Inter-segment revenues are determined using the prices actually used for 

invoicing. These prices have been detetmined on a consistent basis. 

Accounting policies for the Balance sheet 

Impaiment of assets 
The Group’s assets, other than inventories, deferred tax assets, assets arising from construction 

contracts, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets that are within the scope of 

IAS 39 and non current assets held for sale are revieweá for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Goodwill, 

intangible assets with indefinite lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 

for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 

Goodwill is allocated to passenger business and software to the business unit which uses the 

software. An impairment loss is recognized in the income statement for the amount by which the 

asset‘s inmased carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units (CGUs)). Impairment losses 
recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to CGUs (or groups of CGUs) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other 

assets in the CGU (or group of CGUs) on a pro-rata basis. )J 

193 
I 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 

in uw. To determine value in use estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
‘4 

I 

r 3  
Q value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset 

belongs. 

money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely o y 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s increased cartying amount 

does not e x d  the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 

amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. An impairment loss in respect of 

goodwill is not reversed. 
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Property, plant and equipment 
Historica/ cost 

With the exception of leased assets, and except as described in the following paragraph 

property, plant and equipment is stated initially at historica1 acquisition or manufacturing cost. 

Leased assets are stated initialiy at their fair value or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 

lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. 

Flight equipment acquired in foreign currency is translated at the exchange rate applicable at 

the date of acquisition or the hedged rate where a hedging instrument has been used. 

Manufacturers’ discounts are deducted from the acquisition cost. 

Interest incurred in connection with the financing of aircrafi (including other flight equipment) 

during the period prior to commissioning is included in cosf. The interest rate adopted is the 

applicable interest rate for debts outstanding at the balance sheet date unless capital 

expenditure or advance payments are themselves funded by specific loans. 

The costs of major maintenance operations (airframes and engines excluding park with limited 

useful lives) which are carried out in accordance with specifications and schedules defined by 

manufacturers and regulating authotities are capitalized when incurred. ûther maintenance 

costs are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation 
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to estimated residual values using the straight- 

line method over average estimated useful lives. 

Aircrafi fixtures and fittings and spare parts are classified as separate components from the 

airframe end depreciated separately. 

During the annual operational planning cycle, the Group reviews the depreciation methods, 

useful lives and residual values and, if necessaty amends these. 
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The useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

Cefegofy 
Aircraft 
Aircraft fixtures and fittings, and 
spare parts 
Land 

Buildings 

Equipment and fittings 

ûther property and equipment 

Useful l ik (pars) 
20 to 24 

3 to 20 

Not depreciated 

10 to 40 

3 to 15 

5 to 20 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same 

basis as owned assets or when shorter. the term of relevant uw. Gains and losses on disposals 

are determined by comparing the proceeds of disposal with ttie carrying amount. 

Intangible assets 
Goodwill 

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill represents the excess 
of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable 

asets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries and associates. Goodwill 

on acquisition of subsidianes is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of 
associates is included in investments in associates. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair 

value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the difference is 

recognized directly in the income statement. On disposal of a subsidiary the attributable amount 

of goodwill is included in the determination of profit or l o s  on disposal. 

Computer software 

Computer soítware is stated at historica1 cost less accumulated amortization and, where 

necessary, accumulated impairment losses. Only the costs incurred in the software 

development phase are capitalized. Costs incurred in respect of feasibility studies and research 

etc. and post-implementation and evaluation phases are charged to the income statement as 

incurred. The costs comprise the costs of KLM personnel as wel1 as extemal IT consultants. 

Amortization takes place over the estimated useful lives (with a maximum of 10 years) of the 

software using the straight-line method. The useful life of each software application is 
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determined separately. Amortization commences when the software is taken into use. Prior to 

this moment the costs are capitalized as prepaid intangible assets. 

The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual 

reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimates. 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 
Associates are al1 entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint 

control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 

Joint ventures are jointly controlled entities whereby the Group together with one or more 

parties undertakes activities related to the Group’s business that are subject to joint control. 

Investments in associates and interests in joint ventures are accounted for by the equity method 

of accounting and are initially recognized at cost. The Group’s investment includes goodwill (net 

of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition. The Group’s share of post- 

acquisition profits or losses is recognized in the income statement, and its share of post- 

acquisition movements in reserves is recognized in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition 

movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment, including other than 

temporary losses (impairment). When the Group’s share of losses in an associate/joint venture 

equals or exceeds its interest in the associate/joint venture, including any other unsecured 

receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 

made payments on behalf of the associateljoint venture. 

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates/joint ventures are 

eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates/joint venture. Unrealized losses 

are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 

transferred. Accounting policies of associates/joint ventures have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement of financial 

assets and liabilities 
For the purposes of determining the basis on which they are to be recognized and measured 

financial instruments are classified int0 the following categories: 
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Heit%to-maturity investments 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the intention and ability to hold until maturity. 

Held-to-maturity investments are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently at amoftized 

cost. Interest is recognized in the income statement. 

Medium term notes and bank deposits held by the Gmup as natura1 hedges for foreign currency 

liabilities and debt are generally dassified as held-tmturity investments. 

Loans and meivabias 

Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or detetminable payments 

that are not quoteâ in an active market. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair 

value and subsequently at amortized tost using the effedive interest method. Interest 

calculated using the effective interest method is recognized in the income statement. 

Loans to associates, joint ventures, other loans and trade and other receivables are classified 

as loans and receivables, except Wen short term receivables are recognized or interest would 

be material. 

At fair vaiue through pmñt and /Oss 

At fair value through profit and l o s  financial assets are other financial assets which have not 

been dassiñed under either held-to-maturity or loans and receivables. At fair value thmgh 

pmfit and loss financial assets are measured at fair value both on initia1 recognluon and 

subsequently. However investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted maket 

[pi 
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price in an adive market and whose fair value cannot be 

subsequently at cost. Gains and losses arising fmm changes 

income statement. 

reliably measured are measured 

in fair value are recognized in the 
tu 
0 
Q 
y 

The group applies the effective interest rate method and amortizes the transaction costs, 
discounts or other premiums included in the calculation of the effective interest rate over the 
expected life of the instrument. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents cover al1 highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three 

months or Iess and includes cash in hand, deposits held at cal1 and on short-term with banks 

and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown under "Financial liabilities" in 'Current liabilities" 

in the balance sheet. 

Where the Company has a practice and legally enforceable right to offset bank balances, the 

net balance is included under cash and cash equivalents or bank overdraíts as applicable. 

Cash and cash equivalents are stated in the balance sheet at fair value. 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are initially recognized at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration 

received. Transaction costs are included in this initial measurement. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, liabilities are, with the exception of derivative financial instruments camed at 

amortized cost. 

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
Derivative financial instruments are recognized initially, and are subsequently re-measured, at 

fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets or by using 

valuation techniques, using recent market transactions where an active market does not exist. 

Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow models and option pricing mdels as 

appropriate. Al1 derivatives are classified as assets when their fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when their fair value is negative. Derivative assets and liabilities on different 

transactions are only netted if the transactions are with the same counterpart, a legal right of 

set-off exists, and the cash flows are intended to be settled on a net basis. 

Recognition of fair value gains and losses 
The method of recognizing fair value gains and losses on derivative financial instruments 

depends on whether the derivative is held for trading, or is designated as a hedging instrument, 

and if sol the nature of the risk being hedged. 

Al1 derivative financial instruments are held for hedging purposes. It is KLM's policy not to hold 

derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The derivatives, which do not qualify for 
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hedge accounting, are described as items not qualifying for hedge accounting in these notes to 

the financial statements. 

Categorles of hedging transactions 

Derivaties are used to hedge the risks associated with changes in interest rates, foreign 

currency rates and fuel prices. 

Forward currency contracts and options are used to cover exposure to exchange rate 

movements. The Group also uses swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. Finally, 

the exposure to fuel price risks is covered by swaps or options on jet fuel and hel  related 

indices such as Gasoil and Brent. 

Hedging transactions fall into two categories: 

1. Fair value hedges; 

2. Cash flow hedges. 

Fair value hedges 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are 

recorded in the income statement, together with changes in the fair value of the asset or liability 
or group thereof that are attributable to the hedged risk. 

Cash flow heúges 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify 

as cash flow hedges are recognized in equity. Any gain or loss relating to an ineffective portion a0 , 
Q is recognized immediately in the income statement. 
Y 

CU 

I 

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the income statement in the periods in which the 

hedged item wil1 affect profit or loss. However, when a forecast transaction that is hedged 

results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses 

previously deferred in equity are transferred fmm equity and included in the initia1 measurement 

of the cost of the asset or liability. 

0 
‘4 

Heúge efliectiveness tesüng 

To qualify for hedge accounting, at the inception of the hedge, and throughout its life, each 

hedge must be expected to be highly effective (prospective effectiveness). Actual efíediveness 

(retmpecüve effectiveness) must be demonstrated on an ongoing basis. 
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The documentation at inception of each hedging relationship sets out how the effectiveness of 

the hedge is assessed. The method used to assess effectiveness wil1 depend on the risk 

management strategy. 

For interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives used as fair value and cash flow hedges, the 

offset method is used as the effectiveness testing methodology. For fuel derivatives used as 

cash flow hedges regression analysis and offset methodologies are used. 

Inventories 
Inventories consist primarily of expendable aircraft spare parts and other supplies and are 

stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost, representing the acquisition cost, is 

determined using the weighted average method. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable selling expenses. 

Leases 
Finance leases 

The Group has entered int0 a number of finance lease contracts (primarily for aircraft). Under 

the terms of these contracts substantially al1 the risks and rewards in connection with the 

ownership of the underlying assets are transferred to the Group and the lease payments are 

treated as repayment of principal and finance cost to reward the lessor for its investment. The 

assets which are the subject of finance leases are presented as property, plant and equipment 

in the balance sheet. 

Finance lease liabilities are stated initially at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

Finance cost is recognized based on a pattem that reflects an effective rate of return to the 

lessor. 

Sale and leaseback transactions resulting in a finance lease with a deferred creáit are initially 

established at present value and credited to net cost of financial debt over the remaining term of 
the associated financial lease contracts. 

Operating leases 
In addition to finance leases, the Group also leases aircraft, buildings and equipment under 

operating lease agreements. Operating leases are lease contracts which are not classified as 

finance leases, i.e. the risks and rewards in connedion with the ownership of the underîying 

assets are not transferred to the lessee. 
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Lease expense of operating leases is recognized in the income statement on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. 

If a sale and leaseback transaction results in an operating lease, and it is clear that the 

transaction is established at fair value, any profit or loss is recognized immediately in the 
income statement. If the sale price is below fair value, any profd or loss is recognized 

immediately. However, if the loss is compensated for by future lease payments at b low market 

price, the loss is deferred and amortized in proportion to the lease payments over the period for 

which the asset is expected to be used. If the sale price is above the fair value, the excess over 

fair value is deferred and amortized in proportion over the period for which the asset is expected 

to be used. 

If the fair value at the time of a sale and leaseback transaction is less than the cartying amount 

of the asset, a loss equal to the amount of the difference between the cartying amount and the 

fair value is recognized immediately in the income statement. 

Deferred income 
Aúvance ticket sales 

Upon issuance, both passenger and cargo ticket sales are recorded as deferred income under 

Advance ticket sales. The Company applies an estimation policy with respect to the recognition 

of traffic revenues in order to determine which part of the tickets sold wil1 expire without any 

transport commitment of the part of the Company. 

Dektmi gains on sale and leaseback fransacüons 

This item relates to amounts deferred arising from sale and leaseback transactions of operating 

leases. 

Fíyíng Blue frequent flyer program 
The Flying Blue frequent flyer program allows members to acquire 'air miles" as they fly on Air 

France, KLM or other partner companies. These air miles entitle members to a choice of 

various awards, including free travel, and they are also sold to participating partners to use in 

promotional activities. 

The probability of air miles being converted into award tickets is estimated using a statistical 

method which generates a so-called redemption rate. Using the redemption rate, the direct 

incremental cost of providing free redemption services, including KLM flights, in exchange for 
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redemption of miles eamed by members is estimated and accrued as members of these 

schemes accumulate mileage. Costs accrued include incremental fuel, catering sewicing costs 

and cost of redemptions on air and non-airline partners. These costs are charged to expenses. 

Deferred income taxes 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and for tax purposes are 

determined using the balance sheet liability method and calculated on the basis of the tax rates 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and that are 

expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled. Except for 

goodwill arising from a business combination, deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent 

that is probable that taxable profit wil1 be available against which the temporary difference can 

be utilized. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are set off only when the Group has a 

legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the 

deferred tax assets and deferred liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same authority. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for al1 deductible temporary differences associated with 

investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, except to the extent that 

is not probable that the temporary difference wil1 reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable 

 prof^ wil1 not be available against which the temporary difference can be realized. 

A deferred tax liability is recognized for al1 taxable temporary differences associated with 

investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, except to the extent that 

the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 

probable that the temporary difference wil1 not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Provisions for employee benefits 
Pensions and other post-empioyment beneffts 

Pensions and other post-employment benefits relates to provisions for benefits (other than 
termination benefits) which are payable to employees on retirement. The provisions cover 

defined benefit pension plans, early-retirement schemes and post-employment medical benefits 

available to employees. The Group has various defined benefit and defined contribution pension 

plans, which are generally funded through payments to separately administered funds or to 

insurance companies. 
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The amount recognized as a liability or an asset for post-employment benefrts at the balance 

sheet date is the net total of  

1. The present value of the defined benefit obligations at the balance sheet date; 

2. Plus any unrecognized actuarial gains (less actuarial losses) at the balance sheet date as 

described below; 

3. Minus any past service co6f not recognized at the balance sheet date; and 

4. Minus the fair value of the plan assets at the balance sheet date. 

The present values of the defined benefit obligations are calculated using the projected unit 

credit method. The calculations of the obligations have been performed by independent 

qualified actuaries. This benefit/years-of-service method not only takes int0 account the benefits 

and benefit entilements known at the balance sheet date, but also increases in salaries and 

benefits to be expected in the future. 

Using the so-called "corridor approach", previously unrecognized cumulative, actuanal gains 

and losses exceeding 10% of total benefit obligations or of the present value of plan assets 

(whichever is higher) are recognized over expected employees' average residual active lives 

with an effect on future net income. When a plan is curtailed or settled, gains or losses arising 

are recognized immediately. 

The determination of the liability or asset to be recognized as described above is canied out for 
each plan separately. In situations where the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any 

unrecognized positions, excwds the present value of a fund's defined benefit obligations then 

an asset is recognized if available. 

The service cost and the interest accretion to the provisions are included in the income 

statement under "Employee compensation and benefit expense". 
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Other long-term employmenf beneíïts 

The provision for other long-term employment benefits relates to benefits (other than pensions 

and other post-employment benefits and terminatin benefits) which do not fall due wholly within 

twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. 

The provision covers jubilee benefits. The benefits are unfunded. 
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The amount recognized as a liability for other long-term employment benefb at the balance 

sheet date is the present value of the defined benefit obligations. Appropriate assumptions are 

made about factors such as salary increases, employee tumover and similar factors impacting 

the measurement of the obligations. 

The service cost and the interest accretion to the provisions are inciuded in the income 

statement under "Employee mmpensation and benefit expense". 

Temination beneflts 

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either the Group's decision to 

terminate an employee's employment before the normal retirement date or an employee's 

decision to accept voluntary redundancy. 

The provision is recognized when, and only when, a forma1 employee termination plan has been 

dram up and approved and there is no realistic possibility of it being withdrawn. 

Where the benefits fall due in more than 12 months after the balance sheet date the provision is 

the present value of the expendtures expected to settle the obligatin. 

ûther provisions 
Provisions are recognized when: 

0 There is a present legal or constnictive obligation as a result of past events; 

B It is probable that an outñow of economic benefits wil1 be required to settle the obligation; 

and 

0 A reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 

The provisions are carried at face value unless the effect of the time value of money is 

material, in which case the amount of the provision is the present value of the expenditures 

expected to settle the obligation. 

Accounting policies for the Income statement 

Revenues 
Air transport 

Revenues from air transport transactions are recognized as and when transportation service is 

provided. Air transport revenues are stated net of extemal charges such as commissions paid to 
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agents, certain taxes and volume discounts. These revenues include (fuel) surcharges paid by 

passengers. 

Maintenance contracts 

The Group uses the "percentage of completion method" to determine the appropriate amount of 

revenue and costs relating to third party maintenance contracts to be recognized in the income 

statement in a given period, when the outcome can be estimated reliably. When the outcome of 

a maintenance contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized only to the 

extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. 

External expenses 

Extemal expenses are recognized in the income statement using the so called Matching 

principle which is based on a direct relationship between costs inairred and obtaining income 

related to the operation. In order to minimize the financial risks involved with such transactions 

the Company makes use of financial derivatives such as fuel foward contra&, foreign currency 

options and swaps. The gains and losses arising from the use of the derivatives are included in 

these costs. 

GainSnOsses on disposals of property, plant and equipment 
The gain on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the 

net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item Gains on disposal are netted against 

losses on disposal. 

Reversai of lmpainnent losses on ffnanciai assets 
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This item represents increases in the carrying amounts of financial assets arising from reversals 

of previously incurred impairment losses. The amount of the reversal does not exceed the 

carrying amount of the assets that would have been determined had no impairment losses been 

recognized in prior years. 

Other income and expense items 
Gross cost of ffnanciai debt 

Gross cost of financial debt includes interest on loans of third parties and finance leases using 

the effective interest rate method. 

Income from cash and cash equivalents 

Interest income includes interest on loans, interest-bearing marketable securities, short-term 

bank deposits and money at call. Interest income is recognized on an acwal basis. 
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Forwign cumncy exchange gains and iosses 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting fmm the translation of transactions in foreign 

currencies and fmm the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement, except 

when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges. 

Fair vaiue gains and iosses 

Fair value gains represent the total of increases during the year in the fair values of assets and 

liabilities, excluding derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges. Fair value 

losses are included in financial income and expenses. 

Share-based cornpensation 
Sfock option program 

The Group has a cash-settled long-term incentive scheme in which it grants to its employees 

options to acquire Air France KLM shares. 

The fair value of the options granted is recognized over the vesting period as employee benefit 

expense in the income statement with a corresponding increase in liabilities. The fair value of 

the stock options is determined using the Black 81 Scholes method. This takes int0 account the 

features of the plan (exercise price and periud) and the market data (risk free risk, price of the 

share, volatiïi and expected dividends). The liability is measured at grant date and each 

balance sheet date and each settlement date. 

Accounting estimates and judgrnents 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historica1 experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances. 

Key sources of estirnation uncertainty 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 

estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the corresponding actual results. The estimates and 

assurnptions that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
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Impairment of assets 
Factors may exist which require the recognition of an impairment of certain assets and/or 

CGUs. Such impairment is based on estimates of the fair value less costs to sell and the value 

in use. The fair value less costs to sell is derived from assumptions in relation to the possible 

selling price of a certain asset. In the case of a divestiture, the actual fair value less costs to set1 

may differ from the assumptions used. The value in use is based on the discounted value of the 

cash flows that the asseüCGU is expected to generate in the future. These future cash flows are 

based on the business plans for the coming years. The value in use also takes into account 

possible adverse developments, which may lead to impairment. It is possible that the Gmup 

may have to recognize additional impairment charges in the future as a result of changes in 

(market) conditions that may take place in future periods. 

UsefuI lives of property, plant and equipment 
The carrying amount of flight equipment and other property and equipment is determined by 

using estimates of the depreciation periods, which are derived from the expected technical and 

economic useful life of the assets involved. Due to advancing technology, evolving market 

circumstances and changes in the use of the assets involved, the expected technica1 and 
economic life of the asset may be subject to alteration. 

Valuation of inventories 
The Group records its inventories at cost and provides for the risk of obsolescence using the 

lower of cost or market principle. The expected future use of inventory is based on estimates 

about future demand and past experience with similar inventones and their usage. 

The valuation 

doubtful debts 

of accounts receivable and the allowance for bad or 

The Group periodically assesses the value of its accounts receivable based on specific 
developments in its customer base. The allowance for bad or doubtful debts is formed on the 

grounds of this assessment. The actual outcome may diverge fmm the assumptions made in 

determining the allowances. 

The valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities 
In the process of estimating the value of deferred tax assets, in particular with regard to tax 
losses carried forward, assumptions are made regarding the degree to which these losses can 
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be offset in the future. This is based, among other things, on business plans. In addition, in the 

preparation of the Financial Statements, assumptions are made with regard to temporary 

differences between the valuation for tax purposes and the valuation for financial reporting 

purposes. The actual outcome may diverge from the assumptions made in determining the 

current and deferred tax positions, e.g. as a result of disputes with the tax authorities or 

changes in tax laws and regulations. 

Accounting for pensions and other post-employment benefits 
Post-employment benefits represent obligations that wil1 be settled in the future and require 

assumptions to project benefit obligations and fair values of plan assets. Post-employment 

benefit accounting is intended to reflect the recognition of future benefit costs over the 

employee's approximate service period, based on the terms of the plans and the investment 

and funding decisions made by the Group. The accounting requires management to make 

assumptions regarding variables such as discount rate, rate of compensation increase, retum 

on assets, mortality rates, and future healthcare costs. Periodically, management consults with 

extemal actuaries regarding these assumptions. Changes in these key assumptions can have a 

significant impact on the projected benefit obligations, funding requirements and periodic costs 
incurred. For details on key assumptions and policies, see note 15. 

It should be noted that when discount rates decline or rates of compensation increase - for 

example, due to increased inflation - pension and post-employment benefit obligations wil1 

increase. Net periodic pension and post-employment costs might alm increase, but that 

depends on the actual relation between the unrecognized loss and the so-called corridor (10% 
of the greater of benefit obligations and plan assets) as wel1 as on the relative change of the 

discount rate versus the change of the benefd obligation. 

Other provisions 
One charaderistic of other provisions is that these obligations are spread out over several 

years. Another is that management must make estimates and assumptions as at the balance 

sheet date conceming the probability that a certain obligation wil1 crystallize as wel1 as the 

amount that is likely to be paid. Future developments, such as changes in market 

circumstances, changes in mortality tables, changes in legislation and judicia1 decisions may 

cause the actual obligation to diverge from the provision. Furthermore, the Group is also 

involved in legal disputes and proceedings. Management decides on a caseby-case basis 

whether a provision is necessary based on actual circumstances. This assessment comprises 
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both a determination of the probability of a successful outcome of the legal adion end the 

expected amount payable. 

Critical accounting judgments 
Certain critical accounting judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies are described 

below. 

Determination of fair value 
The Group uses available market information and appropriate methodologies to determine the 

fair values of financial instruments. However, judgment is required to interpret market data and 

to determine fair value. Management believes that the face value of financial assets and 

financial liabilities with a maturity of less than one year approximate their fair value. These 
financial assets and liabilities include cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and 

trade accounts payable. 

Financial Risk Management 
Risk management organhaffon 

Financial risk management is camed out in accordance with policies approved by the Board of 
Directors and the Supervisory Board. These policies cover overall financial risk management as 

wel1 as specific areas such as fuel price risk, foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess liquidity. The risk management 

program focuses on the unpredictability of financial risks and seeks to minimize potential 

adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. 

Regular Risk management committee meetings, chaired by the Chief Financial Onicer, are held 

with the treasury and fuel departments of the Group in order to exchange information about the 

hedges in place, the hedging instruments used, and the strategies planned. Hedging decisions 

are made during these meetings (amounts to be hedged, hedging instruments, etc.), which are 

implemented by the treasury and fuel departments in compliance with delegated powers. 

Positions are reported to the Board on a monthly basis. Each quarter, a Group report is 

presented to the AF-KLM Risk Committee attended by the Chief Financial ofiicers and the Chief 

Operating ûfticers of the Air France and KLM groups. 

The use of interest rate, currency and fuel hedges is intended to reduce the exposure of the 

Group and, therefore, to protect budgeted margins. The instruments used are forward contracts, 

swaps and options. In-house procedures goveming risk management prohibit the use of 
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instruments that can be classified as trading. Trading activities and speculation are strictly 

prohibited. 

Financial risk exposures 
The Group is exposed to the following financial risks: 

1. Market risk; 

2. Credit risk; and 

3. Liquidity’and solvency risk 

Marker risk 

The Group is exposed to market risks in the following areas: 

1. Fuel price risk; 

2. Currency risk; and 

3. Interest rate risk 

Fuel price risk 

Derivatives are used to hedge prices for fuel purchases thus reducing the exposure to the risk of 

oil price fluctuations. To achieve this, derivatives based on a representative basket of jet fuels 

(Rotterdam, Singapore, US Gulf Coast) or other fuel indices like Gasoil or Brent are used. 

Cumncy risk 

The majority of the Group’s revenues are generated in Euros. However, due to its international 
activities, the Group incurs a foreign exchange risk on the main global currencies, particulariy 

the US dollar, Japanese yen and Pound sterling. Any changes in the exchange rates for these 

currencies with respect to the Euro wil1 have an impact on the Group’s financial results. 

With regard to the US dollar, sin- expenditures (such as fuel costs, operating lease costs for 

part of the fleet and a portion of maintenance costs) ex- the level of income, any significant 
appreciation in the dollar against the Euro could have a negatie effect on the Group’s financial 

resuits. For the Japanese yen and pound sterling, the level of revenues is higher than 

expenditures. As a result, any significant decline in these currencies against the Euro could 

have a negatie effect on the financial results. 

In order to reduce the currency exposure, the Group has adopted policies to hedge the major 

exchange risks. For the US dollar, the JPY and GBP, a systematic hedging policy designed to 

cover approximately 30% to 75% of the net exposure per currency for the following year and, in 

certain cases, the next two or three years, is applied. 
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With regard to translation risk, KLM’s policy is to match assets and liabilities in foreign currency. 

In principle, the Group does not hedge its share of the results in subsidiaries, and investments 

accounted for using the equity method denominated in foreign currency. 

As far as capital expenditure is concerned, the Group has a high level of exposure to an 

increase in the dollar against the Euro. Indeed, al1 of the Group’s aircraft are purchased in 

dollars. The hedging policy provides for minimum systematic hedging of 30% of the exposure at 

the beginning of the fiscal year. In highly favorable market conditions, as currently, hedging may 

reach 95% of the exposure. 

Interest rate risk 

Most financial debt is based on floating-rate inctruments in line with market practices. However, 
the Group continually aims to reduce its exposure to the interest rate risk. For this purpose, 

capitalizing on the historicalìy low level of fixed rates over the last two years, part of the variable- 

rate debt has been swapped for fixed rates using derivative instruments such as (cross 

currency) interest rate swaps. 

Credit risk 
Credit risks arise from various activities including investing and operational activities as wel1 as 

hedging activities with regard to financial instruments. The risk is the loss that could arise if a 

counterpart were to default in the performance of its contractual obligations. The Group has 

established credit limits for its external parties in order to mitigate the credit risk. These limits 

are determined on the basis of ratings from organizations such as Moody’s Investors Services 

and Standard & Poor’s. 

Liquidity and solvency risk 

Liquidity and solvability risk is related to the risk that the Group might be unable to obtain the 

financial resources it requires to meet its long and short term obligations on time. Al1 anticipated 

and potential cash flows are reviewed regularly. These include, amongst others, operational 

cash flows, dividends, debt and interest payments and capital expenditure. The object is to have 

sufíicient liquidity, including committed credit facilities, available that are adequate for the 

liquidity requirements for the coming years. 
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1 Property, plant and equipment 

Fllpht oquipmont Othor pr0p.ñ~ and oqulpmont 

owmd w a d  OttmfllgM Luid and Equipent ûthor pmpotty Pm- 
rircnft a i n n n  oqulpn«it TObl buildhig. 8ndfitth~8ndoqulpent Td.1 pmyïïu nta Totil 

k8tApril1,2005 sn 2,3in 990 3,831 610 565 127 1.302 372 5,505 

Reclassikations 174 (174) 105 105 15 41 10 66 (128) 43 
- ( W  

2 

His(Mkrl swt 

Additions 15 375 174 564 7 16 5 28 19 611 

(36) (11) (74) 
2 2 

DiSpOSab (4) - (89) (93) (24) 
Acguisition of subsidsries 
Cunsncy translation differences (1) (1) (11 
k at Minh  31,200ó 707 2,520 i,im 4,406 608 586 133 1,327 263 S , M  

kat y.aJi 31,2ûO7 1,072 2w 1.216 4,ûM 5Bz s 2  130 1,314 228 6*7 

k at Y r t h  31,2007 446 249 580 1m 68 422 60 570 1347 

513 2,361 575 3,44n !i62 160 51 ns 263 4467 
A..( YHeh 31,2007 624 2357 6 3 6 %  617 524 in 50 744 229 4,980 

2006/07 reciassifications mainly relate to the transfer from financial leased aircraft to owned aircraft. 

rn 

rn 

rn 
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The assets include assets which are held as secunty for mortgages and loans as follows: 

2007 2006 

Aircraft 226 97 
Land and buildings 1 74 1 79 
ûther property and equipment 10 10 

Canying amount as at Match 31 41 O 286 

Borrowing costs capitalized during the year amount to EUR 6 million (2005í06 EUR 9 million). 

The interest rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalized was 4% 

(200306 4.25%). 

Land and buildings include buildings located on land which have been Ieased on a long-term basis. The 
book value of these buildings at March 31, 2007 amounts to EUR 335 million (2005/06 EUR 362 million). 

For details of commitments to purchase flight equipment and other propetiy, plant and equipment and 

related prepayments see note 18. 

Q 
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2 Intangible assets 

aortwam 
under 

Goodwill Software development Total 

Historical cost 
As at April 1,2005 
Additions 
Reclassifications 
Disposals 

40 
1 

(11) 

77 
3 
1 

(11) - - Other movements 4 4 
As at March 31,2006 30 74 8 112 

Accumulated amortization and 
impairment 
As at April 1,2005 
Amortization 
Reclassifications 
Disposals 

30 49 
10 

(11) 

79 
10 

(22) - ûther movements 1 1 
As at March 31,2006 19 49 68 

Historical cost 
As at April 1, 2006 
Additions 
Reclassifications 

30 74 
12 
7 

8 112 
12 

(5) 2 
- 

Disposals (1) - (1) 
As at March 31,2007 30 92 3 125 

Accumulated amortization and 
impairment 
As at April 1,2006 19 49 .I 68 
Amortization 11 11 
Reclassifications 2 2 
Disposals - (1) (1 1 
As at March 31,2007 19 61 80 

- - 
- - 

- 

Net carryinq amount 
As at Ma&h 31,2006 11 25 8 44 
As at March 31.2007 11 31 3 45 

4 
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3 Investments accounted for using the equity method 

2007 2006 

Associates 
Joint ventures 
Jointly controlled entities 

58 
77 
24 

49 
92 

Carrying amount as at March 31 1 59 141 

Investments in associates 

Carrying amount as at April 1 

Movements 
New consolidations 
Share of profitl(l0ss) after taxation 
Dwidends received 
Foreign currency translation differences 
ûther movements 

49 34 

Net movement 9 15 

The Group's interest in its principal associate, Kenya Airways Ltd., can be summarized as follows: 

As at March 31 

2006 2005 

Country of incorporation 

Interest held % 

Assets 
Liabilities 
Revenues 

26 

792 
595 
580 

Kenya 

26 

465 
343 
464 

Profit/(loss) after taxation 53 43 
Share of prontr(i0ss) after truation 14 11 - 

The above table of Kenya Airways Ltd's assets, liabiïies and revenues is based on the audited financial 

statements for the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005. The share of profits included in the canying 

amounts as at March 31,2007 have been adjusted to refled the estimated share of proñî for the year 

then ended. 
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The shares of Kenya Airways Ltd. are quoted on the Nairobi stock exchange. Based on the quoted price 

of the shares at the close of business on March 31, 2007 the fair value of KLM's interest in Kenya 

Ainivays Ltd. was EUR 130 million (2005/06 EUR 144 million). 

Joint ventures 

2006107 2005/06 

Carrying amount as at April 1 

Movements 
Share of profit/(loss) after taxation 
Dividends received 
Impairment losses recognized in year 
OCI movements 

92 156 

Net movernent (15) (64L 
Carr)('liaamount as at March 31 77 92 

The Group's interest in its prinupal joint venture, Martinair Holland N.V., which is an unlisted company, 

can be summarized as follows: 

As at December 31 

Country of incorporation 

Interest held % 

Non-current assets 
Assets 
Non-current liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Revenues 
Profiü(loss) after taxation 

50 

The Netheriands 

50 

460 480 
243 230 
167 168 
255 219 

1,236 1,121 
(7) 17 

ShJ (4L 8 

The above table of Martinair Holland N.V. assets, liabilities and revenues is based on the audted financial 

statements for December 31, 2006 and 2005. The share profit included in the carrying amounts as at 

March 31,2007 have been adjusted to reflect the estimated share of profit for the year then ended. 

The accumulated impairment loss as at March 31,2007 and March 31,2006 amounted to 

EUR 58 million. 
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Jointly controlled entities 

Carrying amount as at April 1 

Movements 
New Consolidation 24 

Net movement 24 
~ 24 

The Group’s interest in its principal jointly controlled entity, Schiphol Logistics Park C.V., which is 

an unlisted company, can be summarized as follows: 

As at March 31 

2007 

Country of incorporation 

Interest held % 
Voîing right % 

Non-current assets 
Assets 
Noncurrent liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Revenues 
Profitf(l0ss) after taxation 

The Netheriands 

53 
45 

61 
13 

Share of proWjlosr) after taxation - 
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Hold-tomaturity Loanr and At fair valuo through 
Invesúnonts moivabkr profit 8nd iOU TOW 

20W07 2005106 2006107 2005106 2006107 2005106 2006/07 200yOg 

Cartylng amwnt as at April 1 502 448 31 23 670 522 1,203 w 3  

Movomonts 
Additions and loans granted 24 25 9 7 631 57 665 

(488) (491) (526) (509) 
24 32 

Loans and interest repaid (35) (16) (2) 
Interest amtion 24 32 
De-consdidaöans 
Revaluation gain/(loss) recognized in 
income statement 16 8 16 8 

13 1 1 (a) 14 Fomign currency translatii dflerences (44) 
ûther movements 3 (7) (4) 

Not movomont (28) 54 17 8 (485) 148 (476) 210 

Carryinp amount as ai March 31 474 502 48 31 205 670 727 1,203 

26 
(3) 

2007 2008 
Non- Non- 

Current current Current current 

Held-tomaturity investments 
Triple A bonds and long-term deposits 

Loans and receivables 
Other loans and receivables 

At falr value through profit and loss 
Deposits and commercial paper with original 
maturiiy 3-12 months 
Air France KLM S.A. shares 

H 
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4 Financial assets 

4 

147 - 

474 34 468 

44 4 27 

- 
45 

626 
29 

ûther financial assets 13 15 
1 47 58 626 44 

Cemina amount as at March 31 151 576 664 539 

The canying amounts of financial assets denominated in currencies other than the Euro are as followc: 

2007 2006 

USD 
JPY 
GBP 

49 1 

32 

405 
21 
28 
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The interest-bearing financial assets have fixed interest rates. The weighted average effective interest 

rates at the balance sheet date are as follows: 

March 31,2007 March 31,2006 
in % EUR USD JPY GBP EUR USD JPY GBP 

Held-to-matunty 
investments 
Loans and receivables 
At fair value through profit 
and loss 

6.4 - 
6.0 - 

3.3 - 

7.2 
- 0.9 

2.5 

6.2 0.3 7.3 
5.5 - - 
4.7 - 

The triple A bonds and long-term deposits are held as a natura1 hedge to mitigate the effect of fmign 

exchange movements relating to financial lease liabilities. Except as described below these securities are 
at the free disposal of the Company. Access to triple A bonds and long-tem deposits, l ans  and 

receivables amounting to EUR 208 million (2005í06 EUR 181 million) is restricted. 

The maturities of held-to-maturity investments are as follows: 

March 31, March 31, 

Held-to-maturity 
Less than 1 year 
Between 1 and 2 pars 
Between 2 and 3 pars 
Between 3 and 4 pars 
Between 4 and 5 pars 
Over 5 pars 

1 
39 
48 

186 
76 

1 24 

34 
3 

19 
77 

160 
209 

Total 474 

The maturities of loans and receivables are as follows: 

Loans and receivables 
Less than 1 year 
Between 1 and 2 pars 
Between 2 and 3 years 
Between 3 and 4 pars 
Between 4 and 5 pars 
Over 5 years 

4 
29 
10 

5 

4 
2 
3 

10 

12 

Total 48 31 
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The fair values of the financial assets are as follows: 

March 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

Heid-to-maturity 
Triple A bonds and long-term deposits 

Loans and receivabies 
Other loans and receivables 

505 

48 

528 

31 

At fair vaiue through profit and ioss 

Deposits and commercial paper with original maturity 3-1 3 months 626 
Air France KLM S.A. shares 45 29 
Other financial assets 13 15 

205 670 

147 

Totai fair vaiue 758 1,229 
i 

The fair values listed above have been determined as follows: 
- Triple A bonds and long-term deposits: The fair values are based on the net present value of the 

anticipated future cash flows associated with these instruments; 

Deposits and commercial paper: The carrying amounts approximate fair value because of the short 

maturity of these deposits and commercial paper; 

Air France KLM S.A. shares: Quoted price as at close of business on March 31,2007; 

ûther assets: The carrying amounts approximate fair vaiue because of the short maturity of these 

instruments or, in the case of equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market, 

the assets are camed at cact. 

0 

0 

0 

The contractual re-pricing dates of the Group’s interest bearing assets are as follows: 

Less than 1 year 
Between 1 and 2 years 
Between 2 and 3 years 
Between 3 and 4 pars 
Between 4 and 5 years 
Over 5 years 

3 
47 
80 

187 
87 

117 

26 
5 
7 

95 
179 
221 

Totai interest bearing financial assets 521 533 
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5 Derivative financial instruments 

Assets Liabilities 

Current Noncurrent Current Noncurront 

As at March 31,2006 

Exchange rate risk 
Fair value hedges 
Cash flow hedges 

1 
25 

I 

Total exchange rate risk hedges 26 1 (47) (2) 

Interest rate risk 
Fair vaiue hedges 
Cash flow hedges 

Items not qualifying for hedge accounting 

24 - 108 
30 

49 

(3) 
(73) 
(25) 

(9) 

Total interast rato risk hedaes 24 187 13r 11 nrr 

Commodlty risk hedges 
Cash flow hedges 

Total commodity risk hedges 206 76 (103) (6) 

256 264 153) (115) 

As at March 31,2007 

Exchange rate risk 
' Fair value hedges 

Cash flow hedges 

Totalexchangerateriskhedges 20 16 (30) (7) 

Interest rate risk 
Fair value hedges 
Cash flow hedges 

Items not qualifying for hedge accounting 

16 - 26 
45 

50 

Total Interest rate risk hedges 16 121 (37) (1221 

Commodity risk hedges 
Cash flow hedges 78 71 

Total commodity risk hedges 78 71 (18) (8L 

Total as at March 31.2007 114 208 (85) (1 37L 
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As at March 31, 2007 the types of derivatives used, their nomina1 amounts and fair values and the 

maturity dates of the hedging instruments are as follows: 

*1 p a r  *2 yean *3 yean *4 Yean 
Nomina1 and rnd and and Fair 
amount c l  year e2 yean c3 yean c4yean e5 yean 5 yean Value 

Exchange rate risk hedges 

Fair valw hedges 

Options 
USD 23 23 

Forward purchases O 
USD 551 235 131 41 - 143 (15) 
GBP 32 6 13 13 O 
JPY 4 4 (0) 

Total fair valw hedges 01 O 268 144 54 143 (10l 

Cash flow hedges 

Options 
USD 
GBP 
JPY 

Forward purchases 
USD 

436 
37 
7 

318 

356 
37 
7 

80 

297 21 

Fonvard s a k  
GBP 262 262 2 
JPY 20 20 2 
CHF 35 35 
NOK 1 02 102 
CEK 61 61 1 
oaiw 58 57 23 

Total cash fiow hedges 1,330 1,234 1Qî 14 

Ibms not quailfying for hedge accounting 
USD 21 21 O 

loîal items not quallfying for 
hedm accounting 21 21 Q 

Total exchange rate risk hedges 1 ,Sof 1,523 245 54 143 (21 
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>i year >2 yean a3 yean MYeara 
Nomina1 and end and and Fair 
amount 4 year <2 yean <3 yean J y e a n  4 yean > 5 yean Value 

Interest rate risk hedges 

Fair value hedges 

swaps 1,225 160 414 118 182 190 161 (82) 

Total fair value hedges 1,225 160 41 4 118 182 190 161 (82) 

Cashflow hedges 

swaps 2.565 312 263 352 264 243 1,131 21 

Tob1 cash flow M g e s  2,565 31 2 263 352 284 243 1,131 21 

Items not qualifying for hedge 
accounting 

swaps 914 424 153 67 13 15 243 40 

lotal Items n d  qualifying for 
M g e  accounthg 91 4 424 153 67 13 15 243 40 
Total interest rate risk hedges 4,704 896 830 537 459 448 1,535 (21) 

Commodity risk hedges 

swaps 
options 

764 
1,505 

264 
900 

206 
328 

244 
90 

47 2 
186 

68 
55 

Total commodlty rirk hedges 2,269 1,164 534 334 233 2 123 

6 Inventories 

March 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

Carrying amount 
Maintenance inventones 
ûther sundry inventones 

135 
61 

117 
69 

Inventory wntedowns amounted to EUR 59 million (2005/06 EUR 82 million). 
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7 Trade and other receivables 

March 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

Trade receivables 
Provision trade receivables 
Trade receivables - net 

Amounts due from Air France-KLM group companies 
Amounts due from associates and joint ventures 
Amounts due from maintenance contract customers 
Taxes and social securiíy premiums 
Other receivables 
Prepaid expenses 

808 
(18) 
790 

35 
11 
91 
20 
55 

119 

81 3 
(25) 
788 

23 
12 
63 
23 
67 

1 50 

Total 1,121 1,126 

The 2006/07 EUR 7 million (2005/06 EUR 10 million) release of provision trade receivables has been 

recorded in other operating income and expenses in the consolidated income statement. 

Maintenance contract costs incurred to date (less recognized losses) for contracts in progress at 

' March 31,2007 amounted EUR 81 million (2005/06 EUR 53 million). 

Advances received for maintenance contracts in progress at March 31,2007 amounted to EUR 19 million 

(2005/06 EUR 13 million). 

H 
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8 Cash and msh equivalents 

rn 

H 
IH 

Cash at bank and in hand 
Short-term deposits 

100 
1,164 

98 
440 

Total 1.264 !i46 

The effective interest rates on short-term deposits are in the range 3.58% to 5.33% (2005/06 range 

2.13% to 7.00%). The short-term deposits have an onginal matunty of less than 3 months. The major part 

of short-term deposits is invested in money market instruments or in liquid funds with daily access to 

cash. 

The part of the cash and cash equivalents held in currencies other than the Euro are as follows: 

2007 2006 

USD 
GBP 
CNY 
Other currencies 

25 
14 
6 

46 

20 
8 

21 
22 

Toîal 91 71 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents does not differ matenaîly from the book value. 
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9 Share capital 

Authorized share capital 
No movements have occurred in the authorized share capital since April 1,2004. The authorized share 

capital of the Company is summarized in the following table: 

Authorized 
Par value per 

share Number of Amount 
(In EUR) shares (In EUR 1,000) 

Priority shares 
Ordinary shares 
A Cumulative preference shares 
B Preference shares 
C Cumulative preference shares 

2.00 1,875 
2.00 149,998,125 
2.00 37,500,000 
2.00 75,000,000 
2.00 18,750,000 

4 
299,996 
75,000 

150,000 
37,500 

Total authorized share capital 562,500 

Issued share capital 
No movements have occurred in the issued share capital since April 1,2004. No shares are issued but 
not fully paid. 

Issued and fuliy paid 
March 31,2007 March 31,2006 

Number of Amount Number of Amount 
shares (in EUR 1,ûûû) shares (in EUR 1,ûûû) 

Included In equlty 

Pnoniy shares 
Ordinary shares 

1,312 3 1,312 3 
46,809.699 93,619 46,809,699 93,619 

93,822 93,622 

Included in financial 
liabilities 

A Cumulative preference shares 8,812.500 17.625 8,612,500 17,625 
C Cumulatie preference shares 7,050,000 14,100 7,050,000 14,100 

I 
I 

. 
I 
rn 
I 
I, 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

31,725 31,725 
125,347 
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The rights, preferences and resttictions attaching to each class are as follows: 

Priority shares 
Al1 priority shares are held by Air France KLM S.A. Independent rights attaching to the priority shares 

include power to determine or approve: 

a) To set aside an amount of the profit established in order to establish or increase 

reserves; (art. 32.1 Articles of Association (AoA)) 

b) Distribution of interim dividends, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board; (art. 32.4 AoA) 

c) Distribution to holders of common shares out of one or more of the freely distributable resetves 
subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board; (art. 32.5 AoA) 

d) Transfer of priority shares. (art. 14.2 AoA) 

Before submission to the General meeting of Shareholders prior approval of the holder of the priority 

shares is required for: 

a) Issue of shares; (art. 5.4 AoA) 
b) Limitation of or exclusion from pre-emptive rights of the holders of other classes 

of shares; (art. 5.4 AoA) 

c) Repurchase of own shares; (art. 10.2 AoA) 
d) Alienation of own priority shares and C wmulative preference shares; (art. 1 1.2 AoA) 

e) Reduction of the iscued share capital; (art. 1 1.3 AoA) 
f) Remuneration and conditiins of employment of the Managing Directom; (art.17.4 AoA) 

g) Amendments of the Articles of Associatbn andor dissolution the Company. (art. 41 .I AoA) 

A Cumulative prieikwenCe shares, 6 P r e h n c e  shares, C Cumulative prefbrem s h a w  and 

Ordinary shares 
Holders of preference and ordinary shares are entitled to attend and vote at shareholders' meetings. 

Each share entitles the holder to one vote. 

Since 1994 the State of The Netheriands has had an option to acquire such a number of B preference 

shares that the State would obtain an interest of up to 50.1% in the Company's issued capital. The option 

may be exercised only if the Company's access to relevant markets is or wil1 be denied or limited because 

a country is of the opinion that ownership or control of KLM is not predominantly in Dutch hands. As at 
March 31 , 2007 the State of The Netheriands held 3,708,315 A cumulative preference shares to which a 

voting nght attaches of 5.9%, this is not changed since 2005/06. 

For details of the right to dividend distributions attaching to each class of share see the ûther information 

section. 
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10 Other reserves 

Hedging Translation Statutory 
reserve reserve reserve Total 

As at April 1,2005 134 2 29 165 

Gains/( losses) frorn cash-flow hedges 
Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations 
Transfer to retained earnings 
Tax on items taken directiy to or transferred frorn 
equw 

(7) 

6 6 
(4) 

5 5 

As at March 31,2006 1 32 8 25 165 - 
As at April 1,2006 132 8 25 165 

Gains/(losses) frorn cash-flow hedges 
Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations 
Transfer to retained earnings 
Tax on items taken directly to or transferred from 
equity 

6 

18 18 

As at March 31,2W7 108 (13) 31 126 

Statutory reserve 
As required by Aftide 365.2 of Book 2 of The Netherlands Civil Codea statutory resewe is maintained 

equal to the arnount of developrnent costs incurred on computer software at the balance sheet date. 
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1 I Financial liabilities 

2006107 2005/06 

Carrylng amount as at April 1 

Additions and loans received 
Loans repaid 
Foreign currency translation differences 
Other changes 

717 534 

Net movement 41 9 183 
f l  1.1 36 71 7 

The financial liabilities compnse: 

March 31,2007 March 31,2006 
Non- Non- 

Current current Current current 

A ,Cumulative preference shares 
C Cumulative preference shares 
Subordinated perpetual loans 
Other loans (securedunsecured) 

- 
70 

18 
14 

463 
57 1 7 

18 
14 

49 1 
187 

Total 70 7 71 O 

The subordinated perpetual loans are subordinate to al1 other existing and future KLM debts. The 

subordinations are equal in rank. Under certain circumstances KLM has the nght to redeem the 
subordinated perpetual loans, with or without payment of a premium. 

The Swiss Franc subordinated perpetual loans amounting to EUR 259 million as at March 31, 2007 

(2005/06 EUR 266 million) are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange, Zunch. 

1 O1 
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The maturity of financial liabilities is as follows: 

2007 2006 

Less than 1 year 
Between 1 and 2 years 
Between 2 and 3 years 
Between 3 and 4 years 
Between 4 and 5 years 
Over 5 years 

70 
45 
46 
50 
36 

889 

7 
8 
8 

22 
38 

634 

Total as at Yarch 31 1.136 717 

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Euro are as follows: 

2007 2006 

USD 46 - 
CHF 259 265 
JPY 191 226 

Total as at Yarch 31 496 491 

The fair values of financial liabilities are as follows: 

2007 2006 

A Cumulative preference shares 
C Cumulative preference shares 
Subordinated perpetual loans 
ûther loans (securedlunsecured) 

18 
14 

428 
644 

18 
14 

459 
200 

Fair value as at March 31 1.104 691 

The fair value of the financial Iiabilities is based on the net present value of the anticipated future cash 

flows associated with these instruments. 
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The exposure of the Group's borrowing interest rate changes and the contractual re-pricing dates are as 

follows: 

*1 year *2 years *3 years *4 Years 
and and and and 

< l  year <2 years <3 yeats eyears <5 years > 5years ~otal 

As at March 31,2006 
Total borrowings 
Effect of interest rate 
swaps 

544 717 

1 O0 - 

As at March 31,2007 
Total borrowings 
Effect of interest rate 
swaps 

503 1,136 

154 - 

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date, excluding the effect of denvatives, are as follows: 

Cumulative preference shares 5.55 - 3.55 - 
Subordinated perpetual loans - 4.81 - 4.81 
Other loans 4.42 8.50 3.33 I'& 

tn 
ca 
'..Y 

r.%' 
(::,I 

- 
I 

The interest rates of the subordinated perpetual loans and other loans, taking into account the effect of 

denvatives, are as follows: I 

Variabie Fixed A verage Average 
interest interest variable 46 fixed K- Average *A 

loans ioans rate rate rate 

Subordinated perpetual loans 
Other loans 21 9 

463 
422 4.43 

4.58 
4.90 

4.58 
4.72 

The variable interest rates are based on the London and Euro Interbank ûffered Rates. As at 

July 29,2005 the Company has a committed EUR 540 million, five-year standby credit facility with a 

consortium of international banks. No amounts had been dram on this facility as at March 31, 2007 and 

2006. 
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12 Lease obligations 

March 31,2007 March 31,2006 
Future hlture 

minimum Future Financial minimum Future Flnancial 
lease finance lease lease finance lease 

payments charges liabilities pay ments charges liablllties 

Finance lease 
obligations 

Within 1 year 694 129 565 647 148 499 

Total current 694 129 565 647 148 499 

Between 1 and 2 years 487 108 379 750 127 623 
Between 2 and 3 years 467 84 384 474 105 369 

Between 4 and 5 years 41 7 38 379 51 1 55 456 
Over 5 years 1,064 89 974 1,310 102 1,208 

Beween 3 and 4 years 493 60 432 523 78 445 

Total non-current 2,928 379 2,548 3,568 467 3,l O 1  
Total 3.622 508 3.113 4.21 5 61 5 3.600 

The finance leases relate exclusively to aircraft leasing. At the expiry of the leases, KLM has the optiin to 

purchase the aircraft at the amount specified in each contract. The lease agreements provide for either 

fixed or floating interest payments. Where the agreements are subject to a floating interest rate, this is 

normally the 3 or 6 month EURIBOR or the USD LIBOR rate. The average interest rate, without taking 

int0 account the impact of hedging (and the deferred benefits arising fmm sale and leaseback 

transactions) is 5.7% (average fixed rate 7.5%, average floating rate 4%). Taking int0 account the impact 

of hedging the average interest rate is 4.5% (average fixed rate 4.7%. average floating rate 4%). After 

hedging 91 % of the outstanding lease liabilities have a fixed interest rate. 

The fair value of finance lease liabiliies amounts to EUR 3,070 million as at March 31, 2007 
(2005/06 EUR 3,543 million). The fair value of the financial liabilities is based on the net present value of 

the anticipated future cash flows associated with these instruments. For the lease liabilities restricted 

deposits are used as collateral. 
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The total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows: 

AircraR Building8 ûthar equlprnent foîal 
March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, Ma& 31, 

2007 2006 2007 2008 2007 2006 2007 2006 

Operating lease 
commitments 

Within 1 year 184 1 66 23 25 14 11 221 202 

Total cumnî 184 166 23 25 14 11 221 202 

Between 1 and 2 years 183 172 24 24 14 8 221 204 
Between 2 end 3 pars 166 155 22 23 14 7 202 185 
Belween 3 end 4 pars 150 138 19 21 12 7 181 166 
Between 4 and 5 years 137 124 17 17 10 7 164 148 
Over 5 years 334 420 193 203 6 527 629 

Total noncumnt 970 1,009 275 288 50 35 1,295 1,332 
Totrl 1,154 1,175 298 313 64 46 1,516 1,534 

13 Deferred income 

March 31,2007 March 31,2006 
Non- Non- 

Current current Current current 

Advance ticket sales 536 63 531 39 

Sale and leaseback transactions 9 15 13 22 
Flying Blue frequent flyer program 6 39 9 31 

Govemment investment grants 2 4 2 

Total 553 117 557 94 

For comparison purposes within Air France KLM the Flying Blue frequent flyer program has been 

reclassified frorn other provisions (note 16) to deferred income. Comparative figures March 31,2006 have 

been reclassified. 
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14 Deferred income tax 

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

2006/07 2005/06 

Carrying amount as at April 1 414 301 

Income statement charge 
Tax (credited)/charged to equity 
Other movements 

63 

14 
(18) 

126 
(6) 
(7) 

Net movement 59 113 
Carrvina amount as at March 31 473 41 4 

The applicable tax rate for calculating deferred tax assets and liabilities has changed from 29.1 %, being 

the rate used on March 31.2006 for calculating deferred taxes expecting to reverse in fiscal years 

2007/08 and further, to 25.5% being the applicable tax rate effective as of January 1,2007. The impact of 

this rate change has been recorded in the income tax expense line in the consolidated income statement. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the Same 

fiscal authority. 
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The amounts of deferred tax assets recognized in the other tax jurisdictions (i.e. in The United Kingdom) 

are included in the deferred tax asset Iine Mthin non-current assets on the baiance sheet. Of the total 

amount involved, being EUR 24 miliion, EUR 7 million is expected to be recovered in 12 months or less 

and EUR 17 million is expected to be recovered after more than 12 months. 

The split between deferred tax assets and net (offset) deferred tax liabilities is as foilows: 

Mamh 31, Mamh 31, 
2007 2066 

Deferred tax asset (24) 
Deferred tax liability (offset) 497 414 

473 414 
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The offset amounts are as follows: 

March 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

Deferreâ tax assets 
Deferred tax assets to be recovered in 12 months or less 
Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 
months 

43 

127 

100 

288 

1 70 388 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Deferred tax l i ibi l i is to be seffled in 12 months or less 53 
Deferred tax liabilities to be seffled over more than 12 
months 614 

71 

731 

-7 an7 

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities, without taking into consideration the offseîting of 

balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: 

Income Tax cainymJ 
Carrying statement chargedi amount 

amount as chargei (cred1t.d) as at 
atApril1 (credit) toequity Other Match31 

Deferred tax assets 

Fiscal 2005/06 
fax losses 
Investment grant seítled with tax 
Fleet assets 

1 o9 
44 

264 

57 
44 

237 

Fieet related assets (maintenance) 11 11 
16 
10 

Pensions and benefits provisions 27 (11) 

10 
Maintenance provision 11 (1 1 

3 
Financial lease 16 (6) 
Other 14 (11) 

Total 4nm H O 8 1  388 

Flscal2006/07 
Tax losses 
Investment grant settied with tax 
Fleet assets 

Fleet related assets (maintenance) 
Pensions and benefits provisions 
Maintenance provision 
Financial lease 
Other 

57 
44 

237 

11 
16 
10 
10 
3 

9 
(39) 

24 
6 

186 

16 
14 

7 

Total 388 (1 05) (30) 253 
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mcome Tax canying 
Canying statement chargedl amount 

amount as charge/ (credited) as at 
at April 1 (credit) to equity ûther March31 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Fiscal 2005/06 
Fleet assets 
ûther tangible fixed assets 
Pensions and benefits (asset) 
Maintenance provision 
Derivatives 

60 
67 

537 
34 
62 

45 
62 

557 
33 
56 

Fiscal 2006/07 
Fleet assets 45 45 

52 
(6) 542 

Other tangible fixed assets 62 (10) 

50 
Pensions and benefits (asset) 557 (9) 

Derivatives 56 (18) (1 ) 37 
Other 49 (40) (9) 

Maintenance provision 33 17 

Total 802 (42) (18) (16) 726 

The Group has tax loss carry forwards in The United Kingdom in the amount of EUR81 million 

(2005/06 EUR 145 million) as wel1 as deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset 

has been recognized, due to the uncertainty whether there are suíñcient future tax profits against which 

such temporary differences and tax losses can be utilized. The unrecognized deferred tax assets relating 

to temporary differences total EUR 128 million. The tax loss carry forward in The United Kingdom is 

available for indefinite set off against future periods. 
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15 Provisions for employee benefits 

MaEh 31, Match 31, 
2007 2006 

Pension and other post-employment benefits 174 21 3 
ûther long-term employment benefits 60 75 
Termination benefits 22 13 
subtotai 258 301 

Less: Noncurrent portion 
Pension and other post-employment benefits 1 53 21 1 
ûther long-tem empioyment benefits 54 64 
Temination benefits 15 9 
Noncurrent portion 222 204 

34 17 

Amounts in the balance sheet: 

March 31, ~ a ~ h  31, 

Liabiiitles I 

Non-cu rren t portion 
Current portion 

222 
34 

284 
17 

Total liabilities 256 301 

brets 
Noncurrent portion 2.074 i ,a73 

Totai assets 2,074 1,873 
I*. 

1 o9 



March 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

Pensions and other postemployment 
benefits 

Pension and early-retirement obligations 
Post-employment medical benefits 

128 
46 

148 
65 

Total 174 21 3 

Less: Non-current portion 
Pension and early-retirement obligations 
Post-employment medical benefits 

110 
43 

148 
63 

Non-current portion 153 21 1 
Current portion 21 2 

Pension plans 
The company sponsors a number of pension plans for employees world-wide. The major plans are 

defined benefit plans covenng Cabin Staff, Pilots and Ground Staff based in The Netherlands, The United 

Kingdom, Gemany, Canada, Hong Kong, The Netherlands Antilles and Japan. The major plans are 

funded through separate pension funds which are govemed by independent boards and are subject to 

supervision of the local regulatory authonties. In addition to these major plans there are vanous relatively 

insignificant defined benefit and defined contribution plans for employees located outside The 
Netherlands. 

Plan amendments 

In the year ending March 31, 2007 plan amendments have led to a gain of EUR 18 million, mainly as a 

result of smal1 changes to the pension and early retirement obligations in the KLM Cabin Fund and 

Transavia Pilot fund. The Transavia Ground fund was converted from a defined benefit scheme to a 

collective defined contribution scheme leading to a reduction of the projected benefit obligation of 

EUR 43 million and a related reduction of the assets of EUR 40 million. 

KLM concluded new agreements on funding and surplus distribution with the KLM pension funds for 

Ground staff and pilots. The new agreement that is effective as per January 1,2007 led to a reduction in 

employer contributions of EUR 62 million in 2006/07. 
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Recognition of pension assets and liabilities in the balance sheet 

The Group’s pension funds have together a surplus totaling EUR 2,961 million as at March 31,2007 

(2005106 EUR 2,589 million). Actuanal gains and losses are recognized in determining the benefit 

obligations and the plan assets only to the extent that they cumulatively exceed the greater of 10% of the 

present value of the obligations or the fair value of the plan assets. Surpluses and deficits have been 

recognized in the balance sheet according to IAS 19. 

No limit (i.e. after the impact of IAS 19 ) on the net assets recognized in the balance sheet is applied 

since, based on the current financing agreements between these pension funds and the Company, future 

economic benefits are available in the form of a reduction in future contributions. As at March 31, 2007 

the net assets recognized in the balance sheet of the three main funds, after taking int0 account 

unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses and net unrecognized past service cos& amount to 

EUR 2,071 million (ZOOWO6 EUR 1,873 million). 

The above ireatment represenîs the Company’s wrrent understanötng of IAS 19 and the issued 
Exposure Draft (‘D19”) by the IFRIC. 

Investment strategy 

The boards of the funds consult independent advisors as necessary to assist them with determining 

investment strategies consistent with the objectives of the funds. These strategies relate to the allocation 

of assets to different classes with the objective of controlling risk and maintaining the right balance 

between risk and long-term returns in order to limit the contribution to the company of the benefits 

provided. The funds use asset and liability management studies that generate Mure scenarios to 
determine their optimal asset mix and expected rates of return on assets. 

Investments are wel1 diversified, such that the failure of any single investment would not have a material 

impact on the overall level of assets. The plans invest a large proportion of the assets in equities which it 

is believed offer the best returns over the long term commensurate with an acceptable level of risk. Ais0 
a proportion of assets is invested in property, bonds and cash. Most assets are managed by the Blue Sky 

Group. 

Post-employment medical benefits 

This provision relates to the obligation the Company has to wntribute to the cost of employees’ medical 

insurance after retirement in The Netherlands, The United States of Amenca and Canada. 
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Assumptions used for provisions for employee benefits 

The provisions were calculated using actuarial methods based on the following assumptions (weighted 

averages for al1 plans): 

Pension and early- Postemployment medical 

in % 2006/07 2005106 2006/07 2005106 
retirement obligations benefits 

Weighted average 
assumptions used to 
determine benefit 
obligations 
Discount rate for year ended 
March 31 

Rate of compensation increase 
Rate of price inflation 

Weighted average 
assumptions used to 
determine net cost 
Discount rate for year ended 
March31 I 

Expected long-term rate of 
return on plan assets 

Rate of compensation increase 
Rate of price compensation 

Medical cost trend rate 
assumptions used to 
determine net cost * 
Immediate trend rate Pre 65 
Immediate trend rate Post 65 
Ultimate trend rate 
Year that the rate reaches 
ultimate trend rate 

4.49 

5.1 1 
2.05 

4.49 

5.70 

5.04 
2.02 

4.46 

5.13 
2.18 

4.53 

5.69 

5.18 
2.22 

5.51 

5.57 

7.35 
9.46 
4.87 

2012/2013 

5.03 

5.02 

10.00 
10.00 
5.00 

201 2 

The rates show are the weighted averages for The United States of Amenca and Canada. The benefit in The Netheriands is a 

fixed amount. 

For the main Dutch pension plans 2006/07 the mortality table GBMN 1995-2000, with a setback of one 

year for both male and female participants taking into account an increase of 2.5% for longevity defined 

benefit obligation and service cost, has been used. 
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Pension and early- Postsmployment 
retirement obligations medical benefits 

2007 2006 2007 2006 

Present value of wholly or partly funded 
obligations 
Fair value of plan assets 

9,260 8,816 
(12,221) (11,405) 

Subtotal (2,961) (2,589) - 
Present value of unfundeá obligations 17 12 52 71 

Unrecognized net actuarial gains/(losses) 998 852 (6) (6) 

Subtotal 1 ,O1 5 864 46 65 
~ e t  iiamtyr(asset) reiating pension 
and other post-retirement obligations 
at March 31 ( 1 , W  (1,725) 46 65 

Pension and eariy- Post*mployment 
retirement obligations medical bemefks 

2007 2006 2007 2006 

Amounts in the baiance sheet as at 
March 31 
Liabilities 

I Asseis 
46 65 - 

Net iiaDiiity/( asset) reiating pension 
and other post-retirement obligations 
as at March 31 (1,946) (1,725) 46 65 
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The movements in the present value of the pension and other post-employment benefit obligations 

(both funded and unfunded) in the year are as follows: 

Pension and early- Post-employment medical 

2006107 2005106 2006107 2005106 
retirement obligations benefits 

Carrying amount as at April 1 

Service cost 
Interest cost 
Plan participants' contributions 
Curtailments 
Actuarial losses/(gains) 
Benefits paid from plan/company 
Other 
Exchange rate changes 

8,828 

31 1 
389 
37 

15 

36 
7 

(57) 

(289) 

8,404 

310 
378 
35 
3 

(23) 
(273) 

(3) 
(3) 

70 112 

Net rnovernent 449 424 (20) (42) 
anying arnount as at Marc h31~ ~ 9,277 8,828 50 70 

The movements in the fair value of assets of the wholly or partially funded pension plans in the year 

can be summarized as follows: 

2006107 2005106 

Fair value as at April 1 

Expected return on plan assets 
Actuarial gains/(losses) (related to the plan assets) 
Employer contributions 
Member contributions 
Benefits paid from plan / company 
Curtailments 
Other 
Exchange rate changes 

1 1,404 

649 
1 74 
244 
37 

(288) 
(40) 
34 
7 

9,757 

557 
1,051 

284 
35 

(273) 
(1) 
(3) 
(3) 

Net movement 81 7 1,647 
Fair value as at Yarch 31 12.221 I 1  AOA 
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The major categories of the pension plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets is as follows: 

March 31, Mar& 31, 
in K 2007 2006 

Debt securities 
Real estate 
Equity securities 
Other 

45.7 
13.3 
40.3 
0.7 

47.0 
11.0 
40.5 

1.5 

The actual return on pension plan assets is EUR 823 million (2005/06 EUR 1,608 million). 

Other long-term employee benefits 

Jubilee benefits 
ûther benefits 

40 
20 

35 
40 

Total canying amount 60 75 

Less: Nonturrent portion 

Jubilee benefits 
ûther benefits 

38 
16 

33 
31 

Non-cumnt portion 54 64 
Cumnt portion 6 11 , 

Jubilee benefits 
r.?, 
i.-a The provision for jubilee benefits covers bonuses payable to employees when they attain 25 and 40 years 

of service. 
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Other benefits 
The provision for other benefits relates to existing retirement entitlements. 

2007 2006 

Termination benefits 

Redundancy benefits 
Non-current portion 
Current portion 

15 
7 

9 
4 

Termination benefits relates to a provision for supplements to unemployment benefits to former 

employees. 

16 Other provisions 
. _  - 

masingout 
costs of Re- 

operating organiration 
lease and 

aircraft restructuring ûther Totai 

As at April 1,2006 58 8 77 143 

Charged to consolidated income statement: 
Additional provisions and increases in existing 
provisions 
Unused amounts reversed 
Used dunng year 
Other changes 

As at Yarch 31.2007 31 4 81 116 

Currentlnon-current portion 
Non-current portion 
Current portion 

29 
2 4 

68 
13 

97 
19 

Canying amount as at March 31,2007 31 4 81 116 
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Phasing-out costs of operating lease aircraft 
For a number of aircraft operated under operational lease contracts, there is a contractual obligation to 

the lessors to redeliver the aircraft in an agreed state of maintenance. The provision represents the 

estimated costs to be incurred or reimbursed to the lessor at the balance sheet date. 

Other provisions 
As from the fiscal year 2006/07, maintenance provisions regarding Transavia aircraft have been 

reclassified from accrued liabilities (note 17) to other provisions, since this classification is more in line 

with the actual contractual obligations. As at March 31,2007 the provision amounts to EUR 56 million 

(March 31,2006 EUR 54 million). Comparative figures March 31,2006 have been reclassified. 

Ottier provisions include provisions for salary compensation for former flight engineers transferred to 

other functions and demolition costs of buildings and site restoration costs for land and buildings which is 

the subject of long lease. 

17 Trade and other payab ;es 

Trade payables 
Amounts due to Air France-KLM Group companies 
Amounts due to maintenance contract customers 
Taxes and social securiîy premiums 
ûther payables 
Accrued liabilities 

626 
60 
31 
70 

330 
37s 

61 1 
38 
28 
70 

240 
476 

18 Commitments 

As at March 31, 2007 KLM has commitments for previously placed orders amounting to EUR 540 million 

(2005/06 EUR 820 million). EUR 51 9 million of this amount relates to aircraft (2005/06 EUR 783 million) 

of which EUR 334 million is due in 2007/08. The balance of the commitments as at March 31,2007 

amounting to EUR 24 million (2005/06 EUR 37 million) are related to other tangible fixed assets. As at 

March 31,2007 prepayments on aircraft orders have been made, accounting to EUR 21 1 million 

(2005/06 EUR 237 million). 
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Aircraff on order as at March 31,2007 are as follows: 

0 4 Boeing 777-300 

0 10 Boeing 737-800 

Aircraít on order as at March 31, 2006 were as follows: 

0 4 Boeing 777-200 

0 2 Boeing 737-800 

0 3 Airbus A330-200 

19 Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent liabilities 

Liüaadion 

Action filed bv the EU Commission. The United States Deoartment of Justice (The “US DOJ7 and 

çommtition authorities in other iurisdictions for alleaed carte1 activitv in the air camo transmrt and mlated 

civil lawsuits. 

On February 14,2006 authorities from the EU Commission and the US DOJ presented themselves at the 

offices of KLM, as wel1 as most airlines and world major cargo operators, formally requesting information 

about alleged conspiracy to fix the price of air shipping services. 

KLM is cooperating with these investigations. Subsequently, as at March 31,2007 over 140 purported 

class acüon lawsuits have been filed against air cargo operators, including a number were KLM is 

mentioned specifically. Plaintiffs allege that defendants engaged in a conspiracy to fix the pnce of air 

shipping services since January 1, 2000 including various surcharges in Air Cargo Services in violation of 

antitrust laws. They consequently seek  compensatory damages and treble monetaty damages in 

unspecified amounts, costs and attomey’s fees, as wel1 as injunctive relief amounting to triple amount of 

compensatory damages. Currently, there are motions pending to appoint a lead plaintiff‘s counsel. KLM 

intends to defend itself in these cases vigorously. 

At this time, KLM is unable to predict the outcome of these investigations requested by antitrust and civil 

litigation authorities, or the amount of penalties and compensatory damages which could be due. 

Aaents’ commissions (“The Tam Travel case? 

On April 9, 2003 a complaint was filed with the federal district court in Oakland, Califomia on behalf of 

approximately 50 travel agents alleging that 11 U.S. airlines and 8 international airlines, including KLM, 

conspired to reduce and ultimately eliminate base commissions paid to the agents. The case has 
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subsequently been transferred to the federal district court in Youngstown, Ohio. Currently, depositions are 

taking place. 

The management intends to defend the Company against the daims as it is believed that the allegations 

are fundamentally without ment. The potential financial exposure, if any, of the Group cannot be 

estimated. 

Other litigafion 

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are involved as defendant in litigation relating to competition 

issues, commercial transactions, and labor relations. Although the ultimate disposition of asserted claims 

and proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, it is the opinion of the Company's management that, 

with the exception of the matters discussed above, the outcome of any such claims, either individually or 

on a combined basis, wil1 not have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial 
positiin, but could be material to the consolidated results of operations of the Company for a particular 

period. 

Slte clernlng up costs 

The Group owns a number of Cargo and Maintenance buildings situated on various parcels of land which 

are the subject of long lease agreements. At the expiry of each of these agreements the Cornpany has 

the following options: 

1 ) To demolish the buildings and clean up the land prior to return to the lessor; 

2) To transfer ownership of the building to the lessor; or 
3) To extend the lease of the land. 
Wiai the exception of the buildings referred to in note 16, no decision has been taken regarding the future 

of any of the buildings standing on leased land. Until a decision has been taken as to whether a lease wil1 
be extended or the propetty sold, it cannot be detemined whether it is probable that site cleaning up 

costs wil1 be incurred and to what extent. Accordingly, no provision for such costs has been established. 

Guaranfees 

General guarantees as defined in Book 2, Section 403 of The Netherlands Civil Codehave been given by 

the Company on behalf of several subsidiaries in The Netherlands. The liabilities of these companies to 

third parties and unconsdidated companies totaled EUR 176 million as at March 31,2007 (2005/06 

EUR 79 million). 

Guarantees totaling EUR 31 million (2005/06 EUR 36 million) have alco been given on behalf of other 

Group companies, and guarantees totaling EUR 23 million (200W06 EUR 22 million) on behalf of 

unconsolidated companies and third parties. 

The Company's share of guarantees given by its joint venture company, Martinair Holland N.V. as at 

March 31.2007 amounts to EUR 10 million [2005/06 EUR 8 millionì. 
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Contingent assets 

Litiaa tion 

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are involved as plaintiff in litigation relating to commercial 

transactions and tax disputes. Although the ultimate disposition of asserted claims and proceedings 

cannot be predicted with cettainty, it is the opinion of the Company's management that the outcome of 

any such claims, either individually or on a combined basis, wil1 not have a material favorable effect 

on the Company's consolidated financial position, but could be material to the consolidated results of 

operations of the Company for a particular period. 

20 Revenues 

2006107 2005/06 

Services rendereá 
Passenger transport 
Cargo transport 
Maintenance contracts 
Charter and low cost business 
ûther services 

5,423 
1,162 

443 
576 
94 

5,046 
1,157 

409 
468 
121 

Total revenues 7,698 7,201 

21 External expenses 

2006/07 2005108 

Aircraft fuel 
Chartering costs 
Aircraft operating lease costs 
Landing fees and route charges 
Catering 
Handling charges and other operating costs 
Aircraft maintenance costs 
Commercial and distribution cos& 
Insurance 
Rentals and maintenance of housing 
Su b-contracting 
Hired personnel 
Other extemal expenses 

1,784 
114 
142 
61 6 
92 

352 
51 O 
394 
43 

104 
139 
144 
466 

1,382 
110 
152 
559 
91 

360 
406 
393 
47 

105 
157 
112 
429 
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22 Employee compensation and benefit expense 

2 W 0 7  2005/06 

Wages and salaries 

Social security premiums other than for state pension plans 
Share-bas& remuneration 
Pension and eariy-retirement plan costs 
Post-employment medical benefit costs 
Other long-term employee benefit costs 

1,519 

1 58 
12 
34 

(1 5) 
8 

1,449 

155 
2 

144 
(32) 

5 

Total employee compensation and benefit expenses 1,716 1,723 

Pension and eariy-retirement plan costs comprise: 

2006/07 2005/06 

Defined beneñts plans 
Defined contribution plans 

22 
12 

Defined benefit plans and early-retirement plan cos& comprise: 

2006107 2005/06 

Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Expected return on plan assets 
Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognized in year 
Past service cost 
Losses/(gains) arising from plan curltailments or 
settlements 
Other - 

Total 22 135 

31 O 
378 

(557) 
1 
6 

(18) 
3 

(3) 

In the year ended March 31,2007 the net period pension cost for the major defined benefit plans 

recognized in the income statement amounted to EUR 22 million (2005/06 EUR 135 million) and the total 

contributions paid by the Company amounted to EUR 244 million (2005/06 EUR 284 million). The 

contnbutions paid in 2006/07 include additional deficit funding in The United Kingdom amounting to 

EUR 13 million (2005/06 EUR 16 million). 

The projected defined benefit plans and early retirement plan costs for 2007108 amount to EUR 3 million. 
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Post-employment medical benefits costs comprise: 

2006107 2005106 

Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognized in year 
Losses/(gains) arising from plan curltailments or 
settlements 

- 
2 

2 
6 
4 

1 O 32 

Following the introduction of the new medical care insurance scheme (Zorgverzekeringswet) in The 

Netherlands on January 1,2006 post employment contributions for KLM have changed. As a result KLM 

have further reduced its provision in The Netherlands which has led to a curtailment gain of 

EUR 17 million in 2006/07. 

Other long-term employee benefits comprise: 

2006107 2005/06 

Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognized in year 

2 
2 
4 

2 
1 
2 

Total 5 
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Number of full-time equivalent employees: 

2006107 200W06 

Average for year 
Flight deck crew 
Cabin crew 
Ground staff 

2,837 2,693 
7,084 6,778 

20,600 20,647 

Total 

As at March 31 
Flight deck crew 
Cabin crew 
Ground staff 

2,899 
7,260 

20,612 

2,731 
6,772 

20,661 

Total 30,771 30,164 

23 Depreciation and amortisation 

2008107 2005106 

Intangible assets 
Flight equipment 
ûther property and equipment 

11 
386 
80 

10 
347 
87 

Total depreclation and amortization 477 444 

24 Gain/ (Loss) on disposal of assets 
I.., 

...a 

Gain on disposal of assets mainly relates to the sale of Tax Free Services to Amsterdam Airport Schiphol 

for an amount of EUR 11 million. 
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25 Net cost of financial debt 

2006107 2005106 

Gross cost of financial debt 
Loans from third parties 
Finance leases 
ûther interest expenses 

95 
144 

(6) 

77 
128 

(9) 

Total gross cost of financial debt 233 196 

Income from cash and cash equlvalents 
Loans to third parties 129 78 

Total lncome from cash and cash eaufvalenb 129 78 

Net cost of financial debt 104 118 

2-07 2005106 

Interest accretion on other provisions 
Foreign currency exchange gains/(losses) 
Fair value gains/(losses) 
Impairment (losses) on financial assets 

10 
19 
35 
(7) 

Total other financial Income and expense 57 19 

2006107 2005106 

Current tax expense 
Adjustment recognized in the current period for current 
and deferred tax of prior periods 
Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination 
and reversal of temporary differences 
Benefit from previously unrecognized tax locs 
Deferred tax expense/(income) resulting from 
increase/(reduction) in tax rate 

47 

(3) 

50 

86 
- 

Total income tax exmnse 63 126 
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Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences inciudes a 

release of a tax provision in The Netherlands amounting to EUR 18 million, which relates to the 

settlement of fiscal years 1995/96 through 2001/02. 

The tax rate in The Netherlands applicable as of January 1, 2007 changed from 29.1% to 25.5%. As a 

consequence, the applicable average tax rate for 2006107 changed from 29.5% to 28.6%. The impact of 

this change on deferred tax assets and liabilities as at March 31,2007 is recorded in the income tax 

expense line in the consolidated income statement. 

The average effective tax rate is reconuled to the applicable tax rate in The Netherlands as follows: 

in % 2006107 2005106 

Applicable average tax rate in The Netheriands 28.6 31 .O 
ImDact o f 
Profit free of taflondeductible expenses (0.4) (2.5) 
Use of tax loss carry-forward (1 -7) (0.2) 

Permanent differences with taxable profit (3.9) 2.0 
Difference due to tax rate changes (11.8) (2.2) 

Unutilized tax losses incurred in p a r  1.3 0.5 

Fiscal investment and other incentives 
Effecthe tax rate 11.1 28.6 

(1.0) 

27 Share-based payments 
The liability ansing from share baced payment transacüons is as follows: 

2007 2006 

Share option plan 17 8 
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The movement in the number of share options granted and the weighted average exercise pnces of 

the movements is as follows: 

Number of average Number of average 
share exercise price share exercise price 

options (in EUR) options (in EURL 

As at April 1 
Granted 
Forfeited 
Exercised 

1,452,780 14.94 1,659,268 13.97 
411,105 17.83 390,609 13.1 1 
(1 5,209) 14.38 (24,093) 16.64 

(539,548) 17.12 (538,585) 10.71 
Expired - (34,419) 32.86 
As at March 31 1,309,128 14.96 1,452,780 14.94 

Exercirabie as at March 31 70,213 528,297 

In note 22 Employee compensation and benefit expense an amount of EUR 12 million is included. 

The number of shares that can be acquired analyzed by the date of expiry of the option period is 

as follows: 

txercise 
price 

(in EUR) 2007 2006 

Option expiry date 

October 20,2006 (Option A) 
October 20,2006 (Option B) 
October 19,2007 (Option A) 
October 19,2007 (Option B) 
June 30,2008 
June 30,2009 
July 16,2010 
July 26,201 1 17.83 407,271 - 

-na amount as at March 31 1,309,128 1,452,780 

20.44 
16.22 
12.80 
10.07 
6.48 

13.19 
13.1 1 

126 

- 
27,761 
8,604 

33,848 
446,l O0 
385,544 

332,170 
48,762 

1 17,402 
29,963 
82,611 

451,263 
390,609 
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Share option plan 

As an incentive to make a longer-term commitment to the Company share purchase options on Air 

France KLM S.A. shares are granted to senior employees on the basis of their reaching agreed personal 

performance targets. The maximum number of options that may be granted to an individual employee in 

any year is related to their job grade. At the grant date one-third of the options granted vest with a fwther 

one-third after the expiration of one and two years respecüvely. Vesting is conditional on the Company 

achieving predetermined performance criteria. For the option series other than those with an expiry date 

of July 16,2010 and July 26,201 1 vesting conditions other than those described above applied. 

Subject to restrictions relating to the prevention of insider-trading, options may be exercised at any time 

between the third and the fifth anniversary of the day of grant. After five years the outstanding options 

are forfeiteâ. Options are ais0 fafeited when employees leave the Company's employment. 

The exercise price of an option is based on the weighted average price of Air France KLM SA. shares as 
calculated by Bloomberg on the first working day after the Air France KLM S.A. Annual General Meeting 

(prior to May 4,2004 the exercise price was based on the Company's share price on the first working day 

after the AGM). 

Prior to the merger between Air France and KLM, the options were granted on the Company's shares. As 
a consequence of the merger, the options granted on KLM shares were converted int0 options on Air 
France KLM S.A. shares. This conversion took place on the basis of the conversion formula for KLM 

options iiited on the Euronext Amsterdam Exchange. As a result of this conversion, the exercise price of 
the options granted as at May4,2004 was lowered by a factor 1.147 and the number of outstanding 

options was increased by the same factor. 

For 2001 and 2002, following the introducüon of tax legislation enabling option recpients to eiect for 

taxation upon the vesting of an option or upon the exerase of an option, the share option pian was 
amended to allow recipients to chose between two types of option (A or 8)  as follows: 

Opüon A 
An exercise price that is equal to a percentage of the vesting price such that the taxable value of the 

option is 4% of the value of the KLM share option. 

Opüon 6 
An exerase price that is equal to the vesting price. 

From 2003 onwards recipients are offered a single plan whereby tax is payable on exercise of the option 

with the exercise price being equal to the vesting price. 
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Fair value measurement 

The fair value of the share-based payments has been determined using the Black-Scholes formula. 

The main assumptions used in the calculations are as follows: 

2007 2006 

Fair value at grant date 
Share price (in EUR, Closing price March 31, AEX 
Amsterdam) 
Volatility (%) 
Risk free rate (%) 
Dividend yield (%) 

3.37 

34.15 
25.2 
4.0 
1.1 

2.30 

19.53 
22.0 
2.9 
3.2 

28 Supervisory Board remuneration 

2006107 2005106 
As As 

Supervisory As Supervisory As 
Board Committee Board Commlttee 

íAmoun9 In EURI member member Total member member Total 

K.J. Stom 
J.D.F. Martre 
1.P Asscher-Vonk 
J.D.F.C. Blanchet 
B. Geersing 
H. Guillaume 
W. Kok 
R. Laan 
H.N.J. Smits 

36,302 
29,495 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 

906 

1,359 
906 

4,083 
1,359 
2,722 

37,208 
29,495 
22,689 
22,689 
24,048 
23,595 
26,772 
24,048 
25,411 

36,302 
29,495 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 
22,689 

1,359 

- 
906 

1,359 
2,722 

906 
4,083 

37,661 
29,495 
22,689 
22,689 
23,595 
24,048 
25,411 
23,595 
26,772 

Total 224,620 11,335 235,955 224,620 11,335 235,955 

For further information on the remuneration policy relating to Supervisory Board members, see the 

Remuneration Policy and Report in the Board and Govemance section. The fees paid to the Supervisory 

Board are not linked to the Company's results. 
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Other transactions with Supervisory Board members 

Apart from the transactions described above there were no other transactions such as loans OT advances 

to or from or guarantees given on behalf of members of the Supervisory Board. 

29 Board of Managing Directors remuneration 

Base incentive Targets Termination 
(Amounta In EUR) salary plan achieved Pension beneîits Total 

2006107 
L.M. Van Wijk 
P.F. Hartman 
F.N.P. Gagey 

675,679 
576,160 
374,971 

462,041 Pattially 186,000 
393,988 Partially 152,000 
260,338 Partially - 

- 1,323,720 
- 1,122,148 - 635,309 

Total 1,626,810 1,116,367 - 338,000 

Base incentive Targets Termination 
(Amounb in EUR) salary plan achieved Pension benefits Total 

2W!ü06 
L.M. Van Wijk 
P.F. Hartrnan 
F.N.P. Gagey 
C. Van Woudenberg 
(to June 30,2005) 

666,083 467,415 
567,979 398,572 
352,625 247,450 

Fully 177,000 
Fully 144,ooO 
Fully - 

120,438 72,985 Pattially 37,500 

1,310,498 
1,110,551 

600,075 

230,923 

Total 1,707,125 1.1 86,422 358 , 500 - 3,252,047 

For details of the remuneration policy see the Remuneration Policy and Report in the Board anQ 
Govemance section. 

Short-term incentive plan 

For a description of the short-term incentive plan, we refer to the section Remuneration Policy and 

Report. 
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Other allowances and benefits in kind 

In addition to the base salary the members of the Board of Managing Directors were entitled to other 

allowances and benefits including a company car and customary plans such as disability insurance, 

telephone costs and fixed monthly allowances for business expenses not otherwise reimbursed. 

Pension costs 

The pension costs represent the service cost of the defined benefit plan obligations. Mr. Gagey's pension 

and social security costs are borne by Air France. 

External supervisory board memberships 

Members of the Board of Managing Directors received fees totaling EUR 345,000 (2005/06 

EUR 272,000). These amounts were fully ceded to the Company. 

Other transactions with mernbers of the Board of Managing Directors 

Apart from the transactions described above there were no other transactions such as loans or advances 

to or from or guarantees given on behaîf of members of the Board of Managing Directors. 

Long-term incentive plan 

As an incentive to make a longer-term commitment to the Company options on Air France KLM shares 

are granted to members of the Board of Managing Directors on the basis of their reaching agreed 

personal performance targets. The maximum number of options that may be granted in any year is 

25,000. For further information see note 27. 

Subject to restnctions relating to the prevention of insider-trading, options may be exercised at any time 

between the third and the ñfth anniversary of the day of grant. After five years the outstanding options 

are forfeited. 
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The members of the Board of Managing Directors had the following positions with respect to options on 

shares in Air France KLM S.A. at March 31 , 2007: 
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granted Total 
(number of Average outstanding 
shares that Exercise Number of share as at 

canbe priceper options price at March 31, 
(hwnts in EUR) acquireâ) share Expiry date exercised exercise 2007 

L.M. Van Wj& 
2001 
2002 
2003 
2004 
2005 
2006 

28,686 
28,686 
28,686 
28,686 
25.000 
25,000 

20.44 October 20,2006 
12.80 October 19,2007 
6.48 June 30,2008 
13.19 June 30,2009 
13.1 1 July 16,2010 
17.83 July 26,201 1 

28,686 
28.686 
28I686 

24.26 
17.49 
16.44 

- 
- - 

28,686 
25,000 
25,000 

164,744 86,058 78,686 

P. F. Hartman 
2001 28,686 20.44 October 20,2006 28,686 23.05 - 
2002 28,686 12.80 October 19,2007 28,686 17.25 - 
2003 28,686 6.48 June 30,2008 28,686 15.76 - 
2004 28,686 13.19 June 30,2009 - 28,686 
2005 25,000 13.11 July 16,2010 25,000 
2006 25,000 17.83 July 26,201 1 25,000 

164,744 86,058 78,WS 

F. N. P. Gagey 
2005 
2006 

25,000 
25,000 

13.11 July 16,2010 
17.83 July 26,201 1 

25,000 
25,000 

Total 379,488 172,116 207,372 

At March 31,2007 of the 25,000 share options granted to each Board member in respect of 2005, two-thirds have vested 

unconditionally and of îhe 25,000 share options granted to each Board member in respect of 2006, one-third has vested 
uncondiionally 

Both Mr. Van Wijk and Mr. Hartman have 10,572 warrants Air France KLM S.A. (series 1999:1,152 and 

series 2000: 9,420). Both series expire November 2007. 

As at March 31,2007 Mr. Van Wijk and Mr. Gagey held 500 and 900 shares Air France KLM S.A. 

respectiiely. Mr. Hartman had no interest in Air France KLM SA. other than the options and warrants 

described above. 
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30 Related party transactions 

The Group has interests in vanous associates and joint ventures in which it has either significant 

influence in but not control or joint control over operating and financial policy. Transactions with these 

parties, some of which are significant, are negotiated at commercial conditions and prices which are not 

more favorable than those which would have been negotiated with third parties on an arm's length basis. 

In addition dividends have been received from those interests (see note 3). 

The following transactions were camed out with related parties: 

2006107 2005106 

Sales of goods and services 
Air France KLM Group companies 
Associates 
Joint ventures 

135 
11 
33 

62 
12 
35 

Purchases of goods and services 
Air France KLM Group companies 
Associates 
Joint ventures 

136 
1 

29 

82 
3 

27 

For details of the year-end balances of amounts due to and from related parties see notes 7 and 17. No 

loans were granted to or received from related parties during 2005/06 and 2006/07. 

For information relating to transactions with members of the Supervisory Board and Board of Managing 

Directors see note 27 to 29. 
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31 Primary segment reporting 

R.m>Cn 
Revenue external 5.423 5,046 1,162 1.157 443 409 670 589 - 7.698 7,201 
Revenue inîernal 257 225 20 23 575 510 169 195 (1,021) (953) 
Total mmnue 5,680 5,271 1,182 1,180 1,018 919 839 704 (1,021) (963) 7,698 7,201 
operstina woriv( bs) 478 372 71 116 (3) 6 55 46 8 0 3 5 4 0  

Share of reaults of equity 
sharshadkigr 
Financial income and 
expe- 
Gainí(W) on disposal of 
aneta 
Income IaXe expence 

ASSETS 
illtallgibk assets 10 - 15 - Z o 4 4  
FiiM equipmenl 2.462 2,277 612 618 312 299 443 518 
Omer propertv. plant and 
equipmenl 102 106 67 71 273 280 319 316 
Trade receivables 473 381 157 138 91 108 98 161 

4 5 4 4  
3,829 3,712 '.' 

761 775 
819 788 _ -  _ _  

Other asaeb 573 572 28 58 229 104 4,244 3.993 5.074 4,807 
w4 I 5  O20 871 5,124 5- 10,620 10,121 ldrl auots 3,620 333a 

LUBIUTIES 
ihferred revenue on sales 583 517 4 6 31 37 26 51 844 611 

3,355 3,762 732 902 164 130 2,607 2,161 6.- 6,955 
' Other l i e b i l i  

Total IWRtl.I 3 , w  4m 736 a08 les 167 2,633 rn 2 7,aZ 7- 
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32 Secondary segment reporting 

turope, Caribbean, Africa, 
Revenues by North Indian Middle Americas Asia, New 
destination Africa Ocean East Polynesia Caledonia Total 

2006/07 
Scheduled passenger 
Other passenger 

1,752 191 92 1 1,226 1,098 5,188 

revenues 79 9 42 55 50 235 
Total passenger 
revenues 1,831 200 963 1,281 1,148 5,423 

294 610 1,107 Scheduled cargo 23 24 156 
Other cargo revenues 1 1 8 15 30 55 

Total cargo revenues 24 25 164 309 640 1,162 

Maintenance 443 - 443 
Other revenues 670 670 
Total maintenance and 

Total revenues by 
destination 

- - - 

other 1,113 - - - 1,113 

2005/06 
Scheduled passenger' 1,663 186 852 1,110 980 4,791 
Other passenger 
revenues' a8 10 46 59 52 255 
Total passenger 
revenues 1,751 196 898 1,169 1,032 5,046 

Scheduled cargo 24 22 138 283 639 1,106 
Other cargo revenues 1 1 6 13 30 51 

Total cargo revenues 25 23 144 296 669 1,157 

Maintenance 409 409 - - - Other revenues 589 589 
Total maintenance and - - - .. other 998 998 
Total revenues by 
destination 2,774 219 1,042 - 1,701 7201 -- 

Adjusted for cornparison purposes as a result of an irnproved allocati rnethod. 

Geographical analysis of assets: The major revenueearning asset of the group is the aircraft fleet, the 

majority of which are registered in The Netherlands. Since the Group's aircraft fleet is empîoyed flexibly 

across its worldwide route network, there is no suitable basis of aîlocating such assets and related 

liabilities to geographical segments. 
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33 Subsidiaries 

The following is a list of the Company's significant subsidiaries as at March 31, 2006 and 2007: 

Proportion of 
Country of ûwnership voting power 

Name incorpomtion %-interest held (in StL 

Transavia Airlines C.V. 
KLM Ciiopper B.V. 
KLM Cityhopper UK Ltd. 
KLM UK Engineering Ltd. 
European Pneumatic Component Overhaul & 
Repair B.V. 
KLM Catering Services Schiphol B.V. 
KLM Flight Academy B.V. 
KLM Heaith Services B.V. 
KLM Equipment SeMces B.V. 
KLM Financial Services B.V. 
Cygnific B.V. 
KLM Ground Services Ltd. 

The Netherlands 
The Netherlands 
United Kingdom 
United Kingdom 

The Netherlands 
The Netheriands 
The Netheriands 
The Netherlands 
The Netherlands 
The Netherlands 
The Netherlands 
United Kingdom 

100 
1 O0 
1 O0 
100 

100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 

100 
100 
100 
100 

100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
1 O0 
1 O0 
1 O0 
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KLM Royal Dutch Airlines 
Company balance sheet 
In mlllions of Eums 

March 31, March 31, 
Note 2007 2006 

After approptietlon of the net resuit 

ASSETS 
Noncurrent assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 
investments accounted for using the equity method 
Financial assets 
ûerivative financial instruments 
Pension assets 

Current assets 
Financial assets 
Derivative financial instruments 
Inventories 
Current income tax assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 

TOTAL ASSETS 

EQUITY 
Capital and reserves 
Share capital 
Share premium 
Other reserves 
Retained eamings 
Total attrlbutable to Company’s equlty holders 

LIABILITIES 
Noncurrent llabllltler 
Financial liabilities 
Finance lease obligations 
Derivative financial instruments 
Deferred income ” 
Deferred income tax liabilities 
Provisions 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Financial liabilities 
Finance lease obligations 
Derivative financial instruments 
Deferred income 
Current income tax liabilities 
Provisions 

Total Iiablllties 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

34 

35 
36 
5 

3,737 
36 

291 
690 
208 

15 2,074 
7,036 

36 
5 

37 

148 
114 
1 74 

6 
1,271 

38 1,241 
2,954 

39 

39 

9,990 

94 
474 
126 

2,331 
3,025 

40 
41 
5 
42 
43 
44 

45 
40 
41 
5 

42 

44 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of îhese Company financial statements 

For comparison purposes the fiscal year 2005/06 ñgures have been reûassiñed 
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1,197 
2.021 

137 
117 
529 
1 53 

4.1 54 

1,553 
61 

578 
a5 

494 

40 
2,811 
6,965 

9,990 

3,605 
37 

582 
663 
264 

1.873 
7,024 

652 
256 
168 

1,279 
- 

518 
2,673 
9,897 

94 
474 
165 

1 826 2,559 

1,204 
2,509 

115 
96 

499 
200 

4,623 

1,553 
7 

437 
153 
503 

9 
53 

2,715 
7 338 

9,97 



KLM RoyaI Dutch Airlines 

Company income statement 
In millions of Euros 

2006107 2005106 

Income from subsidianes after taxation 

Net result of KLM N.V. after taxation 

Net result after taxation 

The m p a n y i n g  &es am an integral pari of these Company financial statements 

138 
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Notes to the Company financial statements 
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General 
The Company financial statements are part of the 2006107 financial statements of KLM Royal Dutch 

Airlines (the "Company"). 

As permiited by Section 402 of Book 2 of The Netherlands Civil Codethe Company income statement has 

been presented in condensed form. 

Significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Company financial statements are set 

out below. These policies have been consistently applied to al1 the years presented, unless othennrise 

stated. 

Principles for the measurement of assets and liabilities and the 

determination of the result 
In determining the principles to be used for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and 

the determination of the result for its separate financial statements, the Company makes use of the option 

provided in Section 362(8) of Book 2 of The Dutch Civil Code. This section permits companies to apply 

the same principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and determination of the 

result (hereinafter referred to as principles for recognition and measurement) of the Company financial 
statements as those applied for the consolidated EU GAAP financial statements. 
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Participating interests, over which significant influence is exercised, are stated on the basis of the equity 

method. The share in the result of pafticipating interests comprises the share of the Company in the result 

of these participating interests. Results on transactions, where the transfer of assets and liabilities 

between the Company and its participating interests and mutually betwwn participating interests 

themselves, are not incorporated insofar as they can be dwmed to be unrealized. 

Al1 amounts (unless specifd othetwise) are stated in millions of Euros (EUR million). 

For notes and/or details, which are not explained in the notes to the Company financial statements 

reference is made to the notes and/or details of the Consdidated financial statements. 
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34 Property, plant and equipment 

Flight oqulpmnt Mh.r proparty and oqulpment 

Ownd Leased ûtherflight Land and Equlpment ûther proparty 
alrcrafi airenft oquipnwnt Total bulldings and fittings and oquipnunt Total Pmpaynwntm Total 

/f/St&C8/ COSt 
As at April 1, 2005 348 1,820 721 2,069 603 505 8s 1,194 348 4,431 
Addiuons 1 356 140 497 14 11 25 33 555 

Dispoeals (9) - (26) (35) (3) (2) (5) (40) 
Reclassifcatiis 39 (41) 63 61 5 39 8 52 (127) (14) 

Acquisitbn of subsidiiries 
Cum~lcy trandatkm diïferences 
Other movements 
Am al Mamh 31, Noó 379 2,135 8S0 3,412 S U  552 92 1,2SS 254 4,932 

Accumul8tefi depreclation 
end impalnnent 
AsatAprii1,2005 
Depreciation 
Dipoaai8 
Currency translatii diïferences 
Redassifkations 

38 135 
38 127 

330 503 
101 266 

39 
38 

38s 
30 

59 484 
6 74 

- 987 - 340 

Other nuwement6 
k al Mamh 3 1 , m  7s 2s2 431 769 TI 41 S s5 558 - 1,327 

FIbM eq uipnnt 0th.r piop.rty and oqulpmont 

owmd LM.d 0th.rMght Landand Equipment 0th.rprop.ity 
almmft aimrafi oquipnmnt Totrl buldinpr andñtüngsandoquipmant Total Pnprvmr nb Tohi 

Hkt0rlC.l Cost 

AddluonS 
R e c l a s h  tio n s 
Disposals 
Acquisition of subsidiiries 
Currency translation difierences 
Other mwements 
As at Mareh 31,2007 S70 2,1a 945 3,783 605 582 85 1,252 221 525s 

k at April 1,2008 

Accumulf?ted depmci8tlon 
8nd Impaim>ent 

h a l  April 1,2006 
üepreciatbn 
Disposals 
Cunency transiatkn difierences 
Reclassifmtions 

379 2135 
92 229 

199 (196) 

552 
39 
(29) 

7s 
66 

z(iz 
139 

122 (142) 

431 769 
101 306 

n 
36 

41s 
28 

(15 558 
5 69 

- 1,327 
375 

ûther movements 
k a t  Mamh 31,2007 264 259 416 939 99 421 6 0 5 8 0  - 1,519 

k al Ma&h 31,200S 303 1,873 4sl 2,s43 ws 136 27 700 254 3,- 
As at Mamh 31,2007 40s 1,909 529 2,844 500 141 25 S72 221 3,737 

2006/07 reclassifications mainly relate to the transfer from financial leased aircraft to owned aircraft. 
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The assets include assets which are held as securiîy for mortgages and loans as follows: 

Aircraft 
Land and buildings 
Other property and equipment 

166 
165 
10 

27 
I 70 
10 

341 207 

Bonowing costs capitalized during the year amounted to EUR 6 million (2005/06 EUR 9 million). 

The interest rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalized was 4% 

(2005/06: 4.25%). 

Land and buildings includes buildings located on land which has been leased on a long-term basis. 

The book value of these buildings as at March 31,2007 was EUR 326 million (2005/06 EUR 343 million). 

For details of comm'hents to purchase flight equipment and other property, plant and equipment and 

related prepayments see note 18. 

35 Investments accounted for using the equity method 

Subsidiaries 
Associates 
Joint ventures 
Jointly controlled entities 

1 32 
58 
77 
24 

441 
49 
92 

Canylng amount 291 582 
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March 31, March 31. 
2007 2006 

Subsidiaries 

Carrying amount as at April 1 

Movements 
Investments 
Share of profití(l0ss) after taxation 
Dividends received 
Foreign currency translation differences 
Other movements 

441 363 

4 
75 
(7) 
3 
3 

Net movement (309) 78 
Carrying amount 132 441 

For details of the Group’s investments in subsidiaries see note 33 to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

For details of the Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures see note 3 to the consolidated 

financial statements. 

36 Financial assets 

Mamh 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

Carrying amount per the consolldated financial statements 
(See note 4) 727 1,203 

Financial assets canied in the balance sheets of the consolidated 
subsidiary companies 111 112 

Canying amount 838 1,315 

Non-current portion 
Current portion 

690 
148 

663 
652 

m 

m 
U 

Canying amount 838 1.31 5 
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37 Trade and other receivables 

March 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

Trade receivables 
Provision trade receivables 
Trade receivables - net 

Amounts due from subsidiaries 
Amounts due from Air France KLM group companies 
Amounts due from associates and joint ventures 
Amounts due from maintenance contract customers 
Taxes and social security premiums 
Other receivables 
Prepaid expenses 

768 
(15) 
753 

240 
31 
11 
91 
18 
40 
87 

774 
(21) 
753 

230 
20 
12 
63 
20 
55 

126 

Total 1.271 1.279 

i. Maintenance contract costs incurred to date (Iess recognized losses) for contracts in progress at 

March 31, 2007 amounted to EUR 81 million (2005/06 EUR 53 million). Advances received for 

maintenance contracts in progress at March 31,2007 amounted to EUR 19 million 

(2005/06 EUR 13 million). 

38 Cash and cash equivalents 

March 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

Cash at bank and in hand 
Short-term deposits 

91 
1,150 

84 
434 

The effective interest rates on short-term deposits are in the range 3.58% to 5.33% (2005/06 range 

2.1 3% to 7.00%). The short-term deposits have an original maturity of less than 3 months. The major part 

of short-term deposits is invested in money market instmments or in liquid funds with daily acces to 

cash. 
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39 Share capital and other reserves 

For details of the Company's share capital and movements on other reserves see note 9 and 10 to the 

consolidated financial statements. For details of the Company's equity see the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity. 

The Company has legal reserves relating to non distributable reserves of investments accounted for 

using the equity method amounting to EUR 99 million as at March 31, 2007 (2005/06 105 million). In 

addition the Company has legal reserves for hedging, translation and statutoty reserves. Reference is 

made to note 10. 

40 Financial liabilities 

March 31, March 31, 
2007 2006 

Carrying amount per the consolidated financlal statements 
(See note 11) 

Financial liabilities carried in the balance sheets of the 
consolidated subsidiary com panies 

1,136 

122 

717 

494 

Carryin- 1,253 1,211 

Non-current portion 
Current portion 

1,197 
61 

1,204 
7 

-mount 1,258 1,211 
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41 Finance lease obligations 

Canying amount per the consolidated financial statements 
(Sw note 12) 3,113 3,600 

Lease obligations carried in the balance sheets of the consolidated 
subsidiary companies * 2,599 2,946 

Non-current portion 
Current portion 

2,021 
578 

2,509 
437 

Canying amount 2,599 2,946 

42 Deferred income 

March 31,2007 March 31,2006 
Non- Non- 

Current current Current current 

Advance ticket sales 
Government investment grant 
Sale and leaseback transactions 
Flying Blue frequent flyer program 

477 
2 
9 
6 

63 

15 
39 

- 
476 

4 
13 
10 

36 
2 

27 
31 

Total 494 117 503 96 

For comparison purposes within Air France KLM the Flying Blue frequent flyer program has been 

reclassified from other provisions (note 44) to deferred income. Comparative figures March 31,2006 have 

been reclassified. 
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43 Deferred income tax 

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

2006107 2005106 

Carrying amount as at April 1 

Movements: 
Incorne statement charge 
Tax (credited)/charged to equity 

499 389 

101 
(6) 

ûther movements (6) 15 
Net movement 30 110 
Canying amount as at March 31 529 499 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the Same 

fiscal authority. The offset amounts are as follows: 

Deferred tax assets: 
- Deferred tax assets to be seítled in 12 months or less 
- Deferred tax assets to be seffled after more than 12 months 

66 1 O0 
74 144 

140 244 

Deferred tax liabilities 
- Deferred tax liabilities to be seffled in 12 rnonths or less 61 71 
- Deferred tax liabilities to be seffled after more than 12 months 608 672 

669 743 
Carryi-31 529 499 
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The movement in deferreá tax assets and liabilities, without taking into consideration the offsetting of 

balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: 

Carrying statement chargedl Canying 
amount as charge/ (creâited) ûther amount as 

at April 1 (credit) to equity movements at March 31 

Deferred tax assets 
2005/06 

Tax losses 
Investment grant settled with 
tax authority 
Fleet assets 
Fleet related assets 
(maintenance) 

1 o9 

44 
203 

11 

57 

44 
168 

11 

Pensions & benefds provisions - 
Maintenance provisions 11 (1) 
Financial lease 16 (6) 
ûther 14 (11) 

10 
10 
3 - 

Total 408 (83) - (22) 303 

Deferred tax assets 
2006m7 

Tax losses 
Investment grant settled with 
tax authonty 
Fleet assets 
Fleet related assets 
(maintenance) 

Pensions 8 benefds provisions 
Maintenance provisions 
Financial lease 
ûther 

57 

44 
168 

11 

- 
10 
10 
3 

(3) 
(3) 

(3) 

(39) 
18 

10 

14 

145 

16 

15 

7 

Total 303 (97) J9) 197 
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Income Tax 
Carrying statement chargedl Carrying 

amount as charge/ (credited) Other amount as at 
at April 1 (credit) to equity movements March 31 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 
2005106 

Fleet assets 

ûther tangible fixed assets 

Pensions & benefits (asset) 
Maintenance provisions 
Derivatives 
Other 

60 

67 

537 
34 
62 
37 

(5) 

20 
(1 1 

12 

45 

62 

557 
33 
56 
49 

Total 797 11 802 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 
2006/07 

Fleet assets 

Other tangible fixed assets 

Pensions 8 benefits (asset) 
Maintenance provisions 
Derivatives 
ûther 

45 

62 

557 
33 
56 
49 

45 

52 

541 
50 
37 

1 

Total 802 (43) (1 8) (15) 726 - 

Tax ñscal unlty 

The Cornpany, together with other subsidianes in The Netheriands, has entered int0 a fiscal unity for the 

purpose of filing consolidated corporation tax and VAT returns. As a result, every legal entity in this tax 
group is jomtly and severally liable for the tax debts of al1 the legal entities foming the group. 
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44 Provisions 

2007 2006 

Employee benefits 
Reorganization and restructunng 
Phasing-out costs of operational lease aircraft 

137 
2 

30 

166 
7 

57 
ûîher 24 23 

Currenthon-current portion 
Non-current portion 153 200 
Current poruon 40 53 

a m o u n t  as at March 31 193 253 

45 Trade and other payables 

Trade p a p  bles 
Amounts due to subsidiaries 
Amounts due to Air France KLM Group companies 
Amounts due to maintenance contract customers 
Taxes and social security premiums 
Other payables 
Accrued liabilities 

580 
264 
60 
31 
61 

169 
388 

549 
269 
38 
28 
63 

135 
471 

Total 

U 
U 

U 
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Other notes 

For information relating to share-based payments, Supervisory Board and Board of Managing Directors 

remuneration see note 27 to 29. 

Amstelveen, June 11, 2007 

The Board of Managing Directors 

Leo M. van Wijk 

Peter F. Hartman 

Frédéric N.P. Gagey 

The Supewisory Board 

Kees J. Stom 

J.F. Henri Martre 

Irene P. Asscher-Vonk 

Jean-Didier F.C. Blanchet 

Bauke Geersing 

Henri Guillaume 

Wim Kok 

Remmert Laan 

Hans N.J. Smits 
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ûther Information 

Auditors’ Report 

To the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 

Report on the flnanclal statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of KLM Royal Dutch Airlines, 

Amstelveen for the year ended March 31,2007 as set out on the pages 53 to 150. The financial 

statements consist of the consolidated financial statements and the company financial 

statements. The consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet as 

at March 31, 2007, the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow 

statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory notes. The company financial statements comprise the company balance sheet as 

at March 31,2007, the company income statement for the year then ended and the notes. 

Management’s responsibliíty 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 

Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of The Dutch Civil Code, and for the preparation of the report of 
the Board of Managing Directors in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of The Dutch CMI Code. 
This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining intemal control relevant to 

the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free fmm material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecüng and applying appropriate 

policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

accounting 

Audltors ’ responslbllity 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law. This law mquires that we comply with ethica1 

requirements and plan and perfonn the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers intemal control relevant to the ent i is  preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity's intemal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as wel1 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion. 

Oplnlon wltli respect to the consolidated flnanclal statements 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of KLM Royal Dutch Airlines as at March 31,2007, and of its result and its cash flow for 

the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 

by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of The Dutch Civil Code. 

ûpinion wlth mspecf to the company ñnanclal statements 
In our opinion, the company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of KLM Royal Dutch Airlines as at March 31, 2007, and of its mui t  for the year then 

ended in accorâance with Part 9 of Book 2 of The Dut& Civil Code. 

Report on other legal and mgulatory requlmments 

Pursuant to the legal requirement under 2:393 sub 5 part e of The Dutch Civil Code, we report, 
to the extent of our competence, that the report of the Board of Managing Directors is consistent 

with the financial statements as required by 2:391 sub 4 of The Dutch Civil Code. 

Amstelveen/ Rotterdam, June 11 , 2007 

KPMG ACCOUNTANTS N.V. 

T. van der Heijden RA 

DELOITTE ACCOUNTANTS B.V. 

D.A. Sonneveldt RA 
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Provisions of the Articies of Association on the Distribution of Profit 

H 

Unofficial transiation of Articie 32 of the Articies of Association of 

KLM Royal Dutch Aitlines 

1. Out of the profit established in the adopted financial statements, an amount may first be set 
aside by the meeting of priority shareholden in order to establish or increase resetves. The 

meeting of prioriîy shareholders shall only do 80 after consultation of the Board of Managing 

Directors and the Supervisory Board. 

2. So far as possible and permitted by applicable statute, the remainder of the profit shall be 

distributed as follows: 
a) the holders of prhity shares shall receive first the statutory interest percentage 

prevailing on the last day of the fiscal year concemed, with a maximum of five per 

cent (5%) of the paid up amount per priority share; if and to the extent that the profit 

is not sufíicient to make the full aforementbned distribuüon on the priority shares, in 

subsequent years a distribution to the holders of priority shares shall first be made to 

recompense this shortfall entirely before the following paragraph may be given effect; 

b) next the holders of cumulative preference shares-A shall receive six per cent (6%) of 

the par value of their cumulative pmference shares-A or - in the case of not fully 
paid-up shares - of the obligatory amount paid thereon; in the event and to the extent 

the profit is not sufficient to fully make the aforementioned distribution on the 

cumulative pmference shares-A, the deficiency shall, to the extent pomible and 

permitted by applicable statute, be distributed out of the frwly distributable reserves 
with the exception of the share premium reserves; in the event and to the extent that 

the aforementioned distribution on the cumulative preference shares-A can also not 
be made out of such reserves, there shall in the following years first be made a 

distribution to the holders of cumulative preference shares-A to the effect that such 

shortfall is fully recovered before effect is given to what is provided hereinafter in this 

paragraph 2; 
c) next the holders of preference shares-B shall receive five per cent (5%) of the par 

value of their preference shares-B or - in the case of not fully paid-up shares - of the 
amount obligatorily paid thereon; 

1 53 

o o 



d) next the holders of preference shares-B shall receive one half per cent (%%) of the 

par value of their shares or - in the case of not fully paid-up shares - of the amount 

obligatorily paid thereon for each per cent of the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of 
the profa to the revenues mentioned in the adopted consolidated pmñt and toss 

account, with the understanding that this dividend percentage shall not be in excess 

of five per cent (5%) of the nomina1 amount of the issued common shares: 

e) subsequently, on each cumulative preference share-C of a series a dividend shall be 

paid which is equal to a percentage of the amount which has been paid up on the 

share, calculated by taking the arithmetic average of the effective yield on the 

govemment loans to be described below under letter (9, as drawn up by the Central 

Bureau for Statistics and published in the officiële Prijscourant of Eumnext 

Amsterdam N.V. for the last five (5) stock exchange days prior to the day on which a 

cumulative preference share-C of the series in question was issued for the first time, 

possibly increased by a supplement established by the Board of Managing Directors 

and appmved by the Supervisory Board and the meeting of prionty shareholders in 

the amount of a maximum of one hundred and thirty-five (135) basic points, 

depending on the market circumstances which shall prevail at that time, which 

supplement may be different for each series; 

9 govemment loans mentioned under the letter (e) of this paragraph shall be deemed 
to mean the govemment loans to the debit of the State of The Netheriands with a 
(remaining) life of seven to eight years. If the effective yield on these govemment 

loans has not been drawn up by the Central Bureau for Statistics, or has not been 

published in the officiële Prijscourant of Euronext Amsterdam N.V., as the time of 

the calculation of the dividend percentage, then the govemment loans referred to 

under the letter (e) shall be deemed to be the govemment loans to the debit of the 

State of The Netheriands with a (remaining) life which is as close as possible to a 
(remaining) iiie of seven to eight years, the efîective yieid of which has been drawn 

up and published by the Central Bureau far Statistics at the time of the calcuiation of 

the dividend percentage as stated above, on the proviso that the maximum 

(remaining) iife is eight years; 
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g) on the date on which the cumulative preference shares4 of the series in question 

have been outstanding for eight years, for the first time, and themafter evety 

subsequent eight years, the dividend percentage of cumulative pference share9-C 

of the series in question wil1 be adjusted to the effedie yield of the govemment 

loans referred to in the preceding subparagraphs which is valid at that time, 

calculated in the manner as desuibed in the foregoing, but on the proviso that the 
average referred to shall be calculated over the last five (5) exchange days prior to 
the day as of which the dividend percentage shall be adjushl, possibly increased by 

a supplement established by the Board of Managing Directors and approved by the 
Supervisoty Board and the meeting of Mority shamhdders in the amount of a 

maximum of one hundred and thirty-fie (1 35) basic points, depending on the market 
circumstances which shall prevail at that time, which supplement may be different for 

each series. If the dividend percentage is adjusted in the course of a financial year, 

then for the calculation of the dividend over that financial year, the percentage which 

applied before the adjustment shall apply up to the day of adjustment, and as from 

that day, the adjusted percentage; 

h) if and to the extent that profits are not sufficient to make full payment of the dividend 
on the cumulative preference shares4 referred to in this paragraph, the shortfall wil1 

be paid and charged to the reserves, to the extent that such action is not contrary to 

the provisions of Article 105, paragraph 2 of Book 2 of the Dut& Civil Code. if and to 
the extent that the payment referred to in this paragraph cannot be charged to the 

reserves, then a payment wil1 be made from the profits to the holders of cumulative 

preference shares4 such that the shortfall is fully paid up before the provisions 

stated in the following letters of the paragraph are applied. For the application of the 

provisions stated under this present letter (h), the holders of the various series of 

cumulative preference shares4 shall receive equal treatment. No further payment 

shall be made on the cumulative preference shares4 than those determined in this 

Artide, in Artide 11 paragraph 6 and in Artide 42; interim payments made in 

accordance with the provisions of paragraph 4 of this Artide for a financial year wil1 
be deductsd from the payments made pursuant to this paragraph; 

i) if, in the financial year for which the payment referred to above takes place, the 
amount paid in on the cumulative preference shares-C of a certain series has been 

reduced, the payment wil1 be reduced by an amount equal to the aforementioned 

percentage of the amount of the reduction calculated from the time of the reduction; 
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j) if the profits over a financial year have been established and in that financial year 
one or more cumulative preference shares-C have been withdrawn with repayment, 

then those who were listed in the registry referred to in Article 9 as holders of those 

cumulative preference shares-C at the time of such withdrawal shall have an 

inalienable right to payment of profits as described hereinafter. The profits which are 

to be paid (if possible) to such a holder of cumulative preference shares4 shall be 

equal to the amount of the payment to which such a holder would be entiiled to the 

grounds of the provisions of this paragraph if, at the time at which profits were 

determined, he were still a holder of the aforementioned cumulative preference 

shares-C calculated in proportion to the duration of the period during which he was a 

holder of those cumulative preference shares-C in saki financial year, from which 

payment shall be deducted the amount of the payment which was made pursuant to 

the provisions of Article 32; 
k) if, in the course of a given financial year, issuance of cumulative preference shares-C 

has taken place, then for that financial year the dividend on the shares in questions 

wil1 be decreased in proportion to the time passed until the first day of issuance; 

I )  the reminder wil1 be received by the holders of common shares in proportion to the 
par value of their common shares to the extent the general meeting of shareholders 

does not make further appropriations for reserves in addition to any reserves 

established pursuant to paragraph 1 of this Article. 

3. On the recommendation of the Board of Managing Directors and after approval of such 

recommendation by the Supervisory Board and the meeting of priority shareholders, the 

general meeting of shareholders may decide that payments to shareholders shall be wholly 

or partly effected by issuing shares of the same type of capita1 stock of the Company as the 

type of the shares to which these payments relate. 

4. As far as possible and subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the meeting of 

priority shareholders may resolve to distribute one or more interim dividends against the 

expected dividend, provided that an interim statement of assets and liabilities demonstrates 

that the Company meets the requirements of Article 105, paragraph 2 Book 2 of the Dut& 
Civil Code. This interim statement of assets and liabilities shall be drawn up, signed and 

made public according to the specifications contained in paragraph 4 of the statutory 

provision mentioned above. 

5. Subject to the approval of the Supewisory Board, the meeting of priority shareholders may, 

to the extent possible and permitted by law, resolve to make a distribution to the holders of 
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common shares out of one or more of the freely distributable reserves with the exception of 

the share premium reserves. 

6. Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the meeting of priority shareholders may, 

to the extent possible and petmitted by applicabie statute, decide to make, as an advance 

payment on the distribution referred to in paragraph 2 of this Article, distributiins out of the 

fmeiy distributable reserves, with the exception of the share premium reserves. 

7. No other distributions than the distributions provided for in this Article and in Article 42 are 

made on the priority shares and preference shares. 
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Appropriation of Profit and Distribution to Shareholders 

It is proposed that the net profit for 2006107 amounting to EUR 516,189,000 be appropriated as 
follows: 

Transfer to reserves 

0 Retained eamings 

Dividend distrlbutlons 

0 Priority sharehoiders 

0 Ordinaty sharehoiders 

Tot81 dividend disttibutions 

Total transfer to reservesldividends 

interest expenses 

0 A cumulative preference shareholders (6%) 

0 C cumulatie preference shareholders (average 4.27%) 

Totai interest expenses 
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EUR 493,719,550 

794 

22,468,656 

EUR 22,469,450 

EUR 516.189.000 

1,057,500 

601,842 

EUR 1.659.34a 
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M iscel I a neous 

Five-Year Review 

- 
IFRS Dutch GAAP - _I ~~ 

(in millions of EUR, unless stated oîhenniise) 2006107 2005/06 2004105 2003/04 2002/03 

Consolidated income statement 

Passenger 
0 
ûther revenues 

Revenues 
Expenses 

I n m e  from current operations 
Financial income and expense 
Gain/ (loss) on disposal of assets 
Pre-tax income of consolidated 

5,423 5,046 4,574 4,234 4,763 
1,162 1,157 1,030 963 1,017 
1,113 998 838 680 705 

7,698 7,201 6,442 5,877 6,405 
7,095 6,661 5,975 5,757 6,969 

companies 569 441 314 18 (624) 

com panies 506 31 5 230 11 (41 8) 
Share of results of equity sharehddings 10 (39) 25 13 2 

Income tax expense (63) (1 26) (84) (7) 206 
Net result after taxation of consolidated 

Net result after taxation 

Consolidated balance sheet 

Current assets 
Non-current assets 

Total assets 

Current liabilities 
Non-current liabilities 
Group equity 

51 6 276 255 24 (41 6) 

2,852 2,778 2,185 1,781 1,828 
7,676 7,348 7,057 6,163 6,337 

10,528 

2,818 
4,684 

10,126 

2,748 
4,818 

9.242 

2,242 
4,691 

7,944 8,165 

1,914 
4,542 

2,265 
4,423 

3,026 2,560 2,309 1,488 1,477 

Total liabilities 10,528 10,126 9,242 7,944 8,165 
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Five-Year Review 

IFRS Dutch GAAP 

(in millions of EUR, unless stated otherwise) 2006/07 2005106 2004105 2003/04 2002/03 

Key financial figures 

Return on equity (%) 
Net result as percentage of revenues 
Earnings per ordinary share (EUR) 
Interest coverage ratio 
Net result plus depreciation 
Capital expenditures (net) 
Netdebt-to-equity percentage 
Dividend per ordinary share (EUR) 

Traffic (Company) 

Passenger kilometers 
Revenue ton freight-kilometers 
Passenger load factor (%) 
Cargo load façtor (%) 
Number of passengers (x 1,000) 
Weight of cargo carried (kilograms) 
Average distance flown per passenger 
(in kilometers) 

Capacity (Company) 

Available seat-kilometers 
Available ton freight-kilometers 
Kilometers flown 
Hours flown (x 1,000) 

Yield (in cents): 
Passenger (per RPK) 
Cargo (per RTK) 

Number of staff (Company) 

The Netherlands 
Outside The Netherlands 
Toîal 

In millions 

18.5 
6.7 

11 .O3 
7.2 
993 

(1 37) 
87 

0.48 

11.3 
3.8 

5.90 
4.4 
720 

(766) 
106 

0.30 

12.2 
4.0 

5.45 
3.7 
646 

(406) 
126 

0.16 

1.5 
0.4 

0.50 
1.3 

464 
(507) 
197 

(24.1 ) 
(6.4) 

(9.26) 
(5.3) 
119 

(436) 
195 

0.10 

* 72,367 69,115 64,125 
* 4,823 4,893 4,744 

83.7 83.5 81.9 
74.1 74.8 75.8 

22,634 21,673 20,591 
627 620 604 * 

3,197 3,189 3,114 

86,478 82,736 78,274 
6,511 6,542 6,256 

394 382 366 
597 570 549 

Yield and unit costs 
(Company) 

57,784 59,417 
4,392 4,197 
80.1 79.4 
72.9 71.7 

18,992 19,437 
529 51 1 

3,043 3,057 

72,099 74,825 
6,028 5,852 

341 349 
446 454 

7.2 
22.9 

6.9 
22.6 

6.8 
20.7 

21,600 21,184 21,086 

6.7 
21.9 

7.1 
24.2 

21,824 22,394 
2,612 2,692 2,741 3,044 3,531 

24,212 23,876 23,827 24,868 25,925 
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Glossary of Terms and Definitions 

Avallable ton frelght kilometer 

(AWK) 

Avallable seat kilometer (ASK) 

Cargo load factor 

Capital employed 

Code sharing 

Eamlngs per ordlnary share 

Interest coverage ratio 

One metric ton (1,000 kilograms) cargo 

capacity flown a distance of one kilometer. 

One aircraft seat flown a distance of one 

kilometer. 

Total revenue ton fmight kilometers (RTFK) 

expressed as a percentage of the total 

available ton freiiht kilometers (ATFK). 

The sum of property, plant and equipment, 

intangible assets, equity method investments, 

inventories and trade and other receivables 

less trade and other payables. 

SeMce offered by KLM and another airiine 

using the KL code and the code of the other 

aidine. 

The pmfit or loss attributable to ordinary equity 

holders divided by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

the year. 

The ratio of the net cost of financial debt to net 

income before interest and tax. 
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Net debt 

Passenger load factor 

Return on capital employed 

Return on equlty 

Revenue ton freight kilometer 

(RTFK) 

Revenue passenger-kilometer 

(RPK) 

The sum of current and non-current financial 

liabilities, current and non-current finance lease 

obligations, less cash and cash equivalents, 

short-term deposits and commercial paper and 

held-to-maturity financial assets. 

Total revenue passenger-kilometers (RPK) 

expressed as a percentage of the total 

available seat-kilometers (ASK). 

The sum of income from operating activities, 

adjusted fot temporary rentals of aircraft and 

trucks, the gain/(loss) on disposal of assets and 

the results of equity shareholdings after 

taxation divided by average capital employed. 

Net result after taxation divided by the average 

equity after deduction of the priority shares. 

One metric ton (1,000 kiiograms) of cargo flown 
a distance of one kilometer. 

One passenger flown a distance of one 

kilometer. 
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Waming about Forward-Looking Statements 

This Annuai Report contains, and KLM and its representatives may make, forward-iooking 

statements, either oraiiy or in writing, about KLM and its business. Forward-iooking statements 

generaily can be identified by the use of terms such as ‘ambition’, ‘maf, biii’, ‘exped’, ‘intend’, 

‘estimate’, ‘anticipate’, ‘beiieve’, ‘plan’, ‘seek‘, ‘continue’ or simiiar terms. These forward-iooking 

statements are b a d  on current expectations, estimates, forecasts, and projections about the 

industries in which we operate management’s beiiefs, and assumptions made by management 

about future events. Any such statement is q u a ï i  by reference to the foilowing cautionary 

statements. These forward-iooking statements invoive known and unknown risks, uncertainties 

and other factors, many of which are outside of our control and are difficult to predict, that may 

cause actuai results to differ materiaily from any future resuits expressed or impiied h m  the 

forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and 

invoive risk and uncertainties inciuding: 

o 

o 

the risk that Air France and KLM wili not be integrated successfuiiy and expected synergies 

and cost savings wiil not be fully achieved or not achieved within the expected time frame; 

the abiiity to deveiop an integrated strategy for Air France KLM; 

the airline pricing environment; 

competitive pressure among companies in our industry; 

generai economic conditions; 

changes in the cost of kiel or the exchange rate of the Euro to the U.S. dollar and other 

currencies; 

govemmental and regulatory actions and political conditions, including actions or decisions 

by courts and regulators or changes in appiicabie iaws or reguiations (or their 

interpretations), including iaws and reguiations goveming the structure of the combination, 

the right to service current and future markets and laws and reguiations pertaining to the 

formation and operation of airiine alliances; 

developments affecting iabor reiations or our airiine partners; 

the outcome of any materiai iitigation; 

the future ievei of air travei demand; 

future load factors and yields for KLM and/or Air France; 

industriai actions or strikes by KLM employees, Air France employees or employees of our 

suppiiers or airports; 
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the effects of terrorist attacks, the possibility or fear of such attacks and the threat or 

outbreak of epidemics, hostilities or war, induding the adverse impact on general economic 

conditions, demand for travel, the costs of security, the cost and availability of aviation 

insurance coverage and war risk coverage and the price and availability of jet fuel; and 

changing relationships with customers, suppliers and strategic partners. 

0 developments in any of these areas, as wel1 as other risks and uncertainties detailed from 

time to time in the documents we file with or fumish to relevant agencies, could cause actual 

outcomes and results to difíer materially fmm those that have been or may be projected by 

or on behalf of US. We caution that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. 

Additional information regarding the factors and events that could cause dinerences 

between forward-iooking statements and actual resuits in the future is contained our filings. 

We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, 

whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 
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